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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 2011 2010 2009 

Net sales $201 $228 $290 

Gross pro�t $83 $98 $96 

Loss before income taxes $(18) $(11) $(24) 

Loss $(21) $(11) $(17) 

LOSS PER SHARE:

Basic $(7.80) $(4.01) $(6.56)

Diluted $(7.80) $(4.01) $(6.56)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (in thousands):

Basic 2,649 2,649 2,646

Diluted 2,649 2,649 2,646

FINANCIAL CONDITION:

Total cash $18 $22 $17

Total working capital $12 $23 $22

Total assets $58 $81 $102 

Total shareholders’ equity $22 $41 $51 

Cash �ows from operations ($3) $4 $(10) 

STATISTICS:

Current ratio 1.4 1.7 1.5 

Inventory turnover ratio 1.5 1.2 1.5

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.31 0.20 0.16

Dividends paid per share — — $0.04 

For the year ended December 31
(in millions, except per share information and ratios)

J. Stanley Fredrick 
Chairman of the Board

To the Shareholders,
Our strategy of growth through global expansion continued in early 2011 with the launching of our Mexico operations. In the 2nd Quarter, 
we added the European countries of Ireland, Czech Republic, Finland and Estonia.  We expect these markets to lead the way to continued 
expansion and be signi�cant contributors to our global business. In addition to launching new markets, we continued our commitment 
to nutritional innovation. During 2011, we received six patents for our nutritional technologies as well as improved our currently o�ered 
products.

During these activities, we maintained our focus on cash �ow and returning to pro�tability. To achieve this, Mannatech took wide-ranging 
expense reductions late in the 2nd Quarter of 2011. This resulted in an increase of cash and cash equivalents in the last 6 months of 2011 
of $736,000 as compared to the �rst half of the year.  We believe our continued attention to key performance indicators such as recruiting, 
Auto Orders and Pack volume, combined with accountability for expense control in the various global business units, will continue to 
improve our �nancial performance.

Late in 2011, the Board of Directors ended their concept of Co-CEOs and appointed Dr. Rob Sinnott chief executive o�cer to lead 
Mannatech’s return to growth and pro�tability. This promotion, along with other management changes, creates an environment for positive 
change to be accelerated throughout the organization.

Mannatech’s overall strategy for 2012 will be to grow revenue through continued international development and three targeted sales 
and marketing strategies. These initiatives are value innovation led by the new NutriVerus™ product, customer acquisition with the 
4Free Discount Program and driving recruiting growth with the Real Switch Challenge. We believe these programs and targeted expense 
reductions can return the company to pro�tability and build shareholder value.

Dr. Rob Sinnott
CEO and Chief Science Officer
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain disclosures and analysis in this Form 10-K, including information incorporated by reference, may include
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended(the“Securities Act”) ,
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended(the“Exchange Act”) , and the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to various risks and uncertainties.Opinions, forecasts, projections, guidance, or other
statements other than statements of historical fact are considered forward-looking statements and reflect only current views about
future events and financial performance. Some of these forward-lookingstatements include statements regarding:

�x management’s plans and objectives for future operations;
�x existing cash flows being adequate to fund future operational needs;
�x future plans related to budgets, future capital requirements, market share growth, andanticipated capital projects

and obligations;
�x the realization of net deferred tax assets;
�x the ability to curtail operating expenditures;
�x global statutory tax rates remaining unchanged;
�x the impact of future market changes due to exposure to foreign currencytranslations;
�x the possibility of certain policies, procedures, and internal processes minimizing exposure to market risk;
�x the impact of new accounting pronouncements on financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows;
�x the outcome of new or existing litigation matters;
�x the outcome of new or existing regulatory inquiries or investigations; and
�x other assumptions described in this report underlying such forward-looking statements.

Although we believe that the expectations included in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, these forward-
looking statements are subject to certain events, risks, assumptions, and uncertainties, including those discussed below andin the
“Risk Factors” section in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, and elsewhere in this Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by
reference herein. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect,
actual results and developments could materially differ from those expressed inor implied by such forward-looking statements.
For example, any of the following factors could cause actual results to vary materially from our projections:

�x overall growth or lack of growth in the nutritional supplements industry;
�x plans for expectedfuture product development;
�x changes in manufacturing costs;
�x shifts in the mix of packs and products;
�x
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PART I
Item 1. Business

Overview

Mannatechis a global wellness solution provider, which was incorporatedand began operations in November
1993. We develop and sell innovative, highquality, proprietary nutritional supplements, topical and skin care products,
and weight-
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Thehistory of our proprietary ingredientsandproductsis as follows:

�x In 1994, we developed and began selling our first products containing Manapol®, an ingredientformulated to
support cell-to-cell communication.

�x In 1996,we enhanced our productsbased on the study ofglycoproteinsandour scientists developed our own
proprietary compound, Ambrotose® complex, which we patented.Our Ambrotose® complexis a blend of
polysaccharides (composed ofmonosaccharides) thathelpsprovide support for the immune system.

�x In 2001, webroadened our proprietary ingredients by developingthe Ambroglycin® blend, a balanced food-
mineral matrixwhich helps deliver nutrients to the bodyandwhich is used in our proprietary Catalyst�Œand
Glycentials® vitamin/mineral supplements.

�x In 2004,we introducedour proprietary blend of antioxidant nutrients, MTech AO Blend®, which isused in
our proprietary antioxidant Ambrotose AO® product.

�x In 2006, we introduced a unique blend of plant-based minerals, natural vitamins,and standardized
phytochemicals for use in our proprietary PhytoMatrix® product.We alsointroduced a compound used in
reformulated Advanced Ambrotose® complex.This compound allows a more potent concentration of the full
range of mannose-containing polysaccharides occurring naturally in aloeto be produced ina stable powdered
form.

�x In 2007, we introducedinto the United States marketour skin care line of products that supports skin’s
natural texture,beauty,and elasticity. We also launchedour PhytoMatrix® caplets,Advanced Ambrotose®

capsules andManna•Bears�Œsupplementinto international markets.

�x In 2008,we introduceda proprietary proteolytic enzyme and phytosterol dietary supplement that supports the
body’s natural recovery processes associated with physical activityin our BounceBack�Œcapsules. We also
introduceda proprietary version of whey protein peptidetechnologythat assists targeted fat loss when
combined with exercise and a healthy dietin our OsoLean�Œ powder.

�x In 2009, we introducedour Omega-3, which features EPA/DHA essential acids, PhytoBurst�Œ Nutritional
Chewsformulated with vitamins, minerals, and phytonutrients from food-sourced ingredients, and GI-
ProBalance�Œ Slimstickin Korea,which is a synbioticdigestive product containing probiotics, prebiotics,and
digestive enzymes. In addition,we improvedour Ambrotose® products to include beta-Carotene.

�x In 2010, we launchedour Mannatech LIFT�Œ Skin CareSystem, which isparaben-free and formulated to give
skin a more natural youthful appearance.

�x In 2011,we introducedour reformulatedversionof ourOmega-3 supplement, whichnowincludes
Vitamin D3and features EPA/DHA essential acids. We alsointroduced GI-ProBalance�Œ Slimstick in North
America andexpanded severalpreviously launched productsfrom our domestic lineto our international
markets.

Our product philosophy focuses on a full spectrum of quality nutritional and personal care products aimedat
promoting and maintaining optimal health and wellness.We focus on producing products that are from all-natural sources,
with no synthetic or chemically derived additives.There are threemajor categories of ourproducts:

Health, which offers a variety of nutritional supplementsthat aid in optimizing overall health and wellness. This
category includesa variety of daily nutritional supplements, health solutions for children, and additional
nutrientsdesignedto help keep specific body systemsat optimal levels.

Weight and Fitness, which offersproductsdesigned tocurb appetite and burn fat, build lean muscle tissue, and
support recovery from overexertion.

Skin Care, whichoffers severalproductsthat are formulated with more than 30 botanical ingredients, contain
our Jeunesse 7�Œ proprietary blend– a unique combination of montmorillonite and glyconutrients, andare
designed togive theskin a more natural youthful appearance by moisturizing, hydrating and reducing the
appearance of fine lines and wrinkles.
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The following tablesummarizes our products by category:

Product Category Representative Products

Health

Ambrotose® complex, Ambrotose AO®, Advanced
Ambrotose®, PhytoMatrix®, Glyco-Bears®, MannaBears�Œ,
Catalyst�Œ, PLUS�Œ, Manna-C�Œ, CardioBALANCE®,
ImmunoSTART®, BounceBack�Œ, MannaCLEANSE�Œ,
PhytAloe®, GI-Pro®, GI-Zyme®, Omega-3 with Vitamin
D3,PhytoBurst�Œ Nutritional Chews,andGI Pro Balance�Œ

Slimstick.

Weight and Fitness
OsoLean�Œ, Accelerator3�Œ, FiberSlim®, GlycoSlim®,
AmbroStart®, SPORT�Œ, andEM·PACT®.

Skin Care

Emprizone®, FIRM with Ambrotose®, LIFT�ŒExfoliating
Facial Cleanser, LIFT�ŒMultiphase Serum, LIFT�ŒDay
Moisturizer, LIFT�ŒNight Repair Crème,and LIFT�Œ
Body Lotion.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from our core Ambrotose® complex productswhich include the
Ambrotose® products and Advanced Ambrotose® products. Revenue from the core Ambrotose® products were as follows
for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009(in thousands, except percentages):

2011 2010 2009
Sales by
product

% of total
net sales

Sales by
product

% of total
net sales

Sales by
product

% of total
net sales

Advanced Ambrotose® $ 66,893 33.3% $ 61,458 26.9% $ 65,360 22.6%
Ambrotose® 15,513 7.7% 19,078 8.4% 25,413 8.8%

Total $ 82,406 41.0% $ 80,536 35.3% $ 90,773 31.4%

Product Development. Our product committee continues to focusonpotential new products and compounds that
help target or promote overall health and wellness. When considering new products and compounds, our product
committeeconsidersthe following criteria:

�x marketability and proprietary nature of the product;

�x demand for the product;

�x competitors’ products;

�x regulatoryconsiderations;

�x availability of ingredients; and

�x data supporting claims of efficacyand safety.

To maintain a flexible operating strategy and the ability to increase production capacity, we contract with third-
partiesto manufactureall of our products, which allows us toeffectivelyrespond to fluctuations in demand with minimal
investment and helps control our operating costs. We believe our suppliers and manufacturers are capable of meeting our
current and projected inventory requirements over the next several years. However, as a safety measure, wecontinue to
identifyand approve alternative suppliers and manufacturers to ensure thatour globaldemands aremet in a timely manner
and tohelpminimize anyrisk of business interruption.

Industry Overview

Nutrition Industry

We operate in the nutritional supplement industry and distribute and sell our products throughour ownglobal
network marketingchannel. The nutritional supplement industryis fast-paced,highly fragmented, and intensely
competitive. It includes companies that manufacture and distribute products that are intended to enhance the body’s
performance andwell-being.Nutritional supplements include vitamins, minerals, dietary supplements, herbs, botanicals,
and compounds derivedtherefrom. Prior to 1990, all dietary supplementsin the United Stateswere tightly regulated by the
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FDA and only included essential nutrients such as vitamins, minerals, and proteins. In 1990, the Nutrition Labeling and
Education Act expanded the category to include“ herbs or similar nutritional substances”, but the FDA maintained control
over pre-market approval. However, in 1994,the Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994 (“ DSHEA”) was
passedin the United States, drastically changing the dietary supplement marketplace. The DSHEAwas instrumental in
expanding the category ofdietary supplementsto further includeherbalandbotanical supplements and ingredientssuchas
ginseng, fish oils, enzymes, andvariousmixtures of theseingredients.Under DSHEA, vendors of dietary supplements are
now able to educate consumers regarding the effects of certain component ingredients.

Nutritional supplementsare availablethroughmass-marketretailers, drug stores, supermarkets, discount stores,
health food stores, mail order companies, and direct sales organizations. Direct selling, of whichnetwork marketingis a
significant segment, hasgrown significantly and hasbeen enhanced in the past decade as a distribution channel dueto
advancements in technology and communications resulting in improved product distribution and faster dissemination of
information.

Direct Selling/NetworkMarketing Channel

Since the 1990s, the direct sellingandnetwork marketingsales channel has grownin popularity and general
acceptance, including acceptance byprominent investors and capital investment groups who have invested in directselling
companies. This has provided direct selling companies with additional recognition and credibility in the growing global
marketplace. In addition, many large corporations have diversified their marketing strategy by entering the directselling
arena. Several consumer-product companies have launched their own directselling businesses withinternational
operations often accounting for the majority oftheir revenues. Consumers and investors are beginning to realize that direct
selling providesuniqueopportunitiesand a competitive advantage in today’s markets. Businesses are able toquickly
communicate anddevelop strong relationships withtheircustomers, bypass expensive adcampaigns, and introduce
products and services that would otherwise be difficult to promotethrough traditional distribution channels such as retail
stores. Direct sellingis achannel of distributionwith healthy cash flow, high return on invested capital, and long-term
prospects for global expansion.According to theworldwide direct sales data published by theWorld Federation of Direct
Selling Association, in 2010 approximately 88 million global direct sellerscollectivelygeneratedannualretailsales of
$132.2billion.

Operating Strengths

1. High-Quality, Innovative, Proprietary Products. We base our product concept on the scientific belief that certain
glyconutrients, also known as monosaccharides or sugar molecules, are essential for maintaining a healthy
immune system. We believe the addition of effective nutritional supplements to a well-balanced diet, coupled
with an effective exercise program, willenhance and help maintain optimal health and wellness. We focus on
producing products that are from all-natural sources with no synthetic or chemically derived additives. We
formulate our products with predominately naturally-occurring, plant-derived, carbohydrate-based, safe
ingredients that are designed to use nutrients working through normal physiology to help achieve and maintain
optimal health and wellness, rather than developing common synthetic, carbohydrate-based products.

We believe that our patented proprietary blend, Ambrotose® complex, included in many of our products
distinguishes us as a leader in the global nutritional supplements industry and that no other combination of
vitamins, minerals, amino acids, or herbals can provide the benefits found in Ambrotose® complex. We also
believe the use of unique compounds found in our products allows us to effectively differentiate and distinguish
our products from those of our competitors.

2. Research and Development Efforts. We are steadfast in our commitment to quality-driven research and
development. We use systematic processes for the research and development of our unique proprietary product
formulas, as well as the identification of quality suppliers and manufacturers. Our research and quality assurance
programs are outlined on our corporate websiteswww.mannatechscience.org, https://www.mannatech.com, and
www.allaboutmannatech.com.

Dr. Robert Sinnott, our CEO andChief ScienceOfficer, leads our team of experienced researchers and
scientists. This team continually reviews the latest published research data, attends scientific conferences, and
draws upon its vast knowledge and expertise to develop new products and support existing ones. In addition, this
team works in collaboration with other research firms, universities, institutes, and scientists. Our products have
been the focus of numerous pre-clinical and clinical studies.
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Some of our more recent collaborative research projects include:

1) In December 2011, registration for “Nutrition and Personal Health Coaching”, a university-
level course designed by the Department of Nutrition and Food Sciences at Texas Woman’s
University (“TWU”), with input from Mannatech scientists,openedto the public. This
unique, science-based, online course meets the growing demand of both health professionals
and members of the general public who want to learn more about health andnutrition and
discover how to implement this knowledge in realistic ways into their daily lives. It is taught
by qualified members of the TWU faculty, including Dr. Chandan Prasad, Professor and
Chairman of the Department of Nutrition and Food Sciences atTWU. The 45-hour course
also includes a guest lecture from Dr. Sinnott about the Dietary Supplement Health and
Education Act of 1994 (“ DSHEA”). Upon successful completion, participants will earn a
Certificate of Completion of Training as well as continuing education credit hours. Talented
undergraduate and PhD-level students at TWU will also benefitbecausethe majority of the
proceeds from the class will be used to fund research scholarships to deserving recipients.
Classes beganin February 2012.

2) In October 2011, the Australian government granted Dr. Talitha Best a 12-month
Researchers in Business (“RiB”) grant to help develop research on Mannatech’s
glyconutritional products. The RiB program is part of Enterprise Connect, an initiative within
the Australian government’s Department of Innovation, Industry, Science and Research. The
program is designed to accelerate industry innovation andcompetitionby connecting
university and public agency researchers with businesses that wish to develop new ideas with
commercial potential. RiB initiatives areanticipatedto play an important role in enhancing
the transfer of university intellectual capital into practical business applications and to
stimulate the dissemination of industry knowledge back into theresearch community.
Exciting innovation is expected to flow from breaking down the cultural divide between
academia and business. Dr. Talitha Best is a post-doctoral research fellow at the Nutritional
Physiology Research Centre, University of South Australia (“UniSA”) and the Brain
Sciences Institute, Swinburne University of Technology.

3) In September 2011, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial involving more than
100 subjects was published in the journalApplied Research in Quality of Life. In this study,
healthy adults who consumed Ambrotose® complex powder reported numerous health and
well-being benefits following 12 weeks of intake, compared with subjects taking a placebo.
Some of the perceived benefits have been confirmed by formal cognitive testing,which was
the subject of previous publications. Gastrointestinal effects were also among the perceived
benefits reported by individuals who consumed Ambrotose® complex.(1) The study was
conducted by Dr. Talitha Best, Associate Professor Eva Kemps (Flinders University) and Dr.
Janet Bryan (UniSA).

4) In June 2011, Dr. Talitha Best convened and chaired a symposium entitled “Eating behaviour
from a cognitive experimental perspective” at the Society for Applied Research in Memory
and Cognition’s (SARMAC) ninth international conference, which met in New York City.
Scientists participating in Dr. Best’s symposium presented experimental findings from
numerous studies that demonstrated the bi-directional relationship between eating behaviour
and cognition. These studies explored the diverse and complex cognitive processes that are
involved in, and affected by, eating behavior and dietary interventions. Specific dietary
interventions under investigation included glucose, tea and plant-polysaccharides
(Ambrotose® complex). Dr. Best also presented the results of a study (see below) that she
recently conducted with Australian colleagues on Ambrotose® complex.

5) In April 2011, Australian scientists presented the results of a randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled trial at the 38th Australasian Experimental Psychology Conference in
Auckland, New Zealand. The study showed that, shortly after taking a single 4 gram serving
of Ambrotose® complex powder, healthy adults experienced improved memory and
performed better on demanding cognitive tasks.(1) The product had no effect on blood
glucose levels. The trial was led by Dr. Talitha Best. Study co-authors included Professor
Peter Howe and Associate Professor Jon Buckley (UniSA) Dr. Janet Bryan and Professor
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Andrew Scholey (Swinburne University of Technology). Dr. Best’s study was presented as
part of a symposium she convened and co-chaired with Professor Scholey, titled “Brains and
food—detecting nutritional effects on cognition.”

6) In January 2011,a study published in theEuropean Journal of Clinical Nutritionindicated
that intake of Advanced Ambrotose® powder resulted in a significant shift towards increased
sialylation in the N-glycosylation profile of the serum of healthy adults. To the authors’
knowledge, this is the first study which has shown that dietary changes can affect serum
glycosylation profiles. The lead author of this study was Dr. Azita Alavi, a Research Fellow
at the Sir Joseph Hotung Centre for Musculoskeletal Disorders, Division of Cellular and
Molecular Medicine, St. George’s University of London, U.K. Co–authors include St.
George’s University researchers Professor John Axford, Dr. Edward Tarelli and Dr. Owen
Fraser, andUniversity of York, UK researcherProfessor Martin Bland.

7) I n January 2011, Mannatech scientists presented a poster, “A review of human and animal
studies assessing the effects of oral polysaccharides on cognitive function and mood”, at the
Scripps Center for Integrative Medicine’s 8th Annual Natural Supplements Conference in San
Diego, California. The review, which reported that the most promising
polysaccharide/cognition research in humans has been conducted on Mannatech’s
Ambrotose® complex, also reported animal study data (conducted primarily on glucan
products) that provides insight into possible mechanisms of action for polysaccharides on
learning and memory.(1)

(1) TheFDA has notevaluatedthese statements. These products are not intended to diagnose, treat, cure or prevent any
disease.

To support our research and development efforts, we have strategic alliances with our suppliers,
consultants, and manufacturers that allow us to effectively identify and develop high-quality, innovative,
proprietary products that increase our competitive advantage in the marketplace.

These efforts include developing and maintaining quality standards, supporting development efforts for
new ingredients and compounds, and improving or enhancing existing products or ingredients. In addition, our
research and development team identifies other quality-driven suppliers and manufacturers for both our global
and regional needs.

3. Quality Assurance Program. Mannatech uses only qualified manufacturing contractors to produce, test, and
package our finished products.These contractors must be compliant and current with required certifications and
they must strictly adhere to our own quality standards for all markets. Certifications and guidelines that our
contract manufacturers are required to carryand/or followinclude:

�x the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices for manufacturing, packaging, labeling, and
holding of dietary supplements;

�x the FDA’s Good Manufacturing Practices for human food;

�x the requirements of the Natural Health Products Directorate of Canada;

�x the Korean Food and Drug Administration;

�x certification by the Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia (“ TGA”), when necessary;

�x the European Union’s Food Supplement Directive and Nutrition and Health Claims Regulations, as
well as individual memberstate legislation;

�x the Taiwan Food and Drug Administration;

�x the Japan Ministry of Health Labor and Welfare;

�x the Singapore Health Sciences Authority; and

�x the South African Department of Health and Medicines Control Council.
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We have an established qualityassurance program designed to ensure our manufacturers’ compliance
with thesecertifications and guidelines, and to ensure that proper controls are maintained during the
manufacturing, evaluation, packaging, storage, and distribution of our products. Thesecontrols include a
comprehensive supplier audit and surveillance program, third-party certifications, and continuous product
monitoring.

A team of professionals, many of whom have extensive experience in the pharmaceutical industry, leads
our in-house quality assurance program and continually monitors the quality of our products, including the
production process. In addition, they work with suppliers and manufacturers to develop quality standards for raw
material components and products, and perform tests and inspections to ensure that finished products are safe and
of high quality prior to release.

We require our dietary supplements to be packaged with seals to help minimize the risk of tampering.
We also perform stability studies under both controlledambient and accelerated temperature storage conditions to
ensure label claims throughout the shelf life of our products.

To further ensure product quality, we seek qualified independent organizations to conduct further
product testing. To date, numerousproducts havebeen tested, and:

�x nine products are certified according to the NSF/ANSI 173 Dietary Supplement Standard—the only
American National Standard for dietary supplements. This certification ensures that this product
contains only the ingredients indicated on the label and is free ofimpurities, and that Good
Manufacturing Practices were used in the manufacturing facility;

�x ten products are certified Kosher by OU Kosher, the trademark with the highest certification
standards worldwide; and

�x twenty-six products have been tested and confirmedto begluten-free by Covance Laboratories.

4. High-Caliber, Industry-Leading Independent Associates. Ourglobal team of independent associatesis
comprised of dedicated,hard-working, high-caliberindividuals, many of whom have been associated with the
network marketingindustry for decades and have been loyal toussince our beginning in 1993. To capitalize on
their wealth of knowledge and experience, we sponsor a panel of independent associates, called the“North
AmericanAssociate Advisory Council” (the “AdvisoryCouncil”), whichhelp identify and effectively relay the
needs of our independent business-building associatesto us.Themembersof theAdvisory Councilareelected by
their peersandserve a three-year term. The Advisory Council meetsperiodicallywith our team of senior
management to recommend changes, discuss issues, and provide new ideas or concepts, including a full spectrum
of innovative ideas for additional quality-driven nutritional supplements aimed at maintaining optimal health and
wellness.

5. Support Philosophy forOur Independent Associates and Members. We are fully committed to providing the
highest level of support services to ourindependent associates and membersandbelieve that we meet
expectations and build customer loyalty through the following:

�x providing efficient order processing centers to support operations;

�x offering highly-personalized and responsive customer service;

�x offering asatisfaction guaranteeproductreturn policy;

�x providing comprehensive corporate websites (http://www.mannatech.com,
www.allaboutmannatech.com,www.mannatechscience.org, www.mannathink.com), thatprovide
instant access to Internet ordering, marketing, technicaland educational information, and unique
and innovative marketing tools;

�x offering free personalized websites for our independent associates;

�x maintaining an extensive web-based downline management system called Success Tracker�Œthat
provides access to web conferencing anddownline organizationreporting for our independent
associates at minimal costs;
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�x offering, in the United States and Canada,an effectivecompilation ofonlinemarketing/business
tool calledtheMannaCastSM suite;

�x offering updated training/orientation and complianceprograms for our independent associates;

�x providing strategically based distribution fulfillment centers to ensure products are shipped on time
and at minimal cost;

�x inviting customerinput on innovative product ideas, whichis gathered and tabulated on
www.mannathink.com; and

�x sponsoring severalmarketingevents, designed to provide information, education, and motivation
for our dedicated business-building associates andto help stimulate business development. These
events provide an interactive venue for introducing new products and services and allow interaction
between our management teams, outside researchers, and independent associates.

6. Flexible Operating Strategy. We believe efficiency, focus, and flexibility are paramount to our operations. For
over a decade, we have contracted with third parties tosupply and manufactureourproprietaryraw materials and
products, which we believe allows us to minimize capital expenditures,capitalize on such parties’ expertise, and
build additional resources for strategic alliances in the areas of distribution and logistics, product registration, and
export requirements. By contracting with various suppliers and manufacturers and byoutsourcing distribution for
all of our foreign operations,exceptEurope, we believe we can quickly adapt operations to current demands in a
timely, efficient, and cost-effective manner.We monitor the performance of our third party contractors to ensure
they maintain a high quality of service. In addition, we identify alternative sources for our raw materials suppliers
and finished goods manufacturers to help prevent any risk of interruption in production should any existing
contractors becomeunable to perform satisfactorily.

7. Experience and Depth of Our Management Teamand Board of Directors. We believethatour team of
executiveshasextensive experience ineveryaspect ofbusinessoperations andis
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Independent Associate Development. Network marketingconsists of enrolling individuals who build a network
of independent associates, members, and retail customers who purchase products. We support our independent associates
by providing an array of support services that canbe tailored to meet individual needs, including:

�x offering educational meetings and corporate-sponsored eventsthat emphasize business-building and
compliancerelated information;

�x sponsoring various informative and science-based conference calls, web casts, and seminars;

�x providing automated services through the Internet and telephone that offer a full spectrum of information and
business-building tools;

�x maintaining an efficient decentralized ordering and distribution system;

�x providing highly personalized and responsive order processing and customer service supportaccessible by
multiple communication channels including telephone, Internet, or e-mail;

�x offering 24-hour, seven days a week access to information and ordering through the Internet;

�x offering Success TrackerTM, a customized business-building genealogy system, which contains graphs, maps,
alerts, reports, and web video conferencing for our independent associates;

�x offering the MannaCastSMsuite of online business tools in the United States and Canada; and

�x providing a wide assortment of business-building and educational materials to help stimulate product sales
and simplify enrollment.

We provideproduct and network marketingtraining and education for new independent associates. This includes
a unique global training/orientation program thatusesaudio, video and web components to familiarize new associates with
theCompany,and includesshort, segmented trainings on how to succeed as part of the sales force. We also regularly
provide training on using online toolssuch social media and our own suite of web marketing tools specifically designed
for associates to use.We also offer a variety of brochures, monthly newsletters, and other promotional materials to
associates to assist in their sales efforts, training, and continuing education. We continuallyupdateour training and
promotional materials to provide our associates with the most current information and motivational tools.

Our global associate career and compensation plan consists ofeight independentassociate achievement levels;
from lowest to highest, these include regional, national, executive, presidential, bronze, silver, gold, and platinum.These
achievement levels are determined by the growth and volume of the independent associates’ direct and indirect
commissionable net sales, as well as expanding their networks, which are all assigned a point volume. Promotional
materials and training aids are not assigned a point volume.This point volume system,referred to as our global seamless
downline structure, allows independent associates to build their network by expanding their existing downlines into all
international markets. Our global associate career and compensation plan isintendedto comply with all applicable
governmental regulations that govern the various aspects of payments to independent associates in each country.

Based uponourknowledge of industry-relatednetwork marketingcompensation plans, we believe our global
associate career and compensation plan remains strong in the industry andis currently among the most financially
rewarding plans offered. Together, our commissions and incentives rangeapproximatelyfrom 42% to45%of our
consolidated net sales.

Our global associate career and compensation plan pays various types ofcommissions and incentives based upon
a point system that calculates a percentage of the independent associate’s commissionable direct and indirect net sales and
the attainment of certain associateachievementlevels. All payments to our independent associates are made after they
have earned their commissions. We believe our global associate career and compensation plan fairly compensates our
independent associates at every stage of building their business by quickly rewarding an independent associate for both the
breadth and depth of their global seamless downline structure.
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Our global associate career and compensation plan identifies andpays19 types of commissions to our qualified
independent associates, which are based on the following:

�x generating product sales from an independent associate’sglobal downlineto earn certain achievement levels;

�x enrolling new independent associates or members who place a product order;

�x obtainingcertainachievementlevels and enrolling other independent associates who place monthly
automatic orders in a downline;

�x obtaining and developing certainachievementlevels within their downline organizations to qualify for
additional bonuses;

�x building a team of six qualified independent associates in their global downlines who order products
regularly;and

�x various other incentive programs.

Management of Independent Associates. We actively monitor our independent associates’ salesof our products
and the promotion of certain business opportunities by requiring our independent associates to abide by our policies and
procedures. However, we have limited control overthe actionsof our independent associates. To aid in our monitoring
efforts, we provide each independent associate with a copy of our policies and proceduresprior toor uponsigning up as an
independent associate. We also use various media formats to distribute changes to our mandatory policies and procedures,
includingour corporate website, conference calls, educational meetings, corporate events, seminars, and webcasts.

Our legal/compliance department, in cooperation with other departments and associates, periodically evaluates
the conduct of our independent associates and the needfor new or revised policies and procedures.Our monitoring efforts
include reviewing associates’ websites, promotional materials, and meetings.Our legal/compliance program assists in
maintaining high ethical standards among our independent associates, which helps our independent associates in their
sales efforts.

To help manage our associates, our legal/compliance department periodically monitors independent associates’
websites for content.In addition, associates may useour anonymous compliance reportingsystemto report non-compliant
websites to the compliance department, which then further investigates such websites. In an effort to decrease the number
of independent websites owned by our independent associates and to preserve and protect our trademarks, we offer a
standardized personal Mannapages® Internet website,which helps our independent associates with their sales efforts and
provides consistent, standardized information, and education.

Our legal/compliance program also provides our independent associates witha standardizedandanonymous
complaint process. When a complaint is filed against an independent associate, our legal/compliance department conducts
a mandatoryinvestigation of the allegations, ifwarranted. Depending on the nature of the violation, we may suspend or
terminate the non-compliant associate’s agreement orwemay impose various sanctions, including written warnings,
probation, withholding commissions, and termination of associate status.We will terminate any associate’s agreement for
making claims that our products can treat, cure, mitigate or prevent any disease, unless such claim is deminimus and
isolated.

Product Return Policy. We stand behind our packs and products and believe we offer a reasonable and industry-
standard product return policy to all of our customers. We do not resell returned products. Refunds are not processed until
proper approval is obtained. All refunds must be processed and returned in the same form of payment that wasoriginally
used in the sale. Each country in which we operate has specific product return guidelines. However, we allow our
independent associates and members to exchange products as long as the products are unopened and in good condition.
Our return policies for our retail customers and our independent associates and members are as follows:

�x Retail Customer Product Return Policy.This policy allows a retail customer to return any of our products to
the original independent associate who sold the product and receive a full cash refund by the independent
associate for the first 180 days following the product’s purchase, if located in the United StatesandCanada,
and for the first 90 days following the product’s purchasein the remaining countries.The independent
associate may then return or exchange the product based on the independent associateproduct return policy.
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�x Independent Associate and Member Product Return Policy.This policy allows the independent associate or
member to return an order within one year of the purchase date upon terminatinghis/heraccount. If an
independent associate or member returns a product unopened and in good condition, he/she may receive a
full refund minus a 10% restocking fee. We may also allow the independent associate or member to receive a
full satisfactionguarantee refund if they have tried the product and are not satisfied for any reason, excluding
promotional materials. Thissatisfaction guarantee refund applies in the United StatesandCanada,only for
the first 180 days following the product’s purchase, and appliesin the remaining countries for the first 90
days following the product’s purchase; however, any commissions earned by anindependent associate will
be deducted from the refund. If we discover abuse of the refund policy, we may terminate the independent
associates’ or member’s account.

Information Technology Systems

Our information technology and e-commerce systems include a transaction-processing database, financial
systems,an associate management system,and comprehensive management tools that are designed to:

�x minimize the time required to process orders and distribute products;
�x provide customized ordering information;
�x quickly respond to information requests, including providing detailed and accurate information to

independent associates about qualification and downline activity;
�x provide detailed reports aboutpaidcommissions and incentives;
�x support order processing and customer service departments; and
�x help monitor, analyze, and report operating and financial results.

To complement our transaction database, we developed a comprehensive management tool called Success
Tracker�Œ that is used both internally and by our independent associates to manage and optimize their business
organizations. With this tool, independent associates have constant access to graphs, maps, alerts, and reports on the status
of their individual organizations, which helps to optimize their earnings.

We also maintain awritten service continuity disaster recoveryplan, which was developed using the guidelines
published by the National Institute of Standards of Technologyto minimize the riskof loss due to any interruption in
business. Our disaster recovery plan encompasses all critical aspects of our business and identifies contactsandresources.
Additionally, we perform daily backup proceduresand proactively monitor varioussoftware, hardware, and network
infrastructure systems. We also perform routine maintenance procedures and periodically upgrade our software and
hardware to help ensure that our systems work efficiently and effectively andto minimize the risk of business interruption.
Although we maintain an extensive disaster recovery plan, a long-term failure or impairment of any of our information
technology systems could adversely affect our ability to conduct day-to-day business. Please see“Risk Factors– If our
informationtechnology system fails, our operationscould suffer.”

We continue to enhance our information technology, websites, and e-commerce platforms to remain competitive
and efficient.
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Government Regulations

Domestic Regulations. In the United States, governmental regulations, laws, administrative determinations, court
decisions, and similar legal requirements at the federal, state, and local levels regulate companiessuch as oursandnetwork
marketingactivities. Such regulations address, among other things:

�x direct selling andnetwork marketingsystems;
�x transfer pricing and similar regulations affecting the amount of foreign taxes and customs duties paid;
�x taxation of independent associates and requirements to collect taxes and maintain appropriate records;
�x how a company manufactures, packages, labels, distributes, imports, sells, and stores products;
�x product ingredients;
�x product claims;
�x advertising; and
�x the extent to whichcompaniesmay be responsible for claims made by independent associates.

The followinggovernmental agencies regulate various aspects of our business and our products in the United
States:

�x the FDA;
�x the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”);
�x the Consumer Product Safety Commission;
�x the Department of Agriculture;
�x the Environmental ProtectionAgency;
�x the United States Postal Service;
�x state attorney general offices; and
�x various agencies of the states and localities in which our products are sold.

The FDA regulates the formulation, manufacturing, packaging, storage, labeling, promotion, distribution, and
sale of foods, dietary supplements, over-the-counter drugs,medical devices,and pharmaceuticals. In January 2000, the
FDA issued a final rule called“Statements Made for Dietary Supplements Concerning the Effect of the Product on the
Structureor Function of the Body” . In the ruleand its preamble, the FDA distinguished between permitted claims under
the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act(the “Act”) , relating to the effect of dietary supplements on the structure or
functions of the body, and impermissible direct or implied claims of the effect of dietary supplements on anydisease.In
June 2007, the FDA issueda rule, as authorized under theAct that defined current Good Manufacturing Practices in the
manufacture and holding of dietary supplements. Effective January 1, 2006,legislationrequiredspecific disclosures in
labeling where a food, including a dietary supplement, contains an ingredient derived from any of eight named allergens.
Legislation passed at the end of 2006now requires usto report totheFDA any reportsof “serious adverse events”
associated with the use of a dietary supplement or an over-the-counter drugthat is not covered by new drug approval
reporting.

The Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994, referred to as DSHEA, revised the provisions of the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act concerning the composition and labeling of dietary supplements and statutorily
created a new class entitled“dietary supplements.” Dietary supplements include vitamins, minerals, herbs, amino acids,
and other dietary substances used to supplement diets. A majority of our products are considered dietary supplements as
outlined in the Act, which requires us to maintain evidence that a dietary supplement is reasonably safe. A manufacturer of
dietary supplements may make statements concerning the effect of a supplement or a dietary ingredient on the structure or
any function of the body, in accordance with the regulations described above. As a result, we make such statements with
respect to our products. In some cases, such statements must be accompanied by a statutory statement that the claim has
not been evaluated by the FDA andthatthe product is not intended to treat, cure, mitigate, or prevent any disease, and the
FDA must be notified of such claim within 30 days of first use.
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The FDA oversees product safety, manufacturing, and product information, such as claims ona product’s label,
package inserts, and accompanying literature. The FDA has promulgated regulations governing the labeling and marketing
of dietary and nutritional supplement products. The regulations include:

�x the identification of dietary or nutritional supplements and their nutrition and ingredientlabeling;

�x requirements related to the wording used for claims about nutrients, health claims, and statements of
nutritional support;

�x labeling requirements for dietary or nutritional supplements for which“ high potency,” “antioxidant,” and
“ trans-fatty acids” claims are made;

�x notification procedures for statements on dietary and nutritional supplements; and

�x pre-market notification procedures for new dietary ingredients in nutritional supplements.

We develop and maintainproductsubstantiationdossiers,whichcontain thescientific literature pertinent toeach
product and itsingredients. An independent scientist reviews these dossiers, which provide the scientific basis for product
claims.We periodically update our substantiation program for evidence for each of our product claims and notify the FDA
of certain types of performance claims made in connection with our products.

In certain markets, including the United States, specific claims made with respect toa product may change the
regulatory status of a product. For example, a product sold as a dietary supplement but marketed as a treatment,
prevention, or cure for a specific disease or condition would likely be considered by the FDA or other regulatory bodies as
unapproved and thus an illegal drug. To maintain the product’s status as a dietary supplement,its labeling and marketing
must comply with the provisions in DSHEA and the FDA’s extensive regulations. As a result, we have procedures in place
to promote andassurecompliance by our employeesandindependentassociatesrelated to the requirements of DSHEA,
the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, and various other regulations.

Dietary supplements are also subject to the Nutrition, Labeling and Education Act and various other acts that
regulate health claims, ingredient labeling, and nutrient content claims that characterize the level of nutrients in a product.
These acts prohibit the use of any specific health claim for dietary supplements unless the health claim is supported by
significant scientific research and is pre-approved by the FDA.

The FTC and other regulators regulate marketing practices and advertising of a company and its products. In the
past several years, regulators have instituted various enforcement actions against numerous dietary supplement companies
for false and/or misleading marketing practices, as well as misleading advertising of products. These enforcement actions
have resulted in consent decrees and significant monetary judgments against the companies and/or individuals involved.
Regulators require a company to conveyproduct claims clearly and accurately and further require marketers to maintain
adequate substantiation for their claims. More specifically, the FTC requires such substantiation to be competent and
reliable scientific evidence and requires a company to have a reasonable basis for the expressed and implied product claim
before it disseminates an advertisement. A reasonable basis is determined based on the claims made, how the claims are
presented in the context of the entire advertisement, and how the claims are qualified. The FTC’s standard for evaluating
substantiation is designed to ensure that consumers are protected from false and/or misleading claims by requiring
scientific substantiation of product claims at the time such claims are first made. The failure to have this substantiation
violates the Federal Trade Commission Act.

Due to thediverse scope of regulations applicable to our products and the various regulators enforcing these
requirements,determining how to conform to all requirements is often open to interpretation and debate.However, our
policy is to fully cooperate with any regulatory agencyin connection with anyinquiriesor other investigations. We can
make no assurances that regulators will not question our actions in the future, eventhough wecontinue to makeefforts to
comply with all applicable regulations, inquiries, and investigations.
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International Regulations. We are also subject to extensive regulations in each country in which we operate.
Currently we sell our products in Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom, Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea,
Taiwan, Denmark, Germany, South Africa, Singapore, Austria, the Netherlands, Norway,Sweden, Mexico, the Czech
Republic, Estonia, Finland, and the Republic of Ireland. Someof the country-specific regulations include the following:

�x the National Provincial Laws, Natural Health Product Regulationsof Canada, andthe Federal Competition
Act in Canada;

�x the Therapeutic Goods Administration and the Trade Practices Act in Australia;

�x federal and state regulations in Australia;

�x national regulations including the Local Trading Standards Offices in the United Kingdom;

�x regulations from the Ministry of International Trade and Industry in Japan;

�x regulations from the Commerce Commission and the Fair Trade Act of 1993 in New Zealand;

�x the Fair Trade Commission, which oversees the Door to Door Sales Act and theHealth and Functional Food
Act enforced by the Korea Food and Drug Administration in the Republic of Korea;

�x the Fair Trade Law, which is enforced by the Taiwan Fair Trade Commission and the Administration of
Food Hygiene, Health Food Products Administration Act enforced by the Taiwan Department of Health;

�x the Danish Health Board, the Danish Marketing Practice Act, the Danish Consumer Ombudsman,the Danish
Executive Order on Dietary Supplements,the Guidelines for food supplements,and the Danish Act on
Foodstuffsin Denmark;

�x the German Unfair Competition Act, German Regulation on food supplements, and German Law on food
and feed;

�x regulations governing business practices in South Africa;

�x the Consumer Protection Act, the Sale of Food Act, and various regulations that are governed by the
Ministry of Trade and Industry in Singapore;

�x the Austrian Trade Law (1994), the Food Safety and Consumer Protection Law (2006), and the Food Code in
Austria;

�x the Food and Consumer Products and the Unfair Trade Practices Act, Door to Door Selling Act and
Provisions of the General Dutch Civil Code relating to terms and conditions and misleading advertising in
the Netherlands;

�x the Consumer Sales Act, Marketing Practices Act, Distance and Doorstep Sales Act, the Product Liability
Act, Product Safety Act, the Companies Act and the Food Act in Sweden;

�x the Law on Marketing and Contract Conditions,theLaw on Repentance Right, the Statutory Order on Self
Inspection of Food Provisions,the Law on Food products and Food Safety, and various guidelines from the
Norwegian Consumers Agency on telephone selling and internet marketing, in Norway;

�x the Health Law and various Official Mexican Standards, the consumer protection law, the Mexican
Corporate law, the Foreign Investment Law, the Federal Labor law in Mexico, as well asvariousmunicipal
andstate regulations and codes;

�x various Business, Civil, and Labor Codes in the Czech Republic as well as the Consumer Protection Act, and
regulations and edicts of various government agencies such asThe Ministry of Health, National Institute of
Public Health, State Institute of Drug Control and the Czech Agriculture and Food Inspection Authority;

�x the Consumer Protection Act in Estonia, and in the area of food supplements the Veterinary and Food Board
also enforces local legislation including Estonia Food Act and Medicine Act;

�x the Finnish Food Act, the Finnish Food Packaging and Consumer Protection Acts, Act on Unfair Business
Practice Act, Decrees and other regulationsin Finland;

�x the ConsumerProtection Act of 2007, the Distance Selling Regulations Act of 2001in Ireland; and
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�x various European Union (“EU”) regulations and pronouncements address both our selling activities and the
sale of food supplements in EU member nations, however, at the current time the local statutes and
regulations stated above are ascendant to the EU pronouncements if in conflict. The primary EU regulations
pertaining to Food Supplementsinclude:the EU Food Supplement Directive (2002/46/EC) and Nutrition and
Health Claims Regulations (2006/1924/EC).

RegulationsRegarding Network Marketing System and Our Products. Ournetwork marketingsystemand our
global associate career and compensation planarealso subject to a number of governmental regulations including various
federal and state statutes administered by the FTC, various state authorities, and foreign government agencies. The legal
requirements governingnetwork marketingorganizations are directed, in part, to ensure that product sales are ultimately
made to consumers. In addition,earningswithin a network marketingcompany must be based on the sale of products
rather than compensation for(i) the recruitment of distributors or associates,(i i) investments in the organization, or(iii)
other non-retail sales-related criteria. For instance,some countrieslimit the amount associates may earn from commissions
on sales by other distributors orindependentassociates that are not directly sponsored by that distributor or independent
associate. Prior to expanding our operations into any foreign jurisdiction, wemustfirst obtain regulatory approval for our
network marketingsystem in jurisdictions requiring such approval. To help ensure regulatory compliance, we rely on the
advice of our outside legal counsel and regulatory consultants in each specific country.

As anetwork marketingcompany, we are also subject toregulatory oversight, including routineinquiries and
enforcement actions, from various United States state attorneys general offices. Each state has specific acts referred to as
Little FTC Acts. Each state act is similar tothe federal laws. As a result, each state may perform its own inquiries about
our organization and business practices, including allegations related todistributors or independent associates. To combat
such industry-specific risk, we provide a copy of our published associate policies and procedures to each independent
associate, publish these policies on our corporate website,and provide educational seminars and publications. In addition,
we maintain a legal/compliance departmentto cooperate with all regulatory agencies and investigate allegations of
improper conduct by our independent associates.

In Canada, ournetwork marketingsystem is regulated by both national and provincial laws. Under Canada’s
Federal Competition Act, we must make sure that any representations relating to compensationto our independent
associates or made to prospective new independent associates constitute fair, reasonable, and timely disclosure and that
such representations meet other legal requirements of the Federal Competition Act. All Canadian provinces and territories,
other than Ontario, have legislation requiring that we register or become licensed as a direct seller within that province to
maintain the standards of the direct selling industry and to protect consumers. Some other Canadian provinces require that
both we and our independent associates be licensed as direct sellers.

In Australia, ournetwork marketingsystem is subject to Australia’s federal andlocalregulations. Our global
associate career and compensation plan is designed to comply with Australian law and the requirements of Australia’s
Trade Practices Act. The Australian Trade Practices Administration and various other governmental entities regulate our
business and trade practices, as well as those of our independent associates. Australia’s Therapeutic Goods Act, together
with the Trade Practices Act, regulates any claims or representations relating to our products and our global associate
career and compensation plan. An agreement to establish a joint scheme for the regulation of therapeutic products was
signed by both the New Zealand and Australian governments in December 2003. The agency was initially expected to
begin operating in July 2005,but on July 16, 2007, the New Zealand government announced that itwould not proceed
with legislation for the establishment of the joint agency because itdid not have sufficient support of the New Zealand
parliament.However, both the Australian and New Zealand governments remain committed to the vision of the joint
agency andare expected torevisit it again in the future.The proposedharmonization of laws and regulatory bodies is
anticipated to provide a more consistent approach to dietary supplement laws between the two countries.

In New Zealand, ournetwork marketingsystem and our operations are subject to regulations of the Commerce
Commission and the Ministry of Health, New Zealand Medical Devices Safety Authority, the Unsolicited Goods Act of
1975, the Privacy Act of 1993, and the Fair Trading Act of 1993. These regulations enforce specific kinds of business or
trade practices and regulate the general conduct ofnetwork marketingcompanies. The Commerce Commission also
enforces the Consumer Guarantees Act, which establishes specific rights and remedies with respect to transactions
involving the provisions of goods and services to consumers. Finally, the New Zealand Commerce Commission and the
Ministry of Health both enforce the Door-to-Door Sales Act of 1967 and the NZ Medicines Act, which govern the conduct
of our independent associates.

In the United Kingdom, ournetwork marketingsystem is subject to national regulations of the United Kingdom.
Our global associate career and compensation plan is designed to comply with the United Kingdom’ s national
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In Austria, the Austrian Trade Lawof 1994 (Novelle 2002)prohibits the offer of direct sale to an individual
consumer of food supplement and cosmetic products.The provision, however, hasgenerallynot been enforced in recent
years and sales made via the Internet or mail order or made to a non-consumer distributor do not fall under this
prohibition. The Austrian Trade Law is predominantly administered through the National Ministry of Economy and Labor.
Our business operations within Austria are conducted from beyond the borders of Austria which is the common practice in
our industry. Our distributors qualify as “traders” for purposes of Austrian state and municipal laws. Traders are regulated
by the local chambers of commerce and must obtain licenses from the respective chambers of commerce. Regulation of
food supplements and cosmetics isgenerally harmonized throughout the EU and must conform to EU standards. Austrian-
specific food regulations include the Food Safety and Consumer Protection Law (2006), supporting ordinances to this law,
the Food Supplement Law, and the Austrian Food Codex, which is primarily administered by the National Ministry of
Health, Office for Health and Food Security, and the Local Health Authority.

In Sweden various provisions of the Consumer Sales Act (1990), the Marketing Practices Act (2008), the
Distance and Doorstep Sales Act (2005), the Product Liability Act (1992), the Product Safety Act (2004), and the
Companies Act (2005) all serve to governour multi-level marketing(“MLM ”) and businessactivities. The Food Act
(2006) provides regulations and guidelines for the sale of food and food supplements.We are subject to the authority of
the Swedish Consumer Office, the Swedish Companies Registration Office, the Swedish Tax Office, Swedish Customs,
Medical Products Agency, and the National FoodAdministration. As in all EU countries various EU regulations and
guidelines apply.

In the Netherlands, the Food and Consumer Product and the Unfair Trade Practices Act are the most relevant
legislations relating to our business practices.The first is enforced by the Food and Consumer Product Safety Authority
and the latter is enforced by the Consumer Authority.Furthermore, various EU regulations apply as well as the Dutch
Door to Door Selling Act, and all provisions of the Dutch Civil Code with particular emphasis to those regulations dealing
with general terms and conditions, and those regarding misleading advertising.

Norway exercises a border control of products and their composition upon importation.Import products must be
registered in an ImportReporting Registry, and the regulations are enforced by thecustomsauthorities.Our productsmust
be compliant with Norwegian regulations in order to be admittedfor admissionthrough customsinto Norway.In Norway
Door-to-Door Selling is allowed, provided the Guidelines from the Norwegian Consumer Agency are followed. Likewise,
telephone-selling is allowed provided the agency’s guidelines are followed. Home-selling in Norway isalsoallowed. All
of our sales in Norway are subject to a14-dayright to cancel by the consumers.

In Mexico, as in many other markets, there are no specific regulations directly related to the direct selling or
network marketing industry. However, all product sales and business offerings must comply with the Consumer Protection
Law, which is enforcedby the Consumer Protection Agency. Food supplements and medicines are subject to the Health
Law and various Official Mexican Standards, which are enforced by the Health Ministry and The Federal Commission for
Protection Against Sanitary Risk.Mexican Customs Law and itsregulations govern the general importation of our
products into Mexico.We are subject to the Mexican Corporate Law,which is enforced by the Mexican courts and to the
Federal Labor Law enforced by the Labor Courts.In Mexico,we arealsosubject to the Foreign Investment Law and its
regulations administered by the Ministry of Economy.We are required to register before the Mexican System for Business
Information at the appropriate Business Chamber under the Organizations Law.

In the CzechRepublic, there are no specific regulations or special legislation that limit the network marketing
industry. Network marketing is considered to be a specific form of general sale and is generally subject to various
provisions of the Business Code (Act. Nr. 513/1992 Coll.), Civil Code (Act. Nr. 40/1964 Coll.), Labor Code (Act. No.
262/2006 Coll.), Trade License Act (Act. Nr. 455/1991 Coll.), Consumer Protection Act (Act. Nr. 634/1992 Coll.) and
related legislation.The status of independent contractor/sales distributoris primarily regulated by the Trade License Act
(Act. Nr. 455/1991 Coll), which requires sales distributors to maintain a trade license.Additionally, the regulation of food
supplements is harmonized throughout the EU and, therefore, the supplements must conform to the EU standards.
Enforcement of Czech-specific regulations is undertaken by the Ministry of Health, National Institute of Public Health,
State Institute of Drug Control and the Czech Agriculture and Food Inspection Authority.

In Estonia, there are no specific regulations governing the network marketing business, but the business is
generally regulatedunder the Consumer Protection Act. Also,independent distributors are required to register as sole
proprietorswith the Tax and Customs Board before entry intoassociateagreements.Mannatech mustalsocomply with
various EUregulations.The Veterinary and Food Board also enforces local legislation including Estonia Food Act and
Medicine Act.
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In Finland, the Finnish Food Act, the Finnish Food Packaging and Consumer Protection Acts, Act on Unfair
Business Practice Act, Decrees and other regulations, as well as applicable EU regulations, regulate Mannatech products,
product information, and the way Mannatechpromotes its products.Additionally, certain principals applicable tomulti-
level marketing under the Money Collection Act (255/2006) apply to Mannatech’s activities. Lastly, persons engaged in
the manufacture, commission of manufacture or importof foodsupplements,mustsubmit a written notification to the
Finnish Food Safety Authority when marketing and selling in Finland. A notification is also required when the
composition of preparation changes in terms of characteristics of substances or the preparation is withdrawn from the
market.

In the Republic of Ireland, the primarily relevant legislation is the Consumer Protection Act of 2007, the Distance
Selling Regulations Act of 2001, and the codes of practice of the Direct Selling Association of Ireland and the Advertising
Standards Authority for Ireland. There is no equivalent in Irish law to the UK Trading Schemes Regulations, but the
Direct Selling Association ofI relandcodes, while not as prescriptive, contain many similar requirements. Lastly, the
regulation of food and food supplements are generally harmonized throughout the EU and must conform to EU standards.

Other Regulations. Our operations are also subject to a variety of other regulations, including:

�x social security taxes;

�x value-addedtaxes;

�x goods and services taxes;

�x sales taxes;
�x consumption taxes;

�x income taxes;

�x customs duties;

�x employee/independent contractor regulations;
�x employment, service pay, retirement pay, and profit sharingrequirements;

�x import/export regulations;

�x federalsecurities laws; and

�x antitrust laws.

In many markets, we are limited by the types of rules we can impose on our independent associates, including
rules in connection with cooling off periods and termination criteria. If we do not comply with these requirements, we may
be required to pay social security, unemployment benefits, workers’ compensation, or other tax or tax-type assessments on
behalf of our independent associates and may incur severance obligations if we terminate one of our independent
associates.



21

In some countries, including the United States, we are also governed by regulations concerning the activities of
our independent associates. Regulators may find that we are ultimately responsible for the conduct of our independent
associates and mayrequest or require that we take additional steps to ensure that our independent associates comply with
these regulations. The types of conduct governed by these types of regulations may include:

�x claims made about our products;

�x promises or claims of incomeorotherpromises or claims by our independent associates; and

�x sales of products in markets where the products have not been approved or licensed.

In some markets, including the United States, improper product claims by independent associates could result in
our products being overly scrutinized by regulatory authorities. This review could result in our products being re-classified
as drugs or classified into another product category that requires stricter regulations or labeling changes.

We continuously research and monitor the laws governing the conduct of our independent associates, our
operations, our global associate career and compensation plan, and our products and sales aids within each of the countries
in which we sell our products. Weprovide education forour independent associatesregardingacceptable business conduct
in each market through our policies and procedures for independent associates’, seminars, and other training materials and
programs. However, we cannot guarantee that our independent associates will always abide by our policies and procedures
and/or act in a professional and consistent manner.

Competition

Other Nutritional Supplement Companies. The nutritional supplement industry is steadily gaining momentum
and is intensely competitive. Our current direct competitors selling similar nutritional products include:

�x HerbalifeLtd.;

�x Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc.;

�x NOW Foods;

�x Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc.;

�x Reliv’ International, Inc;

�x Schiff Nutrition International, Inc.;

�x Solgar Vitamin and Herb Company, Inc.;

�x Swanson Health Products; and

�x Usana Health Sciences, Inc.

Network marketing. Nutritional supplements are offeredfor sale in a variety of ways.Network marketinghas a
limited number of individuals interested in participating in the industry, and we must compete for those types of
individuals. We believenetwork marketingis the best sales approach to sell our productsfor the followingreasons:

�x our products can be introduced into the global marketplace at a much lower up-front cost than through
conventional methods;

�x our key ingredients and differential components found in our proprietary products can bebetterexplained
throughnetwork marketing;

�x the network marketingapproach can quickly and easily adapt to changing market conditions;

�x consumers appreciate the convenience of ordering from home, through a sales person, bytelephone, or on the
Internet; and

�x network marketingenables independent associates to earn financial rewards.

We compete with other direct selling andnetwork marketingcompanies for new independent associates and for
retention of continuing independentassociates. Some of our competitors have longer operating histories, are better known,
or have greater financial resources. These companies include:
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�x AmwayCorporation;

�x Body Wise International, Inc.;

�x Envion International;

�x Forever Living Products, Inc.;

�x Herbalife International, Inc.;

�x Mary Kay, Inc.;

�x Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc.;

�x New Vision International;

�x Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc.;

�x Reliv’ International, Inc.;

�x Schiff Nutrition International, Inc.;

�x Shaklee Worldwide;

�x Usana Health Sciences, Inc.; and

�x Visalus Sciences.

The availability of independent associates decreases when othernetwork marketingcompanies successfully
recruit and retain independent associates for their operations. We believe we can successfully compete for independent
associates byemphasizing the following:

�x our unique patented, proprietary blend of high-quality products;

�x our 18-yeartrack record in the business of selling nutritional products;

�x our model which doesnot require our independent associates to carry inventory or accounts receivable;

�x our unique and financially rewarding global associate career and compensation plan;

�x our innovative marketing and educational tools; and

�x our easyand convenient delivery system.

Employees

At December 31,2011, we employed387people aroundthe world, as set forth below:

2011 2010

United States 236 338
Australia 34 36
United Kingdom 29 30
Japan 28 28
Republic of Korea 25 27
Taiwan 17 18
Mexico 10 4
Switzerland 5 6
Canada 2 1
South Africa 1 1
Total 387 490

These numbers do not include our independent associates, who are independent contractors andarenot
considered employees.



23

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other risks described in this report, the following risk factors should be consideredin evaluating
our business and future prospects:

1. If we are unable to attract and retain independent associates, our business may suffer.

Our future success depends largely upon our ability to attract and retain a large active base of independent
associates and members who purchase ourpacks andproducts. We cannot give any assurances that thenumberof our
independent associates will continue at their current levels or increase in the future. Several factors affect our ability to
attract and retain independent associates and members, including:

�x on-going motivation of our independent associates;

�x general economic conditions;

�x significant changes in the amount of commissions paid;

�x public perception and acceptance of the wellness industry;

�x public perception and acceptance ofnetwork marketing;

�x public perception and acceptance of ourbusiness and ourproducts, including anynegative publicity;

�x the limited number of people interested in pursuingnetwork marketingas a business;

�x our ability toprovide proprietary quality-driven products thatthe market demands; and

�x competition in recruiting and retaining independent associates.

2. The loss of key high-level independent associateleaderscould negatively impact our associate growth and
our revenue.

As of December 31, 2011, we hadapproximately372,000independentassociates andmembers who purchased
our products within the last 12months,of which 154occupiedthe highest associate level under our global compensation
plan. These independent associateleaders are important in maintaining and growing our revenue.As a result, the loss of a
high-level independent associate or a group of leading associates in the independent associates’ networksof downlines,
whether by their own choice or through disciplinary actions by us for violations of our policies and procedures, could
negatively impact our associate growth and our revenue.

3. The loss of key management personnel could adversely affect our business.

We depend onthecontinued services of our executive officersand senior management team as they work closely
with independent associate leaders andare responsible for our day-to-day operations. Our success depends in part on our
ability to retain our executive officers, to compensate our executive officers at attractive levels, and to continue to attract
additional qualified individuals to our management team.Although we have entered into employment agreements with
certain members of our senior management team, and do not believe that any of them are planning to leave or retire in the
near term, we cannot assure you that our senior managers will remain with us. The loss or limitation of the services of any
of our executive officersor members of our senior management team, including our regional and country managers,or the
inability to attract additional qualified management personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, or independent associate relations.

4. An increase in the amount of commissions and incentives paid to independent associates and members
reduces our profitability.

The payment of commissions and incentives, including bonuses and prizes, is our most significant expense.
Together, our commissions and incentives rangeapproximatelyfrom 42% to 45% of our consolidated net sales. We
closely monitor the amount of commissions and incentives as a percentage of net sales, and may periodically adjust our
compensation plan to better manage these costs. There can be no assurance that changes to the compensation plan will be
successful in achieving target levels of commissions andincentives as a percentage of net sales and preventing these costs
from having a significant adverse effect on our earnings. Furthermore, such changes may make it difficult to attract and
retain independent associates or cause us to lose some of our existing independent associates.
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5. If our international markets are not successful, our business could suffer.

We currently sell our products in the international markets of Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom, Japan,
New Zealand, the Republic of Korea, Taiwan, Denmark,Germany, South Africa, Singapore, Austria, the Netherlands,
Norway, Sweden, Mexico, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, and the Republic of Ireland. Nonetheless, our
international operations could experience changes in legal and regulatory requirements, as well as difficulties inadapting
to new foreign cultures and business customs. If we do not adequately address such issues, our international markets may
not meet growth expectations. Our international operations and future expansion plans are subject to political, economic,
and social uncertainties, including:

�x inflation;

�x the renegotiation or modification of various agreements;

�x increases in custom duties and tariffs;

�x changesand limits in export controls;

�x government regulations and laws;

�x trademark availability and registration issues;

�x changes in exchange rates;

�x changes in taxation;

�x wars and other hostilities; and

�x changes in the perception of networkmarketing.

Any negative changes related to these factors could adversely affect our business, profitability, and growth
prospects. Furthermore, any negative changes in our distribution channels may force us to invest significant time and
money related toour distribution and sales to maintain our position incertain international markets.

6. If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights of our products, our business could suffer.

Our success and competitive position largely depends on our ability to protect the following proprietary rights:

�x Our Ambrotose® complex, a glyconutritional dietary supplement ingredient consisting of a blend of
monosaccharides, or sugar molecules,used inthe majority of our products;

�x TheMTech AO Blend®, our proprietary, patent-pending antioxidant used intheAmbrotose AO® complex;
and

�x A compound used in our reformulated Advanced Ambrotose® complexthatallows for a more potent
concentration ofthe full range of mannose-containing polysaccharidesoccurring naturally in aloe.

We have filed patent applications forthe technology relating toAmbrotose®, Ambrotose AO®, Phytomatrix®, GI-
ProBalance�Œand FiberSlim® in the United States and certainforeigncountries. As of December 31, 2011, we had
received52patentsfor the technology relating toAmbrotose® complex,five of which were issued in the United Statesand
the remainderin 31 foreign jurisdictions. In addition, we have entered into confidentiality agreements withour
independent associates, suppliers, manufacturers, directors, officers, and consultants to help protect our proprietary rights.
Nevertheless, we continue to face the riskthat ourpendingpatentapplicationsfor our productsmay not issueor that the
patent protectiongrantedis more limited than originally requested. As a precaution, we consult with outside legal counsel
and consultants to help ensure that weprotect our proprietary rights. However, our business, profitability, and growth
prospects could be adverselyaffected if we fail toreceiveadequateprotection ofour proprietary rights.
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7. Adverse or negative publicitycould cause our business to suffer.

Our business depends, in part, on the public’s perception of our integrity and the safety and quality ofour
products. Any adverse publicity could negatively affect the public’s perception about our industry, our products, or our
reputation and could result in a significant decline in our operations and/or the number of our independent associates.
Specifically, we are susceptible to adverse or negative publicity regarding:

�x the nutritional supplements industry;

�x skeptical consumers;

�x competitors;

�x the safety and quality ofour products and/or our ingredients;

�x regulatory investigations of our products or ourcompetitors’ products;

�x the actions of our independent associates;

�x the direct selling/network marketing industry; and

�x scandals within the industries in which we operate.

For instance, on July 5, 2007, the Texas Attorney General filed suit against us, MannaRelief Ministries, Samuel
L.Caster, the Fisher Institute, and H. Reginald McDaniel alleging violations of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices Act
and the Texas Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.We subsequentlyreached an agreement with the Texas Attorney General’s
office settling an enforcement action against us, our former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, Samuel
L. Caster, and others.Without admitting any wrongdoing, we agreed to refund up to $4 million tocertainmembersand
pay $2 millionto cover fees and expenses of Texas regulators. The settlementdid not include any fine or penalty against
the Company. We have also taken a number of actions to address concerns raised by the Texas Attorney General’s action.
Although the matter has been resolved, the lawsuit created a substantial amount of adverse publicity that may have had
and may continue to have a negative impact on our business.

8. If we are exposed to product liability claims,wemay be liable for damages and expenses, whichcould
affect our overall financial condition.

We could face financial liabilityfrom product liability claims if the use of our products results insignificant loss
or injury. Wecanmake no assurances that we will not be exposed to any substantial futureproduct liability claims. Such
claims may includeclaimsthat our products contain contaminants, that we provide our independent associates and
consumers with inadequate instructions regarding product use, or that we provide inadequate warnings concerningside
effects or interactions of our products with other substances. We believe thatwe,our suppliers,andourmanufacturers
maintain adequate product liability insurance coverage. However, asubstantialfuture product liability claim could exceed
the amount of insurance coverage or could be excluded under the termsof an existing insurance policy, which could
adversely affect ouroverallfuture financial condition.

In recent years a discovery of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy,(“ BSE”) , which is commonly referred to as
“Mad Cow Disease”, has caused concern among the general public. As a result, some countries have banned the
importation or sale of products that contain bovine materials sourced from locations where BSE has been identified. We
have changed the vast majority ofourcapsules to a vegetable base.However, if a vegetable base is not available or
practical for use, certifications are required to ensure the capsule materialis BSE-free.The higher costs could affect our
financial condition, results of operations, and our cash flows.
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9. If our outside suppliers and manufacturers fail to supply products in sufficientquantities and in a
timely fashion, ourbusiness could suffer.

Outside manufacturers make all of our products. Our profit margins and timely product delivery are dependent
upon the ability of our outside suppliers and manufacturers to supply us with products in a timely and cost-efficient
manner. Our ability to enter new markets and sustain satisfactory levels of sales in each market depends on the ability of
our outside suppliers and manufacturers toprovide required levels ofingredients and products and to comply with all
applicable regulations. As a precaution, we have approved alternate suppliers and manufacturers for our products.
However, the failure of our primary suppliers or manufacturers to supply ingredients or produce our products could
adverselyaffect our business operations.

We believe we have dependable suppliers for all ofour ingredients and we have identified alternative sources for
all of our ingredients, exceptArabinogalactan. Due to the unique nature of Arabinogalactan, an importantcomponentused
in the formulationof ourAmbrotose® complex, weareunable to identify analternative supplierat this time. I f our
suppliers are unable to perform, any delay in replacing or substituting such ingredients could affect our business.

10. Our inability to develop and introducenew products thatgain associate, member, and market
acceptance could harm our business.

A critical component of our business is our ability to develop new products that create enthusiasm among our
independent associates and members. If we are unable to introduce new products, our associate productivity could be
harmed. In addition, if any new products fail to gain market acceptance, are restricted by regulatory requirements or have
quality problems, this would harm our results of operations. Factors that could affect ourability to continue to introduce
new products include, among others, government regulations, the inability to attract and retain qualified research and
development staff, the termination of third-party research and collaborative arrangements, proprietary protections of
competitors that may limit our ability to offer comparable products, and the difficulties in anticipating changes in
consumer tastes and buying preferences.

11. Our failure to appropriately respond to changing consumer preferences and demand for new products
or product enhancements could significantly harm ourrelationship with independent associatesand
members, product sales, as well asour financial condition and operating results.

Our business is subject to changing consumer trends andpreferences, including rapid and frequent changes in
demand for products, new product introductions, and enhancements. Our failure to accurately predict these trends could
negatively impact consumer opinion of our products, which in turn could harm our independent associate and member
relationships and cause the loss of sales. The success of our new product offerings and enhancements depends upon a
number of factors, including our ability to:

�x accurately anticipate consumer needs;

�x innovate and develop newproducts or product enhancements that meet these needs;

�x successfully commercialize new products or product enhancements in a timely manner;

�x price our products competitively;

�x manufacture and deliver our products in sufficient volumes and in a timely manner;and

�x differentiate our product offerings from those of our competitors.

If we do not introduce new products or make enhancements to meet the changing needs of our members in a
timely manner, some of our products could be rendered obsolete, which could negatively impact our revenues, financial
condition,and operating results.
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12. The global nutrition industry is intensely competitive and the strengthening of any of our competitors
could harm our business.

The global nutrition industry is intenselyfragmented andcompetitive. Wecompete for independent associates
with othernetwork marketingcompanies outside the global nutrition industry. Manyof ourcompetitors have greater name
recognition and financial resources, which may give them a competitiveadvantage. Our competitors may also be able to
devote greater resources to marketing, promotional, and pricing campaigns that may influence ourcontinuingand potential
independent associates and members to buy products from competitors rather than from us. Such competition could
adversely affect our business and current market share.

13. A downturn in the economyhasaffectedconsumer purchases of discretionary items such as the health
and wellness products that we offer, which couldcontinue to have anadverse effect on our business,
financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.
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18. If we violate governmental regulations or fail to obtain necessary regulatoryapprovals,our operations
could be adversely affected.

Our operation issubject to extensive laws, governmental regulations, administrative determinations, court
decisions, and similar constraints at the federal, state, and local levels in our domestic and foreign markets. These
regulations primarily involve the following:

�x the formulation, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, distribution, importation, sale, and storage of our
products;

�x the health and safety of dietary supplements, cosmetics and foods;

�x trade practice laws andnetwork marketinglaws;

�x our product claims andadvertisingby our independent associates;

�x our network marketingsystem;

�x pricing restrictions regarding transactions with our foreign subsidiaries or other related parties and similar
regulations that affect our level of foreign taxable income;

�x the assessment of customs duties;

�x further taxation of our independent associates, which may obligate us to collect additional taxes and maintain
additional records; and

�x export and import restrictions.

Any unexpected new regulations or changes in existing regulationscould significantly restrict our ability to
continue operations, which could adversely affect our business. For example, changes regarding health and safety and food
and drug regulations for our nutritional products could require us to reformulateour products to comply with such
regulations.

In some foreign countries, nutritional products are considered foods, while other countries consider them drugs.
Future health and safety or food and drugregulations could delay or prevent our introduction of new products or suspend
or prohibit the sale of existing products in a given country or marketplace. In addition,if we expand into other foreign
markets, our operations or products could also be affected by the general stability ofsuchforeign governments andthe
regulatory environment relating tonetwork marketingand our products. If our products are subject to high customs duties,
oursales and competitive position could suffer as compared to locally produced goods. Furthermore, import restrictions in
certain countries and jurisdictions could limit our ability to import products from the United States.

19. Increased regulatory scrutiny of nutritional supplements as well as new regulations that are being
adopted in some of our markets with respect tonutritional supplements could result in more restrictive
regulations and harm our results if our supplements or advertising activities are found to violate
existing or new regulations or if we are not able to effect necessary changes to our products in a timely
and efficient manner to respond to new regulations.

There has been an increasing movement in the United States and other markets to increase the regulation of
dietary supplements, whichcouldimpose additional restrictions or requirementson us andincrease the cost of doing
business. In several of our markets, new regulations have been adopted,or are likely to be adopted, in the near-term that
will impose new requirements, make changes in some classifications of supplements under the regulations, or limit the
claims we can make. In addition, there has been increased regulatory scrutiny of nutritional supplements and marketing
claims under existing and new regulations. In Europe, for example, we are unable to market supplements that contain
ingredients that have not been previously marketed in Europe without going through an extensive registration and
approval process.Europe is also expected to adopt additional regulationsin the near future to setnew limits on acceptable
levels of nutrients.The FDA has implementedGood Manufacturing Practicesfor theU.S. nutritional supplement industry.
Our operations could be harmed if new regulations require us to reformulate products or effect new registrations, if
regulatory authorities make determinations that any of our products do not comply with applicable regulatory
requirements,if the cost of complying with regulatory requirements increases materially,or if we are not able to effect
necessary changes to our products in a timely and efficient manner to respond to new regulations. In addition, our
operations could be harmed if governmental laws or regulations are enacted that restrict the ability of companies to market
or distribute nutritional supplementsor impose additional burdens or requirements on nutritional supplement companies.
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20. If our information technology system fails, our operations could suffer.

Like many companies,our business is heavily dependent upon our information technology infrastructure to
effectively manage and operate many ofour keybusiness functions, including:

�x order processing;

�x supply chain management;
�x customer service;

�x product distribution;

�x commission processing;

�x cash receipts and payments; and

�x financial reporting.

These systems and operations are vulnerable to damageandinterruption from fires, earthquakes,
telecommunications failures, and other events. They are also subject to break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism
and similar misconduct.Although we maintain anextensive security system anddisaster recovery programthat was
developed under the guidelines published by the National Institute of Standardsof Technology,a long-term failure or
impairment of any of our information technology systems could adversely affect our ability to conduct day-to-day
business.

21. Currency exchange rate fluctuations couldreduceour overall profits.

In 2011 and 2010, we recognized58.2% and55.9%, respectively, of net sales in markets outside of the United
States. In preparing our consolidated financial statements,certainfinancial information is required to be translated from
foreign currencies to the United States dollar using either the spot rate or the weighted-average exchange rate.If the
United States dollarchangesrelative to applicable local currencies, there is a riskour reported sales, operating expenses,
and net income could significantly fluctuate. We are not able to predict the degree of exchange rate fluctuations, nor can
we estimate the effect any future fluctuations may have upon our future operations. To date,we have not entered into any
hedging contracts or participated in any hedging or derivative activities.

22. We may be heldresponsible for certain taxes or assessments relating to the activities of our independent
associates, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our independent associates are subject to taxation and, in some instances, legislationor governmental agencies
impose an obligation on us to collect taxes, such as value added taxes, and to maintain appropriatetaxrecords. In addition,
we are subject to the risk in some jurisdictions of being responsible for social security and similar taxes with respect to our
distributors. In the event that local laws and regulations require us to treat our independent distributors as employees, orif
our distributors are deemed by local regulatory authorities to be our employees, rather than independentcontractors, we
may be held responsible for social security and related taxes in those jurisdictions, plus any related assessments and
penalties, whichcould harm our financial condition and operating results.
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23. Our Equity Line with Dutchess may not beavailable to us if we elect to make a draw down.

On September 16, 2010, we entered into an Investment Agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) with Dutchess
Opportunity Fund II, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Investor” ). Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, the
Investor committed to purchase, subject to certain restrictions and conditions, up to $10,000,000of our common stock,
over a period of 36 months from the first trading day following the effectiveness of the registration statement registering
the resale of shares purchased by the Investor pursuant to the Investment Agreement (the “Equity Line”). Dutchess will
not be obligated to purchase shares under the Equity Line unless certain conditions are met, which include: effectiveness
of the registration statement; the continued listing of our stock on the NASDAQ GlobalSelectMarket; our compliance
with our obligations under the Investment Agreement and Registration Rights Agreement entered into with Dutchess; the
absence of injunctions or other governmental actions prohibiting the issuance of common stock to Dutchess; the absence
of violations of shareholder approval requirements with respect to such issuance of our common stock to Dutchess; the
accuracy of representations and warranties made to Dutchess; and approval of the Equity Line transaction by our board of
directors. If we are unable to access funds through the Equity Line, we may be unable to access capital on favorable terms
or at all.

24. Any drawdowns under our Equity Line with Dutchess may result in dilution to our shareholders.

If we sell shares to Dutchess under the Equity Line, it will have a dilutive effect on the holdings of our current
shareholders,and may result in downward pressure onthe price of our common stock. If we draw down amounts under the
Equity Line, we will issue shares to Dutchess at a discount of up to 4% from the average price of our common stock. If we
draw down amounts under the Equity Line when our share price is decreasing, we will need to issue more shares to raise
the same amount than if our stock price was higher. Issuances in the face of a declining share price will have an even
greater dilutive effect than if our share price were stable or increasing and may further decrease our share price.

25. Our stock priceis volatile and mayfluctuate significantly.

The price of our common stock is subject to sudden and material increases and decreases. Decreases could
adversely affect investments in our common stock. Theprice of our common stock and the price at which we could sell
securities in the future could significantly fluctuate in response to:

�x broad market fluctuations and general economic conditions;

�x fluctuations in our financial results;

�x future securitiesofferings;
�x changes in the market’ s perception of our products or our business, includingfalse ornegative publicity;

�x governmental regulatory actions;

�x the outcome of any lawsuits;

�x financial and business announcements made by us or our competitors;

�x the general condition of the industry; and
�x the sale of large amounts of stock by insiders.

In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations in recent years that have
significantly affected the quoted prices of the securities ofmany companies. The changessometimesappear to occur
without regard to specific operating performance. The price of our common stockin the open marketcould fluctuate based
on factors that have little or nothing to do with us or that are outside of our control.
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26. Our failure to comply with the NASDAQGlobal Select Marketcontinued listing standards may
adversely affect the price and liquidity of our shares of common stock as well as our ability to raise
capital in the future.

Our common stock iscurrently listed on theNASDAQ Global Select Market. Continued listing of a security on
Nasdaq is conditioned upon compliance with various continued listing standards. There can be no assurance that we will
continue to satisfy the requirements for maintaining listing on Nasdaq. If we are unsuccessful in maintaining compliance
with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, then our common stock could be delisted. Ifour common stock is
delisted andwe cannot obtain listing on another major market or exchange, ourcommonstock’s liquidity would suffer,
and we would likely experience reduced investor interest. Such factors may result in a decrease in ourcommonstock’s
trading price. Delisting may also restrict us from issuing additional securities or securing financing.

On August 11, 2011, we received a letter from Nasdaq (the “Notice”) notifying us that the closing bid price of
our common stock was below the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement for 30 consecutive business days and, as a result,
we no longer complied with the minimum bid price requirement under Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) for continued listing on
Nasdaq. The Notice also stated thatwe had been provided an initial compliance period of 180 calendar days, or until
February 7, 2012, to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement. Effective January 13, 2012, we amended
ourAmended and Restated Articles of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split ofourcommon stock at a ratio of 1-for-
10. The primary purposes of the reverse stock split was to increase the per-share market price ofourcommon stock in
order to maintain its listing on Nasdaq, encourage investor interest inMannatech, and promote greater liquidity forour
existing shareholders. On January 31, 2012, we received a letterfrom TheNasdaqStock Market confirming thatwe had
regained compliance with the minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on Nasdaq.

While the reverse stock splitallowed usto regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement and
prevent Nasdaq from delisting our common stock, it is possible that, even if an increased per-share price can be
maintained, we may not be able to continue to satisfy the additional criteriafor continued listing of our common stock on
Nasdaq. To continue to have our common stock eligible for continued listing on Nasdaq, we would also need to satisfy
additional criteria under at least one of the three standardsset forth by the Nasdaq Stock Market. Under Equity Standard
Listing Rules5450(a) and 5450(b)(1), these criteria require, in addition to the $1.00 minimum bid price, that:

�x we have shareholders’ equity of at least $10 million;

�x our public float must consist of at least 750,000 shares witha market value of at least $5 million (public
float is defined under Nasdaq’s rules as the shares held by persons other than officers, directors and
beneficial owners of greater than 10% of our total outstanding shares);

�x there be at least 400 shareholders;

�x there be at least two market makers for our common stock; and

�x we comply with certain corporate governance requirements.

As of the date of issuance of this report, we were in compliance with these continued listing requirements.
However, we cannot assureyou that we will be successful in continuing to meet all requisite continued listing criteria.

27. Certain shareholders, directors, and officers own a significant amount of our stock, which couldallow
them to influence corporate transactions and othermatters.

As of December 31,2011, our directors, executive officers,and a major shareholder,collectively with their
families and affiliates, beneficially owned approximately35.3% of our total outstanding common stock. As a result, iftwo
or moreof these shareholders choose to act together based on their current share ownership, they may be able to control a
significantpercentageof the total outstandingshares of ourcommonstock, which couldaffect the outcome of a
shareholder vote on the electionof directors, the adoption of stock option plans, the adoption or amendment of provisions
in our articles of incorporation and bylaws, or the approval of mergers and other significant corporate transactions.
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28. We have implemented anti-takeover provisions that may help discourage a change of control.

Certain provisions in our articles of incorporation, bylaws, and the Texas BusinessOrganizations Codehelp
discourage unsolicited proposals to acquire our company, even if the proposal may benefit our shareholders. Our articles
of incorporation authorize the issuance of preferred stock without shareholder approval. Our Board of Directors has the
power to determine the price and terms of any preferred stock. The ability of our Board of Directors to issue one or more
series of preferred stock without shareholders’ approval could deter or delay unsolicited changes of control by
discouraging open market purchases of our common stock or a non-negotiated tender or exchange offer for our common
stock. Discouragingopen market purchases may be disadvantageous to our shareholders who may otherwise desire to
participate in a transaction in which they would receive a premium for their shares.

In addition, other provisions may also discourage a change of control by means of a tender offer, open market
purchase, proxy contest or otherwise. Our charter documents provide for three classes of directors on our Board of
Directors with members of each class serving staggered three year terms.In addition, the Texas BusinessOrganization
Coderestricts, subject to exceptions, business combinations with any“ affiliated shareholder.” Any or all of these
provisions could delay, deter or help prevent a takeover of ourCompany and could limit the price investors are willing to
payfor our common stock.

29. We are not required to pay dividends, and ourBoard of Directorsmay decide not to declare dividendsin
the future.

Thedeclaration of dividends on our common stock is solely within the discretion of ourBoard ofDirectors,
subject to limitations under Texas law stipulating that dividends may not be paid if payment therefore would cause the
corporation to be insolvent or if the amount of the dividend would exceed the surplus of the corporation. OurBoard of
Directorsmaydecide not to declare dividendsor we could beprevented from declaring adividend because of legal or
contractual restrictions. The failure to pay dividends could reduce our stock price.Our Board of Directors suspended
dividends in August 2009.We may not resume payment of dividends in the future.

30. Concentration Risk

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from our core Ambrotose® complex products which includethe
Ambrotose® productsandAdvanced Ambrotose® products.A decline insalesvalue of such legacy products could have a
material adverse effect on our earnings, cash flows, and financial position. Revenue fromthecoreAmbrotose® products
wereas follows for the years ended December 31, 2011,2010 and 2009(in thousands,except percentages):

2011 2010 2009

Sales by
product

% of total
net sales

Sales by
product

% of total
net sales

Sales by
product

% of total
net sales

Advanced Ambrotose® $ 66,893 33.3% $ 61,458 26.9% $ 65,360 22.6%
Ambrotose® 15,513 7.7% 19,078 8.4% 25,413 8.8%

Total $ 82,406 41.0% $ 80,536 35.3% $ 90,773 31.4%

Our business is not currently exposedto customer concentration riskgiven thatno independent associate hasever
accounted for more than 10%of our consolidated net sales.

Circumstances and conditions may change. Accordingly, additional risks and uncertainties not currently known,
or that we currently deem not material, may also adversely affect our businessoperations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease property at several locations forourheadquarters and distribution facilities, including:

Location Size
Expiration

date

Coppell, Texas (corporate headquarters) 110,000sq. feet March 2018

Coppell, Texas (distribution center) 75,000sq. feet March 2018
St. Leonards, Australia (Australian headquarters) 850sq. meters(1) August 2013

Didcot, Oxfordshire (combined U.K. headquarters and
distribution center) 16,631sq. feet July 2012

Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan (Japanese headquarters) 296Tsubos(2) November 2012
Ganganm-gu, Seoul, Korea (Republic of Korea headquarters) 717Pyong(3) June 2013
Taipei, Taiwan (Taiwan headquarters) 254pings(4) June 2012
Zug, Switzerland (Switzerland headquarters) 680sq. meters(5) October 2013
Markham, Ontario (Canada headquarters) 3,097sq. feet September 2012
Bedfordview, South Africa 383sq. meters(6) March 2015
Guadalajara, Mexico (customer service center) 1550sq. meters(7) February 2016

Mexico City, Mexico (customer service center) 179sq. meters(8) November 2015
______________________
(1) Approximately 9,149 square feet.
(2) Approximately 10,538 square feet.
(3) Approximately25,526square feet.
(4) Approximately 9,021 square feet.
(5) Approximately 7,324 square feet.
(6) Approximately4,119square feet.
(7) Approximately16,684square feet.
(8) Approximately 1,926 square feet.

Our main distribution facility is located in Coppell, Texas and consists of 75,000 square feet of leased space that
houses an automated distribution system capable of processing up to 18,000 orders per day. In 2005, we opened a
distribution facility in theUnited Kingdom, which is located in Didcot, Oxfordshire and is capable of processing up to650
orders perday. Both distributioncenters currently operate well below full capacity and are capable ofsupporting our
planned sales volume growth in the foreseeable future.

To maximize our operating strategy and minimize costs, we continue to contract with third-party distribution and
fulfillment facilities in Canada, Australia, Japan, the Republic of Korea, Taiwan, South Africa, and Mexico. By entering
into these third-party distributionfacility agreements, our smaller offices maintain flexible operating capacity, minimize
shipping costs, and are able to process an order within 24-hours after order placement andreceipt ofpayment.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See “Litigation” in Note13 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statement, which is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant ’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Mattersand Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market for Our Common Stock. On February 12, 1999, we completed our initial public offering. Our common stockis
currentlytrading on theNASDAQ GlobalSelectMarket under the symbol“MTEX.” Effective January 13, 2012, we
amendedour Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of our common stock at a ratio
of 1-for-10. The primary purpose of the reverse stock split was to increase the per-share marketprice of ourcommon stock
in order to maintainour listing on Nasdaq. Asof March26, 2012,we had an aggregate of2,647,735shares of our common
stock outstandingand the closing price on such datewas$3.77.Below are the high and lowclosingprices ofourcommon
stock as reported on theNasdaqfor each quarter of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, asadjusted for the
1-for-10 reverse stock split:

2011: Low High

First Quarter $ 16.20 $ 20.60
Second Quarter $ 9.30 $ 17.50
Third Quarter $ 5.26 $ 9.70
Fourth Quarter $ 4.01 $ 7.90

2010:

First Quarter $ 27.80 $ 44.10
Second Quarter $ 18.90 $ 42.30
Third Quarter $ 20.00 $ 29.80
Fourth Quarter $ 16.20 $ 21.90

Holders. As of March 26, 2012, therewere1,135shareholders of record.

Dividends. In the third quarter of 2009,our Board of Directors suspended the quarterly cash dividend payment to
shareholders due to theCompany’s financial performance, protracted worldwide economic recession, and theinternal
funding needs ofnewinitiatives designed to accelerate sales and associate recruitment.See“Risk Factors—We are not
required to pay dividends, and ourBoard ofDirectorsmay decide not to declare dividends in the future” in Item1A of this
Form 10-K for further discussion relatedto future payment of dividends.

Stock Options. The following table provides information asof March26, 2012 aboutour common stock that may be
issued upon the exercise of stock options underour existing stock option plan, as adjusted for the 1-for-10 reverse stock
split thatbecameeffective January 13, 2012.

Plan Category

Number of securitiesto
be issuedupon exercise
of outstandingoptions,
warrants, and rights

(a)

Weighted-average
exerciseprice of

outstandingoptions,
warrants, andrights

(b)

Number of securities
remaining availablefor

future issuanceunder equity
compensationplans

(excludingsecuritiesreflected
in column (a))

(c)

Equity compensation plan 130,665 $ 22.39 40,230
Equity compensation plans not approved by

Shareholders — — —
Total 130,665 40,230

In February 2008,our Board of Directors approvedour2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”),which
reservesup to100,000 shares,as adjusted for the 1-for-10 reverse stock split, for issuance of stock options and restricted
stock toouremployees, membersof the Board of Directors, and consultants, plus any shares reserved underourthen-
existing, unexpired stock plan for which options had not been issuedplusany shares underlying outstanding options under
thethen-existing stock option plans that terminate without having been exercised in full. The 2008 Plan was approved by
ourshareholders atour 2008 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.Currently, the 2008 Plan isthe onlystock incentive plan
under which we may grant options.

Sales of Unregistered Securities.



36

None.

Uses of Proceeds from Registered Securities.

None.

Issuer Purchases of EquitySecurities.

On July 14, 2011,ourBoard of Directors authorized the reactivation of the stock repurchase program previously
approved by the Board of Directors on June 30, 2004 (the “June 2004 Plan”). Under the June 2004 Plan, as reactivated on
July 14,2011and amendedon March 21, 2012, we areauthorized to repurchase, in the open marketthe lesser of (i)
131,756 shares, as adjusted for the 1-for-10 reverse stock split, and (ii) $1.3 million in shares of our common stock.
During July 2011,we repurchased 528 shares ofour common stock in the open market under the June 2004 Plan. The total
cost and average price per share were approximately $5,000 and $9.43, respectively.As of March26, 2012, the maximum
number of shares available for repurchase under the June 2004 Planwas 19,084, and the total number of shares purchased
in the open market under the June 2004 Plan was 112,672as adjusted for the 1-for-10 reverse stock split.

The following table summarizes share repurchase activity during theyearendedDecember 31, 2011as adjusted
for the 1-for-10 reverse stock split that became effective January 13, 2012:

Period

(a)

Total number of
shares (or units)

purchased

(b)

Average price
paid per share

(or unit)

(c)

Total number of
shares (or units)

purchased as
part of publicly

announced plans
or programs(1)

(d)

Maximum
number (or
approximate

dollar value) of
shares (or units)
that may yet be

purchased under
the plans or
programs(1)

July 1– July 31 528 $9.43 528 19,084
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

The following discussion is intendedto assist in the understanding of our consolidated financial position and our
results of operations for each of the three years ended December 31,2011, 2010, and 2009. This discussion should be read
in conjunction with“Item 15.– Consolidated FinancialStatements and relatednotes,” beginning on page F-1 of this report
and with other financial information included elsewhere in this report. Unless stated otherwise, all financial information
presented below, throughout this report, and in the consolidatedfinancial statements and related notes includes Mannatech
and all of our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Since November 1993, we have continued to develop innovative, highquality, proprietary nutritional
supplements, topical and skin care products, and weight-management products that are sold through a global network
marketing system. We operate in the United States, Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom, Japan, New Zealand, the
Republic of Korea, Taiwan, Denmark, Germany, South Africa, Singapore, Austria, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden,
Mexico, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, and the Republic of Ireland. Our Switzerland office was created to manage
certain day-to-day business needs of non-North American markets.

We conductour business as a single operating segment and primarily sell our products through a network of
approximately372,000independentassociates and members who had purchased our products and/or packsduringthe last
12 months, who we refer to ascurrentindependent associates and members. New recruits and pack sales are leading
indicators forthe long-term success ofour business.New recruitsincludenew independent associates and members
purchasing our packs and products for the first time. We operate as a seller of nutritional supplements, topical and skin
care products, and weight-management products through ournetwork marketingdistribution channels operating intwenty-
onecountries. We review and analyze net sales by geographical location and by packs and productson a consolidated
basis. Each of our subsidiariessellssimilar products andexhibitssimilar economic characteristics, such as selling prices
and gross margins.

Because we sell our products throughnetwork marketingdistribution channels, the opportunities and challenges
that affect us most are: recruitment of new and retention of independent associates and members; entry into new markets
and growth of existing markets; niche market development; new product introduction; and investment in our
infrastructure.

Current Economic Conditions and Recent Developments

We introduced several concepts at the end of 2010 that webelievedwould be instrumentalin effectively
navigatingthrough the challenging economic times.Theseconceptsincluded: (i) achieving desired levels of revenue
largely through attracting and retaining associates; (ii) international expansion; (iii) new product introductions; and (iv)
financial discipline.

The primary challenge of 2010wasthe overall reduction in recruiting,whichcontinued during 2011andresulted
in revenue declines.

In January 2011, we began selling products in Mexico. We opened customer service centers in Guadalajara and
Mexico City. In late 2011, we opened a training center in Monterrey. In addition to the Mexico launch, webegan
operations inthe European countries of Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland, andthe Republic ofIreland in June 2011.
These markets constituted 1% of the consolidated revenue during 2011. We continue to believe the international markets
will constitute the majority of revenue growth inthe future.

As a company devoted to nutritional innovation, we consider our intellectual property to be one of our most
valuable corporate assets. In 2011, we received six patents for technologies related to our Ambrotose® and
AmbrotoseAO® products, fiveof which were issued by international patent offices. Our Ambrotose® and
AmbrotoseAO® technologies have been granted patents from governing bodies around the world. We believe these
patents further establish our Company as an industry leader in nutritionand wellness technologies.



39

In 2011,we continued to focus on product developmentin an effortto continually improve and reformulate our
existing products. An example of this was the introduction of ourOmega-3 supplement that now containsVitamin D3.
The decision to addVitamin D3 was prompted by the rapidly expanding scientific research documenting the extensive
health benefits ofVitamin D3.

During 2011, we continuedto focus on restoring profitability and generating positive cash flow. In June 2011,
we announced a restructuring of our US operations and elimination of 98 work force positions. The restructuring reduced
the costs of operations by $7.2 million for the second half of 2011. Additionally, as opportunities were identified, other
operating costs were reduced internationally.

Our consolidated balance sheetat the end of the yearremained stable in comparison to 2010. We continued to
operatevirtually debt-free during 2011. Although we generated a consolidatednetloss, our cashandcashequivalents as
well as our liabilities remained essentially unchanged. A large portion of the consolidatednetloss was generated by
depreciation expenseamounting to $5.7 million from our EnterpriseResourcePlanning(“ ERP”)system, whichwent into
operation in 2007 and is recorded as computer software costs within property and equipmenton our balance sheet. In
2012,the remainingnet book value of the ERP system will befully recognized by the second quarter reducing
depreciation expense as compared to 2011. The reduction in depreciation expense along with continued financial
discipline should improve operating income.

We continue to increase operational efficiency. We have made certain changes to our management structure to
provide strongerfoundation for growth and better align our organization with our long-term goals. We believe that
efficiencies gained from the organization realignment will help us to improve cost controls and distinguish us in the
marketplace by adding emphasis to brandmanagement, associate recruitment, new product development, and international
expansion.

Even during difficult times, wehavemaintainedour focus to be a generous and socially responsible company.
We continue our charitable donations to MannaRelief, a non-profit organization that provides charitable services for
children in need. In 2010, MannaRelief and Mannatech partnered together to launch the Give for RealSM program. This
“donation-through-consumption” initiative was designed to allow consumers and associates to help undernourished
children around the world. For every purchase on an automatic order containing certain products,Mannatech provides
nutritional supplementsthrough donations toMannaRelieffor children in need worldwide.

In 2012, our primary goal is to restore sales volume, profitability, and generate positive cash flow. In order to
achieve these financial goals the company plans to: (i) launch a new product during the second quarter which will combine
the best technologies from our vast patent portfolio of over 70 patents into a single compelling and affordable product; (ii)
introduce a sales system to ourassociates that will allow world-wide recruitment of both consumers and business builders;
and (iii) continue to build the markets launched in 2011. Finally,we will continue to aggressively identify and reduce
operational expenses and ensure any incremental revenue growth results in additional profitability and cash flow.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2011 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010

The tables below summarize our consolidated operating results in dollars and as a percentage of net sales for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010(in thousands, except percentages).

2011 2010 Change

Total
Dollars

% of
netsales

Total
dollars

% of
net sales Dollar Percentage

Net sales $ 200,689 100% $ 228,088 100% $ (27,399) (12.0)%
Cost of sales 30,421 15.2% 32,754 14.4% (2,333) (7.1)%
Commissions and incentives 87,425 43.6 % 97,319 42.7% (9,894) (10.2)%

117,846 58.7 % 130,073 57.0% (12,227) (9.4)%
Gross profit 82,843 41.3 % 98,015 43.0% (15,172) (15.5)%

Operating expenses:
Selling and administrative expenses 55,697 27.8 % 62,657 27.5% (6,960) (11.1)%
Depreciation and amortization 10,697 5.3 % 11,517 5.0% (820) (7.1)%
Otheroperating costs 33,338 16.6 % 35,322 15.5% (1,984) (5.6)%

Total operating expenses 99,732 49.7 % 109,496 48.0% (9,764) (8.9)%
Loss from operations (16,889) (8.4)% (11,481) (5.0)% (5,408) (47.1)%
Interest income 117 0.1 % 173 0.1% (56) (32.4)%
Other income(expense), net (1,106) (0.6 )% 268 0.1% (1,374) (512.7)%
Loss before income taxes (17,878) (8.9)% (11,040) (4.8)% (6,838) (61.9)%
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (2,781) (1.4)% 424 0.2% (3,205) (755.9)%

Net loss $ (20,659) (10.3)% $ (10,616) (4.7)% $ (10,043) (94.6)%
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Consolidated net salesby customer location for the years ended December 31, 2011and 2010 were as follows(in
millions, except percentages):

Net Sales in Dollars and as a Percentage of Consolidated Net Sales

2011 2010

United States $ 84.0 41.8% $ 100.8 44.1%

Japan 30.4 15.1% 34.2 15.0%

Republic of Korea 23.4 11.8% 22.0 9.6%

Australia 17.3 8.6% 20.0 8.8%

Canada 16.0 8.0% 18.5 8.1%

South Africa 8.8 4.4% 12.0 5.3%
Taiwan 4.3 2.1% 6.4 2.8%

Singapore 3.6 1.8% 2.1 0.9%

New Zealand 2.4 1.2% 3.1 1.4%

Mexico(1) 2.0 1.0% — —

Germany 1.9 0.9% 2.3 1.0%

United Kingdom(2) 1.8 0.9% 2.4 1.1%

Norway 1.8 0.9% 1.6 0.7%

The Netherlands 1.2 0.6% 0.6 0.3%

Austria 0.8 0.4% 1.1 0.5%

Sweden 0.5 0.2% 0.5 0.2%

Denmark 0.3 0.2% 0.5 0.2%

Finland(3) 0.2 0.1% — —

Total $ 200.7 100% $ 228.1 100%
__________________________________
(1) The Company began operations in Mexico in January 2011.
(2) Includes sales forthe Czech Republic, Estonia, and the Republic of Ireland, which began operationsin June 2011.Their combined consolidated

sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 were approximately $0.1 millionand are included in net salesfor United Kingdom.
(3) The Company began operations in Finland in June 2011.

Net Sales

For the year ended December31, 2011, our operations outside of the United States accounted for approximately
58.2% of our consolidated net sales, whereas in the same period in 2010, our operations outside of the United States
accounted for approximately55.9% of our consolidated net sales.

Consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31,2011 decreasedby $27.4 million ,or 12.0%, to $200.7
million, as compared to$228.1 million for the same period in 2010. United Statessalesdecreasedby $16.8million, or
16.7%, to $84.0million, while international salesdecreasedby $10.6 million, or8.3%, to $116.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the same period in 2010.

Fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates had an overallfavorableimpact on our net sales of approximately
$7.2 million for yearendedDecember 31, 2011. The net sales impact is calculated asthe difference between (1)the
current period’s net sales in USD and (2)the current period’s net sales in local currencies converted to USD by applying
average exchange rates for theyearendedDecember 31, 2010.
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Net sales by country intransactionalcurrency forthe year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010were as follows
(in millions, except percentages):

Change

Country
Transactional
Currency 2011 2010

Transactional
currency Percentage

Australia and Singapore AUD 17.1 23.9 (6.8) (28.5)%
Austria, Germany, theNetherlands, the

Czech Republic, Estonia, Finland,
and the Republic of Ireland EUR 2.9 3.0 (0.1) (3.3)%

Denmark DKK 2.0 3.0 (1.0) (33.3)%
Japan JPY 2,397.3 2,971.3 (574.0) (19.3)%
Korea KRW 25,808.2 25,358.9 449.3 1.8%
Mexico MXD 24.6 — — —
New Zealand NZD 3.0 4.4 (1.4) (31.8)%
Norway NOK 9.9 8.6 1.3 15.1%
Singapore SGD 3.9 — — —
South Africa ZAR 63.0 87.6 (24.6) (28.1)%
Sweden SEK 3.0 3.0 — —
Taiwan TWD 122.4 201.8 (79.4) (39.3)%
United Kingdom GBP 1.2 1.7 (0.5) (29.4)%

Our total sales and sales mixcouldbe influenced by any of the following:

• changes in our sales prices;
• changes in consumer demand;
• changes in the number of independent associates and members;
• changes in competitors’ products;
• changes in economic conditions;
• changes in regulations;
• announcements of new scientific studies and breakthroughs;
• introduction of new products;
• discontinuation of existing products;
• adverse publicity;
• changes in our commissions and incentives programs;
• direct competition; and
• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Our sales mix for the years ended December 31, was as follows(in millions, except percentages):
Change

2011 2010 Dollar Percentage

Consolidated product sales $ 171.5 $ 187.2 $ (15.7) (8.4)%
Consolidated pack sales 21.3 31.3 (10.0) (31.9)%
Consolidated other, including freight 7.9 9.6 (1.7) (17.7)%
Total consolidated net sales $ 200.7 $ 228.1 $ (27.4) (12.0)%

Pack sales correlate to new independent associates who purchase starter packs andto continuing independent
associates who purchase upgrade or renewal packs. However, there is no direct correlation betweenproduct sales andthe
number of new and continuing independent associates and members because independent associates and members utilize
products at different volumes.
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Product Sales

Substantially all of our product sales are made to independent associates at published wholesale prices. We also
sell our products to independent members at discounted published retail prices.

Product sales for theyearendedDecember31, 2011 decreasedby $15.7 million, or 8.4%, as compared to the
same period in 2010. The decrease in product sales was primarily due to the reduction in the number of new associates and
the loss of existing associates, whichresulted in a decline in the number of orders processed during2011. The average
order value for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $157, as compared to $149 for the same period in 2010. The5.6%
increase in average order value resulted in approximately$9.0million in additional revenue, which partially offset the
overall decline in product sales. The number of orders placed during the year ended December, 31, 2011 decreased by
13% as compared to the same period in 2010.

Pack Sales

Packs may be purchased by our independent associates who wish to build a Mannatech business.These packsare
offered to our independent associates at a discount from published retail prices. There are several pack options available to
ourindependentassociates. In certain markets, pack sales arecompletedduring thefinal stages of theregistration process
and can provide newindependentassociates with valuable training and promotional materials, as well as products for
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During 2010and 2011, we took the following actions to help increase the number of independent associates and
members:

• registered our most popular products with the appropriate regulatory agencies in allcountries of operations;

• explored new international markets;

• launched an aggressive marketing and educational campaign;

• continued to strengthen compliance initiatives;

• concentrated on publishing results of research studies and clinical trials related to our products;

• initiated additional incentives;

• explored new advertising and educational tools to broaden name recognition; and

• implemented changes to our global associate career and compensation plan.

Other Sales

Other sales consistedof: (i) sales of promotional materials; (ii) training and event registration fees; (iii) monthly
feescollected for Success Tracker�Œ, a customized electronic business-building and educational materials database for our
independent associates that helps stimulateproduct sales and provide business management;(iv) freight revenue charged
to our independent associates and members; and (v) a reserve for estimated sales refunds and returns.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, othersalesdecreased by $1.7 million, or 17.7%, to $7.9 million, as
compared to $9.6 million for the same period in 2010. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in freight fees for
product and pack shipments.

Gross Profit

For the year endedDecember 31, 2011,gross profitdecreased by $15.2 million, or 15.5%, to $82.8 million, as
compared to $98.0 million for the same period in 2010. Forthe year ended December 31, 2011, gross profit as a
percentage of net sales decreased to41.3% as compared to43.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010. The reduction in
gross profitfor the year ended December 31, 2011is due to the decline in sales, as well as the increase in commissions and
incentives and cost of sales as a percentage of net sales as compared to the same period in 2010.

Cost ofsales decreasedfor theyear ended December 31,2011 by 7.1%, or $2.3 million, to $30.4 million ,as
compared to $32.7 million for the same period in 2010. The reduction in cost of sales was primarily due to a decrease in
finished product and pack cost and shipping supplies, which was related to the decline in sales for the period.Cost of sales
as a percentage of net salesincreased to 15.2%, as compared to14.4% for the same period in 2010. The percentage
increasewasdue toan increase inreserves forinventorywrite-offs.

Commission costs decreased for the year endedDecember 31, 2011, by 10.9%, or $10.2million, to $83.6 million,
as compared to $93.8 million for the same period in 2010. The decrease in commissionswasdueto the decrease in
commissionable net sales.For the year ended December 31, 2011, commissions as a percentageof net salesincreased to
41.7% as compared to 41.1% for the same period of 2010.

Incentive costsincreased for the yearended December 31,2011 by 8.6%, or $0.3 million, to $3.8 million, as
compared to $3.5 million for the same period in 2010. The costs of incentives, as a percentage of net sales,increased to
1.9% for the year ended December 31, 2011, as compared to1.5% for the same period in 2010. The total number of
independent associates who qualified for the annual incentive tripin 2011 was 747, as compared to 715 in 2010.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses include a combination of both fixed and variable expenses. These expenses
consist of compensation and benefits for employees, temporary and contract labor, outbound shipping and freight, and
marketing-related expenses, such as monthly magazine development costs and costs related to hosting our corporate-
sponsored events.

For the year ended December 31, 2011,overall selling and administrative expenses decreasedby $7.0 million, or
11.1%, to $55.7 million, as compared to $62.7 million for the same period in 2010. The decrease in selling and
administrative expenses consisted of a $3.8 million decrease in payroll and payroll-related costs,a $1.2 million decrease in
freight cost, $0.8 million decrease in marketing costs,a $1.0million decrease in contract labor costs, and a $0.2 million
decrease in stock-based compensation expense.Selling and administrative expenses, as a percentage of net sales, for the
year ended December 31, 2011 remained relatively flat at27.8%, as compared to 27.5% for the same period in 2010.

Other Operating Costs

Other operating costs include travel, accounting/legal/consulting fees, royalties, credit card processing fees,
banking fees, off-site storagefees, utilities, and other miscellaneous operating expenses.Changesin other operating costs
are associated with the changes in our net sales.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, other operatingcostsdecreased by $2.0 million, or 5.6%, to $33.3
million, as compared to $35.3 million for the same period in 2010. For the year ended December 31,2011, other operating
costs, as a percentage of net sales, were16.6%,ascompared to15.5 % for the same period in 2010. The decrease in other
operating costs was primarily due to a reduction inoffice expenses of $1.5 million, consulting fees of $1.2 million, and
credit card fees of $0.6 million. Also contributing to the reduction in other operating costswereresearch and development
expensesof $0.3 million, travelexpensesof $0.2million, andrepairsand maintenancecostsof $0.2 million. These
reductions werepartially offset by a $2.0 million increase in legal costsprimarily due to a settlement with one of our raw
materials suppliers.For moreinformation, see Note 13 “Litigation”.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2011, depreciation and amortizationexpensewas $10.7 million, as compared to
$11.5 million for the same period in 2010. As a percentage of netsales, depreciation and amortization expenseincreased
slightly to 5.3% from5.0% for the sameperiod in 2010.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes include current and deferred income taxes for both our domestic and foreign
operations.Our statutory income tax rates by jurisdiction are as follows, for the years ended December 31:

Country 2011 2010

Australia 30.0% 30.0%
Canada 28.0% 30.0%
Denmark 25.0% 25.0%
Japan 42.0% 42.0%
Mexico 30.0% 30.0%
Norway 28.0% 28.0%
Republic of Korea 22.0% 22.0%
Singapore 17.0% 17.0%
South Africa 28.0% 28.0%
Sweden 26.3% 26.3%
Switzerland 16.2% 16.2%
Taiwan 17.0% 17.0%
United Kingdom 26.0% 28.0%
United States 37.5% 37.5%
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Income from ourinternational operations is subject to taxation in the countries in which we operate. Although we
may receive foreign income tax credits that would reduce the total amount of income taxes owed in the United States, we
may not be able to utilize our foreignincome tax credits in the United States.

We use the recognition and measurement provisions of FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“Topic 740”) to
account for income taxes. The provisions of Topic 740 require a company to record a valuation allowance when the “more
likely than not” criterion for realizing a deferred tax asset cannot be met. A company is to use judgment in reviewing both
positive and negative evidence of realizing a deferred tax asset. Furthermore, the weight given to the potential effect of
such evidence is commensurate with the extent the evidence can be objectively verified. As a result, we reviewed the
operating results, as well as all of the positive and negative evidence related to realization of such deferred tax assets to
evaluate the need for a valuation allowance in each tax jurisdiction.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we maintained our valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in the
following table(in millions), as we believe the “more likely than not” criterion for recognition and realization purposes, as
defined in Topic 740, cannot be met.

Country 2011 2010

Mexico $ 1.9 $ 0.8
Norway 0.2 0.2
Sweden 0.1 0.1
Switzerland 0.8 0.5
Taiwan 1.1 1.0
United States 5.4 1.5
Total $ 9.5 $ 4.1

The dollar amount of the provisions for income taxes is directly related to ourresults of operationsand changes in
taxable income among countries. For theyearsended December 31, 2011and 2010, our effective income tax ratewas
(15.6)% and3.8%, respectively. For 2011, we had a provision for income tax despite the pre-tax losses primarily because
of increases in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, increases in uncertain income tax positions, and differences
from foreign operations. For 2010, our effective income tax rate was lower than expected if the federal statutory income
tax rate were applied to income before taxes primarily because of increases in the valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets, increases in uncertain income taxpositions, and favorable differences from foreign operations.



47

Year Ended December 31, 2010compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

The tables below summarize our consolidated operating results in dollars and as a percentage of net sales for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009(in thousands, except percentages).

2010 2009 Change
Total

Dollars
% of

net sales
Total

dollars
% of

netsales Dollar Percentage

Net sales $ 228,088 100% $ 289,705 100% $ (61,617) (21.3)%
Cost ofsales 32,754 14.4% 46,813 16.2% (14,059) (30.0)%
Commissions and incentives 97,319 42.7% 146,415 50.5% (49,096) (33.5)%

130,073 57.0% 193,228 66.7% (63,155) (32.7)%
Gross profit 98,015 43.0% 96,477 33.3% 1,538 1.6%

Operating expenses:
Selling and administrative expenses 62,657 27.5% 69,997 24.2% (7,340) (10.5)%
Depreciation and amortization 11,517 5.0% 12,333 4.3% (816) (6.6)%
Other operating costs 35,322 15.5% 39,741 13.7% (4,419) (11.1)%

Total operating expenses 109,496 48.0% 122,071 42.1% (12,575) (10.3)%
Loss from operations (11,481) (5.0)% (25,594) (8.8)% 14,113 55.1%
Interest income 173 0.1% 473 0.2% (300) (63.4)%
Other income(expense), net 268 0.1 % 1,046 0.4 % (778) (74.4)%
Loss before income taxes (11,040) (4.8)% (24,075) (8.3)% 13,035 54.1%
(Provision) benefit for income taxes 424 0.2% 6,707 2.3% (6,283) (93.7)%

Net loss $ (10,616) (4.7)% $ (17,368) (6.0)% $ 6,752 38.9%
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Consolidated net salesby customer location for the years endedDecember 31, 2010and 2009 were as follows(in
millions, except percentages):

Net Sales in Dollars and as a Percentage of Consolidated Net Sales

2010 2009

United States $ 100.8 44.1% $ 140.7 48.6%

Japan 34.2 15.0% 42.0 14.5%

Republic of Korea 22.0 9.6% 26.4 9.1%

Australia 20.0 8.8% 22.9 7.9%

Canada 18.5 8.1% 23.0 7.9%

South Africa 12.0 5.3% 13.2 4.6%
Taiwan 6.4 2.8% 6.6 2.3%

New Zealand 3.1 1.4% 4.3 1.5%

United Kingdom 2.4 1.1% 3.3 1.0 %

Germany 2.3 1.0% 3.2 1.1%

Singapore 2.1 0.9% 1.5 0.5%

Norway(1) 1.6 0.7% 0.3 0.1%

Austria(1) 1.1 0.5% 0.3 0.1%

The Netherlands(1) 0.6 0.3% 0.2 0.1%

Sweden(1) 0.5 0.2% 0.2 0.1%

Denmark 0.5 0.2% 1.6 0.6%

Total $ 228.1 100% $ 289.7 100%
_________________________
(1) The Company began operations inAustria, theNetherlands, Norway, and Swedenin September 2009.

Net Sales

For the year ended December31, 2010, our operations outside of the United States accounted for approximately
55.9% of our consolidated net sales, whereas in the same period in 2009, our operations outside of the United States
accounted for approximately51.4% of our consolidated net sales.

Consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31,2010 decreasedby $61.6million, or 21.3%, to $228.1
million, as compared to $289.7million for the same period in 2009. Domesticsales decreasedby $39.9 million, while
internationalsales decreasedby$21.7 million.

Fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates had an overall favorable impact on our net sales of approximately
$9.0million for the yearendedDecember 31, 2010.The net sales impact wascalculated asthe difference between (1)the
current period’s net sales in USD and (2)the current period’s net sales in localcurrencies converted to USD by applying
average exchange rates for theyearendedDecember 31, 2009.
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Net sales by country intransactionalcurrency forthe year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009were as follows
(in millions, except percentages):

Change

Country
Transactional
Currency 2010 2009

Transactional
currency Percentage

Australia and Singapore AUD 23.9 31.1 (7.2) (23.2)%
Austria(1), Germany, theNetherlands(1) EUR 3.0 2.6 0.4 15.4%
Denmark DKK 3.0 8.6 (5.6) (65.1)%
Japan JPY 2,971.3 3,890.7 (919.4) (23.6)%
Korea KRW 25,358.9 33,366.8 (8,007.9) (24.0)%
New Zealand NZD 4.4 6.9 (2.5) (36.2)%
Norway(1) NOK 8.6 2.0 6.6 330.0%
South Africa ZAR 87.6 109.8 (22.2) (20.2)%
Sweden(1) SEK 3.0 1.2 1.8 150.0%
Taiwan TWD 201.8 217.4 (15.6) (7.2)%
United Kingdom GBP 1.7 2.1 (0.4) (19.0)%

_________________________
(1) The Company began operations in Austria, the Netherlands, Norway, and Sweden in September 2009.

Our total sales and sales mixcouldbe influenced by any of the following:

• changes in our sales prices;

• changes in consumer demand;
• changes in the number of independent associates and members;
• changes in competitors’ products;
• changes in economic conditions;
• changes in regulations;
• announcements of new scientific studies and breakthroughs;

• introduction of new products;
• discontinuation of existing products;
• adverse publicity;
• changes in our commissions and incentives programs;
• direct competition; and
• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Our sales mix for the years ended December 31, was as follows(in millions, except percentages):
Change

2010 2009 Dollar Percentage

Consolidated product sales $ 187.2 $ 213.9 $ (26.7) (12.5)%
Consolidated pack sales 31.3 62.1 (30.8) (49.6)%
Consolidated other, including freight 9.6 13.7 (4.1) (29.9)%
Total consolidated net sales $ 228.1 $ 289.7 $ (61.6) (21.3)%

Pack sales correlate to new independent associates who purchase starter packs andto continuing independent
associates who purchase upgrade or renewal packs. However, there is no direct correlation betweenproduct sales andthe
number of new and continuing independent associates and members because independent associates and members utilize
products at different volumes.
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Product Sales

Substantially all of our product sales weremade to independentassociates at published wholesale prices. We also
sell our products to independent members at discounted published retail prices.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, product salesdecreasedby $26.7 million, or 12.5%, to $187.2 million, as
compared to $213.9 million for the same period in2009. The $26.7 million decrease in product sales was comprised of a
decrease in existing product sales of $22.9 million and a decrease in new product sales of $3.8 million .We implemented a
2-5% price increase in most countries in late January 2010.We believe the decrease in product sales wasdue to the macro-
economic factors negatively affectingour company and direct competition with other network marketing companiesin
recruiting and retaining independentassociates.

The following new products were introduced during 2010:

�x Mannatech LIFT�ŒSkin Care System inthe United States andcertain international markets;

�x Essential Source�Œ Omega 3 inseveral international markets;

�x Various promotional packages intheUnited States and several international markets;

�x Health Solutions Starter packs in Singapore and New Zealand;

�x GlycoSlim® drink mix (chocolate)in Japan;

�x Simply Delicious�Œ Snack Bars(1) in the United States and Canada;

�x PhytoBurst�Œ Nutritional Chews inAustralia, Singapore, New Zealand, Japan, Korea, and Taiwan;

�x GI Pro Balance�Œ Slimstick in Singapore, New Zealand, Australia and Japan; and

�x BounceBack�Œin Taiwan.
_________________________
(1) The Companydiscontinued Simply Delicious�ŒSnack Bars in 2011.

Pack Sales

The dollar amount of pack sales associated withnew and continuingindependent associateswasas follows, for
the years ended December 31(in millions, except percentages):

Change
2010 2009 Dollar Percentage

New $ 21.4 $ 39.6 $ (18.2) (46.0)%
Continuing 9.9 22.5 (12.6) (56.0)%

Total $ 31.3 $ 62.1 $ (30.8) (49.6)%

Total pack sales for theyearendedDecember 31, 2010 decreased by $30.8 million, or 49.6%, to $31.3 million, as
compared to$62.1million for the same period in 2009.

The number of new and continuing independent associates andmemberswho purchased our packsand/or
products during the twelve months endedDecember 31wasas follows:

2010 2009

New 89,000 22% 145,000 28%
Continuing 314,000 78% 368,000 72%
Total 403,000 100% 513,000 100%

Therewas anoverall decrease of 110,000, or 21.4%, forthe year ended December 31, 2010 in the number of
associatesas compared to thesame period in 2009, whichwas due bothto a decline in the number of new independent
associates and members, as well as fewer continuing independent associates and members.
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During 2009 and 2010, we took the following actions to help increase the number of independent associates and
members:

• registered our most popular products with the appropriate regulatory agencies inall countries of operations;

• focused on new product development;

• explored new international markets;

• launched an aggressive marketing and educational campaign;

• continued to strengthen compliance initiatives;

• concentrated on publishing results ofresearch studies and clinical trials related to our products;

• initiated additional incentives;

• explored new advertising and educational tools to broaden name recognition;

• implemented changes to our global associate career and compensation plan;and

• introduced new products in many of our global markets.

Other Sales

Other sales consistedof: (i) sales of promotional materials; (ii) training and event registration fees; (iii) monthly
feescollected for Success Tracker�Œ, a customized electronic business-building and educational materials database for our
independent associates that helps stimulate product sales and provide business management;(iv) freight revenue charged
to our independent associates and members; and (v) a reserve for estimated salesrefunds and returns.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, othersales decreased by $4.1 million, or 29.9%, to $9.6 millionas
compared to $13.7million for the same period in 2009. The decrease in othersaleswas primarily due to a $2.8 million
decrease in freight fees for product and pack shipments,a $1.0 million decrease associatedwith an expiration of a
transactional tax holiday for sales in certain international markets, a $0.2 million decrease inSuccessTracker�Œand
training fees, anda $0.1 million decrease insales of promotional materials.

Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2010, gross profitincreased by $1.5 million, or 1.6%, to $98.0 million, as
compared to $96.5million for the sameperiod in 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2010, gross profit as a
percentage of netsalesincreased to 43.0%, as comparedto 33.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Cost ofsales decreased for the year ended December 31, 2010 by30.0%, or $14.1million, to $32.7 million, as
compared to $46.8million for the same period in 2009. Cost of sales as a percentage ofnetsales decreased to 14.4%, as
compared to16.2% for the same period in 2009. The improvement reflected the impact of changes made to our packsales
in late 2009 and early 2010, including a reduction in the cost of packs and modification of bonus and pack components.

Commissioncostsdecreased for the year ended December 31, 2010by 32.2%, or $44.5 million, to $93.8 million,
as compared to $138.3million for the same period in 2009. The decrease in commissionswasdueto the decrease in
commissionable net sales. For the year ended December 31, 2010, commissions as a percentage of net salesdecreased to
41.1% as comparedto 47.7% for the sameperiod of 2009. The rate improvement was a result of changing various aspects
of the Power Bonus program, as well asmodification of our pack bonus structure and commission rates.

Incentivecosts decreased for the year ended December 31, 2010 by 56.8%, or $4.6 million, to $3.5 million, as
compared to $8.1 million for the same period in 2009. The costs of incentives, as a percentage of net sales, decreased to
1.5% for the year ended December 31, 2010, as compared to 2.8% for the same period in 2009. Thedecrease in total costs
of annual incentives was the result of the number of independent associates who qualified for annual incentives,which
decreased in 2010 by 69% to 744,as compared to 2,403 in 2009. The decrease in qualifiers for the annual incentive is
primarily related to higher associate recruiting activity seen in 2009 due to the introduction of the $499 Premium/All-Star
Pack.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses

For the year endedDecember 31, 2010, overall selling and administrative expenses decreasedby $7.3 million, or
10.5%, to $62.7 million, as comparedto $70.0million for the same period in 2009. Selling and administrative expenses, as
apercentage of net sales forthe year ended December 31, 2010,increased to27.5%, as compared to 24.2% for the same
period in 2009. Compensation and compensation-related costs decreasedby $2.6 million primarily from a decrease in
contract labor costs. Selling and marketing expensesdecreasedby $2.4million due to cost control in several areas of this
category, such as advertising, public relations, promotions, and magazine publications. Freightcosts decreased by $2.3
million due to a decrease in product shipments.

Other Operating Costs

For the year ended December 31, 2010, other operatingcostsdecreased by $4.4million, or 11.1%, to $35.3
million, as compared to $39.7million for the same period in 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2010, other operating
costsas a percentage of net salesincreased to 15.5 %, ascompared to 13.7 % for the same period in 2009. The decrease in
other operating costs was primarily due to a reduction in credit card fees of $1.5 million, travelexpensesof $0.9 million,
and consultingfees of $0.8 million. Also contributing to the reductionin other operating costswereoffice expenses of
$0.3 million, legal fees of $0.3 million, repair and maintenancecostsof $0.2million, research and developmentexpenses
of $0.3 million, and royalties of $0.1 million.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

For the yearended December 31, 2010, depreciation and amortization expense was $11.5 million, as compared to
$12.3 million for the same period in 2009. As a percentage of net sales, depreciation and amortization expense increased
slightly to 5.0% from 4.3% for the same period in 2009.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes include current and deferred income taxes for both our domestic and foreign
operations. Our statutory income tax rates by jurisdiction are as follows, for the years ended December31:

Country 2010 2009

Australia 30.0% 30.0%
Canada 30.0% 33.0%
Denmark 25.0% 25.0%
Japan 42.0% 42.0%
Mexico 30.0% —
Norway 28.0% 28.0%
Republic of Korea 24.2% 24.2%
Singapore 17.0% 17.0%
South Africa 28.0% 28.0%
Sweden 26.3% 26.3%
Switzerland 16.2% 16.2%
Taiwan 17.0% 25.0%
United Kingdom 28.0% 28.0%
United States 37.5% 37.5%
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Income from our international operations is subject to taxation in the countries in which we operate. Although we
mayreceive foreign income tax credits that would reduce the total amount of income taxes owed in the United States, we
may not be able to utilize our foreign income tax credits in the United States.

We use the recognition and measurement provisions of Topic740 to account for income taxes. The provisions of
Topic 740 require a company to record a valuation allowance when the “more likely than not” criterion for realizinga
deferred tax asset cannot be met.A company is to use judgment in reviewing both positive and negative evidence of
realizing a deferred tax asset.Furthermore, the weight given to the potential effect of such evidence is commensurate with
the extent the evidence can be objectively verified. As a result, we reviewed the operating results, as well as all of the
positive and negative evidence related to realization of such deferred tax assets to evaluate the need for a valuation
allowance in each tax jurisdiction.

As of December 31, 2010 and2009, we maintained our valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in the
following table(in millions), as we believe the “more likely than not” criterion for recognition and realization purposes, as
defined in Topic 740, cannot be met.

Country 2010 2009

Mexico $ 0.8 $ —
Norway 0.2 0.0
Sweden 0.1 0.0
Switzerland 0.5 0.3
Taiwan 1.0 0.9
United States 1.5 1.1
Total $ 4.1 $ 2.3

The dollar amountsof the provisions for income taxes weredirectly relatedto our profitability and changes in
taxable income among countries. For the year ended December 31, 2010, our effective income tax rate decreased to 3.8%
from 27.9% for the same period in 2009. For 2010,our effective income tax rate was lower than what would be expected
if the federal statutory income tax rate were applied to income before taxes primarily because of increases in the valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets, increases in uncertain income tax positions, and favorable differences from foreign
operations.For 2009,our effective income tax rate was lower thanwhat would beexpectedif the federal statutory income
tax rate were applied to income before taxes primarily because of increases in the valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets and favorable differences from foreign operations.

SEASONALITY

We believe the impact of seasonality on our consolidated results of operations is minimal. Wehave experienced
andbelievewe will continue to experience variations on our quarterly results of operations in response to, among other
things:

�x the timing of the introductionof new productsand incentives;

�x our ability to attract and retain associates and members;

�x the timing of our incentives and contests;

�x the general overall economic outlook;

�x government regulations;

�x the outcome of certain lawsuits;

�x the perception and acceptance ofnetwork marketing; and

�x the consumer perception of our products and overall operations.

As a result of these and other factors, our quarterly results may vary significantly in the future. Period-to-period
comparisons should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance since we can give no assurances that
revenue trends in new markets, as well as in existing markets, will follow our historical patterns. The market price of our
common stock may also be adverselyaffected by the above factors.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of December31, 2011, our cash and cashequivalents decreased by16.3%, or $3.5 million, to $18.1million
from $21.6 million as of December 31, 2010.

Our principal use of cash is to pay for operating expenses, including commissions and incentives, capital assets,
inventory purchases,andinternational expansion, andto pay quarterly cash dividends.In August 2009, the quarterly cash
dividend was suspended and remained suspended as ofDecember 31, 2011.We fund our business objectives, operations,
and expansion of our operations through net cash flows from operations rather than incurring long-term debt. At
December31, 2011,we had $18.1 million in cash and cash equivalents that can be used, along with normal cash flows
from operations, to fund any unanticipated shortfallsin future cash flows.

We remain focused on restoring profitability and generating positive cashflow. The restructuring and cost
reduction initiatives implemented during the second quarter of 2011 helped toreduce the costs of operations by$7.2
million for the second half of 2011as compared to thesame period in 2010. We believe suchresults indicate that we are
ontrack to generate positive cash flow in subsequent periods. We believe operating at lower costs will be a key factor in
our ability to generate a positive operating cash flow in 2012 and beyond.

Working Capital

Working capital represents total current assets less total current liabilities. At December 31, 2011, our working
capitaldecreased by$11.1 million, or 48.4%, to $11.9 million from $23.0 million at December31, 2010. Thedecrease in
working capital primarily related to adecrease in inventories,prepaid expenses,anddeferred tax assets.

Net Cash Flows

Our net consolidated cash flows consistedof the following, for the years ended December 31(in millions):

2011 2010 2009

Provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ (2.9) $ 4.0 $ (10.3)
Investing activities $ (0.6) $ 1.9 $ (1.3)
Financing activities $ (1.2) $ (1.4) $ (1.5)

Ouroperating, investing, and financing activities are described in more detail below.

Operating Activities

For the yearsended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, our net operatingactivitiesusedcash of $3.5 million,
provided cash of $4.0 million,and used cash of$10.3million, respectively. For the yearsended December 31,2011, 2010,
and 2009, net earningsadjusted fornoncash activitiesusedcash of$6.1 million, provided cash of $1.9 million,and used
cash$1.9 million, respectively,and our working capital accountsprovidedcash of$3.3 million, providedcash of$2.1
million, andused cash of$8.4 million, respectively.

We will continue to aggressively identify opportunities and reduce operational expenses.We expect that our net
operating cash flows in 2012 will be sufficient to fund our current operations.There can be no assurance, however, that we
will continue to generate cash flows at or above current levels.Certain events, such asthe uncertainty oftheworldwide
economic environment, couldimpact ouravailable cash or our ability to generate cash flows from operations.
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Investing Activities

For the years ended December 31,2011, 2010, and 2009, our net investingactivitiesusedcash of$0.6 million,
providedcash of$1.9 million,andused cash of$1.3 million, respectively.

We used cash of $0.8million, $1.8million, and $2.8 million in 2011,2010, and 2009, respectively, to purchase
capital assets. We had a decrease in restricted cash of $0.1million, $3.7million, and $1.5 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Financing Activities

In 2011 and 2010, we used cash of $1.2 million and$1.4 million respectively, for repayment of capital lease
obligations. No dividends were declared to shareholders for 2011 and 2010.

In 2009, we used cash of $1.1 million to fund payment of cash dividends to our shareholders and $0.5 million for
repayment of capital lease obligations. The amount of cash used was partiallyoffset by the receipt of $0.1 million in stock
option exercise transactions.

General Liquidity and Cash Flows

We believe our existing liquidity andanticipated return to positivecashflows from operations are adequate to
fund our normal expected future business operationsandpossibleinternational expansion costs for the next 12 to 24
months. However, if our existing capital resources or cash flows become insufficient to meet currentbusiness plans,
projections, and existing capital requirements,we maybe required toraise additional funds, which may not be available on
favorable terms, if at all.

We entered into an Investment Agreement with Dutchess Opportunity Fund, II, LP,a Delaware limited
partnership on September 16, 2010.The Investor committed to purchase, subject to certain restrictions and conditions, up
to $10 million of our common stock, over a period of 36 months from the first trading following the effectivenessof the
registration statement, which was October 28, 2010.We may draw funds from the Equity Line by selling shares of
common stock to the Investor from time to time. We will not receive any proceeds from the resale of these shares of
common stock offeredby the Investor.We will however, receive proceeds from the sale of shares to the Investor pursuant
to the Equity Line.The proceeds will be used for general working capital needs and for other general corporate purposes.
Please see Note 14 (Shareholders’Equity) to our consolidated financial statements for more information onthe Equity
Line. As of December 31, 2011, no shares of common stock have been issued pursuant to the Investment Agreement.

We are engaged in ongoing audits in various tax jurisdictions and other disputes in the normal course of business.
It is impossible at this time to predict whether we will incur any liability, or to estimate the ranges of damages, if any, in
connection with these matters. Adverse outcomes on these uncertainties may lead to substantial liability or enforcement
actions that could adversely affect our cash position. For more information, see Note8 “Income Taxes” and Note13
“Litigation”.

Our future access to the capital markets may be adversely impactedif we fail to maintain compliance with the
Nasdaq Marketplace Rules for the continued listing of our stock. One such requirement is to maintain a minimum bid
price for our stock of $1.00 per share.On August 11, 2011, we received a letter from Nasdaq notifying us that the closing
bid price ofourcommon stock was below the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement for 30 consecutive business days and,
as a result,weno longer complied with the minimum bid price requirement. Effective January 13, 2012, we amended our
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split ofour common stock at a ratio of 1-for-10.
The primary purposes of the reverse stock splitwereto increase the per-share market price ofourcommon stock in order
to maintainour listing on Nasdaq, encourage investor interest inMannatech, and promote greater liquidity forour existing
shareholders. On January 31, 2012, we received a letter from The NASDAQ Stock Market confirming thatwe had
regained compliance with the minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on Nasdaq.
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While the reverse stock splitallowed usto regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement and
prevent Nasdaq from delisting our common stock, it is possible that, even if an increased per-share price can be
maintained, we may not be able to continue to satisfy the additional criteria for continued listing of our common stock on
Nasdaq. To continue to have our common stock eligible for continued listing on Nasdaq, we would also need to satisfy
additional criteria under at least one of three standards. Under Equity Standard Listing Rules5450(a) and 5450(b)(1), these
criteria require, in addition to the $1.00 minimum bid price, that:

�x we have shareholders’ equity of at least $10 million;

�x our public float must consist of at least 750,000 shares with a market value of at least $5 million (public
float is defined under Nasdaq’s rules as the shares held by persons other than officers, directors and
beneficial owners of greater than 10% of ourtotal outstanding shares);

�x there be at least 400 shareholders;

�x there be at least two market makers for our common stock; and

�x we comply with certain corporate governance requirements.

As of the date of issuance of this report, we were in compliance with these continued listing requirements.
However, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in continuing to meet all requisite continued listing criteria.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following summarizes our futurecommitments and obligationsassociated with various agreements and
contracts as of December 31, 2011, for the years ending December 31(in thousands):

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

Capital lease obligations $ 998 $ 593 $ 533 $ 334 $ 129 $ — $ 2,587
Purchase obligations 4,649 2,712 1,830 1,200 — — 10,391
Operating leases(1) 3,434 1,841 1,087 1,002 806 955 9,125
Post-employment royalty 505 492 369 — — — 1,366
Employment agreements 1,261 — — — — — 1,261
Total commitments and

obligations $ 10,847 $ 5,638 $ 3,819 $ 2,536 $ 935 $ 955 $ 24,730
_________________________

(1) Excludes estimatedlease restoration costs in the amount of $0.4 million,as of December 31, 2011.

We have maintained purchase commitments with certain raw material suppliers to purchase minimum quantities
and to ensure exclusivity of our raw materials and the proprietary nature of our products. Currently, we havetwo supply
agreements that require minimum purchase commitments. We also maintain other supply agreements and manufacturing
agreements to protect our products, regulate product costs, and help ensure quality control standards. These agreements do
not require us to purchase any set minimums. We have no present commitments or agreements with respect to acquisitions
or purchases of any manufacturing facilities; however, management from time to time explores the possibility of the
benefits of purchasing a raw material manufacturing facility to help control costs of our raw materials and help ensure
quality control standards.

On May 2, 2011, we entered into a two-year agreement with a raw materials supplier. Pursuant to this agreement,
we agreed to purchase an aloe vera powder blend, one of our major product components, at specific prices. The agreement
does not contain minimum purchase requirements.

On August 22, 2011, we executed an amendment to a supply agreement with another supplier of raw materials,
originally entered into on May2, 2008. The amendment extends the term of the original supply agreement for a period of
three years commencing on June1, 2011 and expiring on May31, 2014. Pursuant to this amendment, we agreed to pay a
total of approximately $4.5 millionto purchase a minimum quantity of an aloe vera powder blend during the term of the
agreement (as extended by the amendment).
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We do not have any special-purpose entity arrangements, nor do we have any off-balancesheetarrangements.

MARKET RISKS

Please see“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk” under Item7A of this Form10-K for
additional information about our Market Risks.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financialstatements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“ GAAP” ). The application of GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported values of assets and liabilities atthe date of our financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period, and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We use estimates
throughout our financial statements, which are influenced by management’s judgment and uncertainties. Our estimates are
based on historical trends, industry standards, and various other assumptions that we believe are applicable and reasonable
under the circumstances at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. Our Audit Committee reviews our
critical accounting policies and estimates. We continually evaluate and review our policies related to the portrayal of our
consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations that requirethe application of significant judgment
by our management. We also analyze the need for certain estimates, including the need for such items as allowance for
doubtful accounts, inventory reserves, long-lived fixed assets and capitalization of internal-usesoftware development
costs, reserve for uncertain income tax positions and tax valuation allowances, revenue recognition, sales returns, and
deferred revenues, accounting for stock-based compensation, and contingencies and litigation. Historically,actualresults
have not materially deviated from our estimates. However, we caution readers that actual results could differ from our
estimates and assumptions applied in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. If circumstances change
relatingto the various assumptions or conditions used in our estimates, we could experience an adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. We have identified the following applicable critical accounting
policies and estimates as of December 31,2011:

Inventory Reserves

Inventory consists of raw materials, finished goods, and promotional materials that are statedat the lower of cost
(using standard costs that approximate average costs) or market. We record the amounts charged by the vendors as the
costs of inventory. Typically, the net realizable value of our inventory is higher than the aggregate cost. Determination of
net realizable value can be complex and, therefore, requires a high degree of judgment. In order for management to make
the appropriate determination of net realizable value, the following items are considered: inventory turnover statistics,
current selling prices, seasonality factors, consumer demand, regulatory changes, competitive pricing, and performance of
similar products. If we determine the carrying value of inventory is in excess of estimated net
realizable value, we write down the value of inventory to theestimated net realizable value.

We also review inventory for obsolescence in a similar manner and any inventory identified as obsolete is
reserved or written off. Our determination of obsolescence is based on assumptions about the demand for our products,
product expiration dates, estimated future sales, and general future plans. We monitor actual sales compared to original
projections, and if actual sales are less favorable than those originally projected by us, we record an additionalinventory
reserve or write-down. Historically, our estimates have been close to our actual reported amounts. However, if our
estimates regardinginventoryobsolescence are inaccurate or consumer demand for our products changes in an unforeseen
manner, we may be exposed to additional material losses or gains in excess of our established estimated inventory
reserves.At December 31,2011 and 2010, our inventory reserveswere$2.3 million and $1.6 million, respectively.
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Long Lived Fixed Assets andCapitalization of Software Development Costs

In addition to capitalizinglong-lived fixed asset costs, we also capitalize costs associated with internally
developed software projects (collectively“ fixed assets”) and amortize such costs over the estimateduseful lives of such
fixed assets. Fixed assets are carried at costless accumulated depreciation computed using the straight-line method over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining leaseterms or
the estimated useful lives of the improvements. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred. If a fixed asset is sold or otherwise retired or disposed of, the cost of the fixed asset and the related accumulated
depreciation or amortization is written off and any resulting gain or loss is recorded in other operating costs in our
consolidated statement of operations.

We review our fixed assets for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates the carrying
amount of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable, such as plans to dispose of an asset before the end of its
previously estimated useful life. Our impairment review includes a comparison of future projected cash flows generated by
the asset, or group of assets, with its associated net carrying value. If the net carrying value of the asset or group of assets
exceeds expected cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges), an impairment loss is recognized to the extent
the carrying amount exceeds the fair value. The fair value is determined by calculating the discounted expected future cash
flows using an estimated risk-free rate of interest. Any identified impairment losses are recorded in the period in which the
impairment occurs. The carrying value of the fixed asset is adjusted to the new carrying value and any subsequent
increases in fair value of the fixed asset are not recorded. In addition, if we determine the estimated remaining useful life
of the asset should be reducedfrom our original estimate, the periodic depreciation expense is adjusted prospectively,
based on the new remaininguseful life of the fixed asset.

The impairment calculation requires us to apply judgment and estimates concerning future cash flows, strategic
plans, useful lives, and discount rates. If actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions, we may be
exposed to an additional impairment charge, which could be material to our results of operations. In addition, if accounting
standards change, or if fixed assets become obsolete, we may be required to write off any unamortized costs of fixed
assets; or if estimated useful lives change, we would be required to accelerate depreciation or amortization periods and
recognize additionaldepreciation expense in our consolidated statement of operations.

Historically, our estimates and assumptions related to the carrying value and the estimated useful lives of our
fixed assets have not materially deviated from actualresults. As ofDecember 31, 2011, the estimated useful lives and net
carrying values of fixed assets are as follows:

Estimated useful life
Netcarrying value at
December31,2011

Office furniture and equipment 5 to 7 years $ 1.9 million
Computer hardware andsoftware 3 to 5 years 4.8million
Automobiles 3 to 5 years 0.1 million
Leasehold improvements 2 to 10 years(1) 2.8million
Total net carrying value at December 31, 2011 $ 9.6 million

_____________________________
(1)

Weamortize leasehold improvements over the shorter of the useful estimated life of the leased asset or the lease term.

The net carrying costs of fixed assets and construction in progress are exposed to impairment losses if our
assumptions and estimates oftheir carrying values change, there is a change in estimated future cash flow, or there is a
change in the estimated useful life of the fixed asset.Based on management’s analysis, no impairmentexisted during the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and2009.
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Uncertain Income Tax Positions and Tax Valuation Allowances

As of December 31, 2011, we recorded $1.5 million in current liabilities and $2.5 million in other long-term
liabilities related to uncertain income tax positions. As required by Topic 740, we use judgments and make estimates and
assumptions related to evaluating the probability of uncertain income tax positions. We base our estimates and
assumptions on the potential liability related to an assessment of whether the income tax position will “more likely than
not” be sustained in an income tax audit. We are also subject to periodic audits from multiple domestic and foreign tax
authorities related to income tax, sales and use tax, personal property tax, and other forms of taxation. These audits
examine our tax positions, timing of income and deductions, and allocation procedures across multiple jurisdictions. As
part of our evaluation of these tax issues, we establish reserves in our consolidated financial statements based on our
estimate of current probable tax exposures. Depending on the nature of the tax issue, we could be subject to audit over
several years. Therefore, our estimated reserve balances and liability related to uncertain income tax positions may exist
for multiple years beforethe applicable statute of limitations expires or before the taxing authority resolves an issue.
Additionally, wemay be requested to extend the statute of limitations for tax years under audit.The majority of current
liability related to uncertain income tax positionsis associated with anongoing Internal Revenue Service (IRS)audit. It is
reasonably possiblethe tax jurisdiction may requestthatthe statute of limitations be extended, which may cause the
classification between current and long-term tochange. We believethatour tax liabilities related to uncertain tax positions
are based upon reasonable judgment and estimates; however, if actual results materially differ, our effective income tax
rate and cash flows could be affected in the period ofdiscovery or resolution.

We also review the estimates and assumptions used in evaluating the probability of realizing the future benefits of
our deferred tax assets and record a valuation allowance when we believe that a portion or all of the deferred taxassets
may not be realized. If we are unable to realize the expected future benefits of our deferred tax assets, we are required to
provide a valuation allowance. We use our history and experience, overall profitability, future management plans, and
current economic information to evaluate the amount of valuation allowance to record. As of December 31, 2011, we
maintained a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets arising from our operations of $9.5 million because they did not
meet the“more likely than not” criteria as defined by the recognition and measurement provisions of Topic 740. In
addition, as of December 31, 2011, we had deferred tax assets, after valuation allowance, totaling $4.3 million, which may
not be realizedif our assumptions and estimates change, which would affect our effective income tax rate and cash flows
in the period of discovery or resolution.

Revenue Recognitionand Deferred Revenue

We deriverevenuefrom sales of individual products, sales of starter and renewal packs, and shipping fees.
Substantially all product and pack sales are made to independent associates at published wholesale prices and to members
at discounted published retail prices.We record revenue net of any sales taxes and recordsa reserve for expected sales
returns based on its historical experience.

We recognize revenue from shipped packs and products upon receipt by the customer.We recognize corporate-
sponsored event revenue when the event is held.We defer certain componentsof ourrevenue. AtDecember 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, deferred revenuewas$1.6 million and $1.9 million, respectively, and consisted primarily of revenue
received from: (i) sales of packs and products shipped but not received by the customers by period end; and (ii) prepaid
registration fees from customers planning to attend a future corporate-sponsored event.

We estimate a sales return reserve for expected sales refunds based on historical experience over a rollingsix-
monthperiod. If actual results differ from our estimated sales return reserve due to various factors, the amount of revenue
recorded each period could be materially affected. Historically, sales returns have not materially changed through the
years, as the majority of our customers who return their merchandise do so within the first 90 days after the original sale.
Sales returns have averaged 1.5% or less of our gross sales. For theyearendedDecember 31, 2011 our sales return reserve
was composed of the following(in thousands):

Sales reserve as of January 1, 2011 $ 389
Provision related to sales made in2011 1,648
Provision related to sales made priorto 2011 (67)
Actual returns or creditsin 2011 related to2011 (1,112)
Actual returns or creditsin 2011 related to prior periods (330)
Sales reserve as ofDecember 31, 2011 $ 528
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Accounting for Stock-BasedCompensation

We grant stock options to our employees, board members, and consultants. At the date of grant, we determine the
fair value of a stock option award and recognize compensation expense over the requisite service period,or the vesting
period of such stock option award, which is two to four years. The fair value of the stock option award is calculated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (the“ calculated fair value” ). The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires us
to apply judgment and use highly subjective assumptions, including expected stock option life, expected volatility,
expected average risk-free interest rates, and expected forfeiture rates. For the year ended December 31, 2011, our
assumptions and estimates used for the calculated fair value of stock options granted in 2011, as adjusted for the 1-for-10
reverse stock split that was effective January 13, 2012,were as follows:

April
2011
grant

June
2011
grant

August
2011
Grant

Estimated fair valueper share of options granted:$ 9.42 $ 6.45 $ 3.29
Assumptions:

Annualized dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free rate of return 1.82% 1.39% 0.78%
Common stock price volatility 71.1% 71.5% 72.8%
Expected averagelife of stock options (in

years) 4.5 4.5 4.5

Historically,our estimatesandunderlyingassumptions have not materially deviated from our actual reported
results and rates. However,we baseassumptions we use on our best estimates, whichinvolves inherent uncertainties based
on market conditions that are outside of our control. If actual results are not consistent with the assumptions we use, the
stock-based compensation expense reported in our consolidated financial statements may not be representative of the
actual economic cost of stock-based compensation. For example, if actual employee forfeitures significantly differ from
our estimated forfeitures, we may be required toadjustour consolidated financial statements in futureperiods. As of
December 31, 2011, using our current assumptions and estimates, we anticipate recognizing$0.4 million in gross
compensation expense through 2014 related to unvested stock options outstanding.

If we grant additional stock options in the future, we would be required to recognize additional compensation
expense over the vesting period of such stock options in our consolidated statement of operations. Gross compensation
expense would equal the calculated fair value of such stock options, which is dependent on the assumptions used to
calculate such fair value, butranges from 34% to 69% of the exercise price multiplied by the number of stock options
awarded. As of December 31, 2011, we had32,222shares available for grant in the future, as adjusted for the1-for-10
reverse stock split that was effective January 13, 2012.

Contingencies and Litigation

Each quarter, we evaluate the need to establish a reserve for any legal claims or assessments. We base our
evaluation on our best estimates of the potential liability in such matters. The legal reserve includes an estimated amount
for any damages and the probability of losing any threatened legal claims or assessments. The legal reserve is developed in
consultation with our general and outside counsel and is based upon a combination of litigation and settlement strategies.
Although we believe that our legalreserves and accruals are based on reasonable judgments and estimates, actual results
could differ, which may expose us to material gains or losses in future periods. If actual results differ, if circumstances
change, or if we experience an unanticipatedadverse outcome of any legal action, including any claim or assessment, we
would be required to recognize the estimated amount that could reduce net income, earnings per share, and cash flows.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” in Note 2 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements,
which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We do not engage in trading market risksensitive instruments and do not purchase investments as hedges or for
purposes“other than trading” that are likely to expose us to certain types of market risk, including interest rate, commodity
price, or equity price risk. Although we have investments, we believe there has been no material change in our exposure to
interest rate risk. We have not issued any debt instruments, entered into any forward or futures contracts, purchased any
options, or entered into any swap agreements.

We are exposed, however, to other market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates as measured
against the United States dollar. Because the change in value of the United States dollar measured against foreign currency
may affect our consolidated financial results, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could positively or negatively
affect our results as expressed in United States dollars. For example, when the United States dollar strengthens against
foreign currencies in which our products are sold or weakens against foreign currencies in which we may incur costs, our
consolidated net sales or related costs and expenses could be adversely affected.

We believe inflation has not had a material impact on our consolidated operations or profitability. We expanded
into Canada in 1996, into Australia in 1998, into the United Kingdom in 1999, into Japan in 2000, into New Zealand in
2002, into the Republic of Korea in 2004, into Taiwan and Denmark in 2005, into Germany in 2006, into South Africa and
Singapore in 2008, in
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Consolidated FinancialStatements and Supplementary Data required by this Item 8 are set forth in Item 15
of this report.

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly Consolidated Statements of Operations data for the periods
indicated. In our opinion, this information has been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial
statements set forth inthis report and includes all adjustments that are considered necessary to present fairly this
information in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The reader should read this information in
conjunction with Item 15in this report.

Mar. 31,
2011

June30,
2011

Sept.30,
2011

Dec.31,
2011

Mar. 31,
2010

June30,
2010

Sept.30,
2010

Dec.31,
2010

(in millions, except per share information)

Net sales $ 50.9 $ 51.4 $ 50.5 $ 47.9 $ 60.7 $ 57.6 $ 54.9 $ 54.9
Gross profit $ 22.0 $ 20.9 $ 21.1 $ 18.8 $ 25.0 $ 25.0 $ 23.8 $ 24.2
Lossbefore income taxes $ (4.7) $ (4.1) $ (3.1) $ (5.0) $ (2.8) $ (2.8) $ (3.3) $ (2.1)
(Provision) benefit for income taxes $ (0.1) $ (1.1) $ (0.5) $ (1.1) $ — $ (1.0) $ 2.0 $ (0.6)
Net loss $ (4.8) $ (5.3) $ (3.7) $ (6.9) $ (2.8) $ (3.8) $ (1.3) $ (2.7)
Lossper share(1):

Basic $ (1.81) $ (1.98) $ (1.38) $ (2.63) $ (1.05) $ (1.44) $ (0.48) $ (1.04)

Diluted $ (1.81) $ (1.98) $ (1.38) $ (2.63) $ (1.05) $ (1.44) $ (0.48) $ (1.04)
_____________________________
(1) As adjusted to reflect the 1-for-10 reverse stock split, which became effective January 13, 2012.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of ourChief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and our
Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer), have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the period
covered by this report, thatourdisclosure controls and procedures(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d– 15(e) under
the Exchange Act)are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed byusin reports filed or submitted
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in theSEC’s
rules and forms and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed byusin
such reports is accumulated and communicated toour management,includingour principal executive and financial
officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisionsregarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During thequarterendedDecember 31, 2011, there were no changes in our internal control over our financial
reporting that we believe materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting(as defined in Rule 13a– 13(f) or Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)for the Company. Internal control
overfinancial reporting is a processdesignedto provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial
reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes: maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of
our consolidated financial statements; providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of company assets are
made in accordance with management authorization; and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of company assets that couldhave a material effect on our consolidated financial statements would be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not
intended to provide absolute assurance that a misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would be prevented or
detected.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control— Integrated Framework issuedby the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company’ s internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December31, 2011.
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Item 9B. Other Information

See description of Consulting Agreement with Wonder Enterprises, LLC in “Transactions with Related Parties
and Affiliates” in Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference.

PART III

The information required by Items10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 of Part III is incorporated by reference to our definitive
proxy statement to be filed with theSECno later than April29, 2012.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents filed as a part of the report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The following financial statements and the Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
are filed as a part of thisreport on the pages indicated:

Index toConsolidated Financial Statements F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for theyearsended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-4
Consolidated Statements ofComprehensive Loss for the yearsended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the yearsended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flowsfor the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

2. Financial Statement Schedule

The financial statement schedule requiredby this itemis includedas an Exhibit tothis Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedule.

3. Exhibit List

See Index to Exhibits following our Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

Dated:March29, 2012 By: /s/ Robert A. Sinnott
Robert A. Sinnott
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March29, 2012 By: /s/ S. Mark Nicholls
S. Mark Nicholls
ChiefFinancialOfficer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned directors andofficers of Mannatech, Incorporated hereby constitute and appoint LarryA. Jobe
andS. Mark Nicholls, andeach of them, with the power to act without the other and with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, our true and lawful attorneys-in fact and agents with full power to execute in our name and behalf in the
capacities indicated below any and all amendments to this report and to file the same, with all exhibits and other
documents relating thereto and hereby ratify and confirm all that such attorneys-in-fact, or either of them, or their
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the registrantand in the capacities indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ Robert A. Sinnott Chief Executive Officer and Chief Science Officer
(principal executive officer)

March29, 2012
Robert A. Sinnott

/s/ S. Mark Nicholls ChiefFinancialOfficer
(principalfinancial and accounting officer)

March29 2012
S. Mark Nicholls

/s/ J. Stanley Fredrick Chairman of the Board March29, 2012
J. Stanley Fredrick

/s/ Patricia A. Wier Director March29, 2012
Patricia A. Wier

/s/ Alan D. Kennedy Director March29, 2012
Alan D. Kennedy

/s/ Gerald E. Gilbert Director March29, 2012
Gerald E. Gilbert

/s/ Marlin Ray Robbins Director March29, 2012
Marlin Ray Robbins

/s/ Larry A. Jobe Director March29, 2012
Larry A. Jobe

/s/ RobertA. Toth Director March29, 2012
RobertA. Toth
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Report ofIndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-4
Consolidated Statements of ComprehensiveLossfor the years endedDecember 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7



F-2

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Mannatech Incorporated
Coppell, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mannatech, Incorporatedand subsidiariesas of
December 31, 2011 and 2010and the related consolidated statements of operations,comprehensive loss,shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,2011. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statementsare free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of their internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An auditalso includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Mannatech, Incorporated and subsidiaries at December 31,2011 and2010and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,2011 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Dallas, Texas
March29, 2012
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MANNATECH , INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share information)

December 31,

2011 2010

ASSETS
Cash and cashequivalents $ 18,057 $ 21,584
Restricted cash 1,263 1,265
Accounts receivable,net of allowance of $22and$21 in 2011 and 2010, respectively 304 416
Income tax receivable 888 917
Inventories, net 17,786 24,070
Prepaid expensesand other current assets 2,497 4,356

Deferred tax assets 936 2,607
Total current assets 41,731 55,215

Property and equipment, net 9,566 18,449
Construction in progress — 524
Long-term restricted cash 3,386 3,532
Otherassets 2,815 3,054
Long-term deferred tax assets 772 649

Total assets $ 58,270 $ 81,423

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current portion of capital leases $ 852 $ 1,328
Accounts payable 4,825 5,534
Accruedexpenses 10,514 10,318
Commissions and incentives payable 8,567 9,166
Taxes payable 3,364 3,721
Current deferred tax liability 185 243
Deferred revenue 1,569 1,930

Total current liabilities 29,876 32,240
Capital leases,excluding current portion 1,358 1,204
Long-term deferred tax liabilities 1 1,903
Other long-term liabilities 5,382 4,996

Total liabilities 36,617 40,343

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 99,000,000 shares authorized, 2,769,756 shares issued and 2,648,518

shares outstanding asof December 31, 2011and 2,769,756 shares issued and 2,649,046shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2010 — —

Additional paid-in capital 42,408 42,052
Retained earnings(deficit) (5,532) 15,127
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (427) (1,308)
Lesstreasury stock, at cost, 121,237shares in 2011 and 120,709 shares in 2010 (14,796) (14,791)

Total shareholders’ equity 21,653 41,080

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 58,270 $ 81,423

See accompanying notes to consolidatedfinancial statements.
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MANNATECH , INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share information)

For the years ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net sales $ 200,689 $ 228,088 $ 289,705
Cost ofsales 30,421 32,754 46,813
Commissions and incentives 87,425 97,319 146,415

117,846 130,073 193,228
Gross profit 82,843 98,015 96,477

Operating expenses:
Selling and administrative expenses 55,697 62,657 69,997
Depreciation and amortization 10,697 11,517 12,333
Other operating costs 33,338 35,322 39,741

Total operating expenses 99,732 109,496 122,071

Lossfrom operations (16,889) (11,481) (25,594)
Interest income 117 173 473
Other income (expense), net (1,106) 268 1,046

Lossbefore income taxes (17,878) (11,040) (24,075)

(Provision) benefit for income taxes (2,781) 424 6,707
Net loss $ (20,659) $ (10,616) $ (17,368)

Lossper common share:
Basic $ (7.80) $ (4.01) $ (6.56)

Diluted $ (7.80) $ (4.01) $ (6.56)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 2,649 2,649 2,646

Diluted 2,649 2,649 2,646

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net loss $ (20,659) $ (10,616) $ (17,368)
Foreign currency translations 893 (299) 276
Pension obligations, net of tax of $9, $75, and $12 in 2011, 2010, and
2009, respectively (12) 104 17
Comprehensive loss $ (19,778) $ (10,811) $ (17,075)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MANNATECH , INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS ’EQUITY

(in thousands)

Common
stock

Par value

Additional
paid in
capital

Retained
earnings
(deficit)

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss

Treasury
stock

Total
shareholders’

equity

Balance at January 1, 2009 $ — $ 40,756 $ 44,170 $ (1,406) $ (14,791) $ 68,729
Tax shortfall from expiration of stock options — (13 ) — — — (13)
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MANNATECH , INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (20,659) $ (10,616) $ (17,368)
Adjustments to reconcile netlossto net cash provided by(used in)operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 10,697 11,517 12,333
Provision for inventory losses 3,660 2,266 1,544
Provision for doubtful accounts 61 51 33
Loss on disposal of assets 136 71 102
Accounting charge related to stock-basedcompensation expense 356 630 636
Deferred income taxes (380) (2,044) 761

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 59 197 (405)
Income tax receivable 29 7,158 (4,525)
Inventories 2,539 4,954 (1,198)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,883 (501) 2,821
Other assets 240 (551) (1,019)
Accounts payable (730) (5,785) 6,245
Accrued expensesand otherliabilities 565 (2,161) (10,345)
Taxes payable (347) 1,144 1,643
Commissions and incentives payable (622) (1,458) (898)
Deferred revenue (361) (877) (670)

Net cash provided by (used in) operatingactivities (2,874) 3,995 (10,310)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitionof property and equipment (777) (1,766) (2,797)
Proceeds from sale of assets 74 — 37
Change in restricted cash 80 3,692 1,473

Net cashprovided by (used in) investing activities (623) 1,926 (1,287)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from stock options exercised — 28 66
Repurchase ofcommonstock (5) — —
Payment of cash dividends — — (1,059)
Repayment of capital leaseobligation (1,160) (1,387) (473)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,165) (1,359) (1,466)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,135 (345) (515)

Net increase (decrease)in cash and cash equivalents (3,527) 4,217 (13,578)
Cash and cash equivalents at thebeginning of year 21,584 17,367 30,945
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year $ 18,057 $ 21,584 $ 17,367

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Income taxesreceived (paid), net $ (480) $ 7,126 $ 2,441
Interest paid on capital leases $ 167 $ 117 $ 50

Summary of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Assetsacquired through capital leases $ 787 $ 1,998 $ 2,099

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Mannatech, Incorporated (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), located in Coppell, Texas, was
incorporated in the state of Texas on November 4, 1993 and is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the
symbol “MTEX”. The Company develops, markets, and sells high-quality, proprietary nutritional supplements, topical and
skin care products, and weight-management products that are primarily sold to independent associates and members located
in the United States, Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom, Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea, Taiwan,
Denmark, Germany, South Africa, Singapore, Austria, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Mexico, the Czech Republic,
Estonia, Finland, and the Republic of Ireland.

Independent associates (“associates”) purchase the Company’s products at published wholesale prices to either sell
to retail customers orfor personal use. Members purchase the Company’s products at a discount from published retail prices
primarily for personaluse. TheCompany cannot distinguishproducts sold for personal use from other salesbecause itis not
involved with the products after delivery, other than usual and customary product warranties and returns. Only independent
associates are eligible to earncommissions and incentives.

On January 9, 2012, the Board of Directors passed a resolution to effect a 1-for-10 reverse stocksplit, which
became effective on January 13, 2012. Accordingly, common share and per share information have been retroactively
restated in these financial statements to reflect the reverse-stock split.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements and footnotes include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances andtransactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance withgenerally accepted
accountingprinciplesrequires the use of estimates that affect the reported value of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses. These estimates are based on historical experience and various other factors. The Company continually
evaluates the information used to make these estimates as the business and economic environment changes. Historically,
actual results have not varied materially from the Company’s estimates and the Company does not currently anticipate a
significant change in its assumptions related to these estimates.However, actualresults may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.

The use of estimates is pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements, but the accounting policies
and estimates considered the most significant are described in this note to the consolidated financial statements,
Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmentswith original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. The Company includes in its cash and cash equivalents credit card receivables due from its credit card
processor, as the cash proceeds from credit card receivables are received within24 to 72 hours. As of December 31, 2011
and 2010, credit card receivableswere $1.7 million and $0.9 million andcash and cash equivalents held in bank accounts
in foreign countriestotaled$10.5million and $12.7million, respectively.The Company invests cash in liquid instruments,
such as money market funds and interest bearing deposits. The Company also holds cash in high quality financial
institutions anddoes not believe it has an excessive exposure to credit concentration risk.

Restricted Cash

The Company is required to restrict cashfor: (i) direct sellinginsurance premiumsand credit card sales in the
Republic of Korea; (ii) reserve on credit card sales inUnited States and Canada; and(iii) Australia building lease
collateral. Asof December31, 2011 and 2010, our total restricted cashwas$4.6 million and$4.8 million, respectively.
The decrease in restricted cash was primarily related to the partial refund of direct selling insurance premiums in Korea.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivablearecarried at their estimated collectible amounts. Receivables are created upon shipment of
an order if thecredit cardpayment is rejected or does not match the order total. Asof December 31,2011and2010,
receivables consistedprimarily of amounts due from members and associates.The Company periodically evaluates its
receivables forcollectabilitybased on historical experience, recent account activities, and the length of time receivables
are past due and writes-off receivables when they become uncollectible. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company
held an allowance for doubtfulaccountsof less than $0.1million.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciationand amortizationcomputed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each asset. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of
the lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvements. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to
expense as incurred. The cost of property and equipment sold or otherwise retired and the related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in other operating costs inthe
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are as follows:

Estimated useful life

Office furniture and equipment 5 to 7 years
Computer hardware and software 3 to 5 years
Automobiles 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements(1) 2 to 10 years
___________________
(1) The Companyamortizes leasehold improvements over the shorter of the useful estimated life of the leased asset or the lease term.

Property and equipment are reviewedfor impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates
that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. The impairment review includes a
comparison of future projected cash flows generated by the asset or group of assets with its associated net carrying value.
If the net carrying value of the asset or group of assets exceeds expected cash flows (undiscounted and without interest
charges), an impairment loss is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of theasset exceeds its fair value.We
determined that no impairment indicators existed during the years ended December 31, 2011 and2010.

Inventories

Inventoriesconsist of raw materials, finished goods, and promotional materials that arestated at the lower of cost
ormarket(using standard costs that approximate average costs). TheCompany periodically reviews inventoriesfor
obsolescence and any inventoriesidentified as obsoletearereserved or written off.

Other Assets

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, otherassets of $2.8 million and $3.1 million primarily consisted of deposits
for building leases in various locations and certain intangible assets. Also included inthe December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 balance was a$0.9 million deposit withMutual Aid Cooperative and Consumer in Republic of Korea,
an organization established by the Republic of Korea’s Fair Trade Commission to protect consumers who participate in
network marketing activities.

Commissions and Incentives

Independent associates earn commissions and incentives based on their direct and indirect commissionable net
sales over 13 business periods. Each business period equals 28 days.The Company accrues commissions and incentives
when earned by independent associates and pays commissions on product sales three weeks following the business period
end and pays commissions on its pack sales five weeks following the business period end.
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Other Long-Term Liabilities

In August 2003, the Company entered into a Long-Term Post-Employment Royalty Agreement with
Dr. Bill McAnalley, the Company’s former Chief Science Officer, pursuant to which the Company is required to pay
Dr. McAnalley, or his heirs, royalties for ten years beginning September 2005 through August 2015.Quarterly payments
related to this Long-Term Post-Employment Royalty Agreement are based on certain applicable annual global product
sales by the Company in excess of $105.4 million. At the time the Company entered into this Long-Term Post-
Employment Royalty Agreement, it was considered a post-employment benefit and the Company was required to measure
and accrue the present value of the estimated future royalty payments related to the post-employment royalty benefit and
recognize it over the life of Dr.McAnalley’s employment agreement, which was two years. As of December 31, 2011 and
2010, the Company’s liability related to this royaltyagreement was$1.2 million and $1.6 million , respectively, of which
$0.3 million was currently due and included in accruedexpenses.

Certain operating leases for the Company’s regional office facilities containarestoration clause that requires the
Company to restore the premises to its original condition.As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, accrued restoration costs
relatedto theseleasesamounted to$0.4 million. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company also recorded a long-term
liability for an estimated deferred benefit obligation related toa deferred benefit plan for its Japanoperations of$1.3
million and $1.0 million, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the yearsin which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized as income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company evaluates the probability
of realizing the future benefits of its deferred tax assets and provides a valuation allowance for the portion of any deferred
tax assets where the likelihood of realizing an income tax benefit in the future does not meet the more likely than not
criterion for recognition.The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positionsonly if those positions are more
likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measuredat the largest amount that is greater than
50% likely of being recognized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in
judgment occurs. The Company recognizes both interest and penalties related to uncertaintax positions as part of the
income tax provision.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue is derivedfrom sales of individual products, sales of its starter and renewal packs, and
shipping fees. Substantially all of the Company’s product and pack sales are made to independent associates at published
wholesale prices and to members at discounted publishedretail prices. The Company records revenue net of any sales
taxes and records a reserve for expected sales returns based on its historical experience.

The Company recognizes revenue from shipped packs and products upon receipt by the customer. Corporate-
sponsored event revenue is recognized when the event is held. The Company defers certain components of its revenue. At
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company’s deferredrevenue was $1.6 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, and consisted primarily of revenue received from: (i) sales of packs and products shipped but not received by
the customers by period end; and (ii) prepaid registration fees from customers planning to attend a future corporate-
sponsored event.
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We estimate a sales return reserve for expected sales refunds based on our historical experience over a rolling six-
month period. If actual results differ from our estimated sales return reserve due to various factors, the amount of revenue
recorded each period could be materially affected. Historically, our sales returns have not materially changed through the
years, as the majority of our customers who return their merchandise do so within the first 90 days after the original sale.
Sales returns have averaged 1.5% or less of ourgross sales. For theyearendedDecember 31, 2011 our sales return reserve
was composed of the following(in thousands):

Sales reserve as of January 1, 2011 $ 389
Provision related to sales made in 2011 1,648
Provision related to sales made prior to2011 (67)
Actual returns or credits in 2011 related to 2011 (1,112)
Actual returns or credits in 2011 related to prior periods (330)
Sales reserve as of December 31, 2011 $ 528

Shipping and Handling Costs

The Company records freight and shipping fees collected from its customers as revenue. The Company records
inbound freight asa componentof inventory andcost of sales and records shipping and handling costs associated with
shipping products to its customers as selling and administrative expenses. Totalshipping and handling costs included in
selling and administrative expenseswere approximately $10.5 million, $11.7 million, and$14.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

Advertising Costs

The Companyexpensesadvertising and promotions in selling and administrative expenses when incurred.
Advertising and promotional expenses wereapproximately $4.7 million, $5.6 million, and$8.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. Educational and promotional items,calledsales aids, are sold to
independent associates to assist in their sales efforts and are included in inventories and charged to cost of sales when sold.

Accountingfor Stock-Based Compensation

The Companycurrently has one active stock-based compensation plan, which wasapproved by its shareholders
at its 2008 Annual Shareholder’s meeting held on June 18, 2008. TheCompany grants stock options to its employees,
consultants, and board memberswith an exercise price equal to theclosing priceof its common stock on the date of grant
with a term no greater than 10 years. The majority ofstock options vest over two or three years.Incentive stock options
granted to shareholderswho own10% or more of the Company’s outstanding stock are granted at an exercise price that
may not be less than110%of theclosing priceof the Company’s common stock on the date of grantandhave a term no
greater than five years.At the dateof grant, the Company determines the fair value of the stock option award and
recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period, or the vestingperiod of the award. The fair valueof
the stock option award is calculatedusing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

Research and Development Costs

The Company expenses research and development costs when incurred. Research and development costs related
to newproduct development, enhancement of existing products, clinical studies and trials,Food and Drug Administration
compliance studies, general supplies, internal salaries, third-party contractors, and consulting fees wereapproximately
$3.0million, $3.6 million, and$4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. Salaries
and contract laborare included in selling and administrative expenses and all other research and development costs are
included in other operating costs.

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying internal payrolland external contracting and consulting costs related to the
development of internal use softwarethat are incurred during the application development stage, which includes design of
the software configuration and interfaces, coding, installation, and testing. Costs incurred during the preliminary project
along with post-implementation stages of internal use software are expensed as incurred.The Company amortizes such
costs over the estimated useful life of the software, which is threeto five years once the softwareis placed in service.
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ConcentrationRisk

A significant portion of the Company’s revenue is derived from core Ambrotose® complex products, which
include the Ambrotose® products and Advanced Ambrotose® products. For the years ended December31, 2011, 2010, and
2009, revenue from the core Ambrotose® productsaccounted for41.0%,35.3%, and31.4% of the Company’s
consolidated net sales, respectively.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk,consist principally
of cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables, and restricted cash. The Company utilizes financial institutions that
the Company considers to be of high credit qualityand periodically evaluates the credit rating of such institutions and the
allocation of their investments to minimize exposure to credit concentration risk.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company’ s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time
deposits,investments,receivables,payables, and accrued expenses, approximate theircarryingvalues due to their
relatively short maturities.See Note3 (“Fair Value”) for more information.

Comprehensive Income(Loss)and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income(loss)is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other eventsand circumstances from non-owner sources and includes all changes in equity during a period
except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The Company’s comprehensive income
(loss)consists of the Company’s net income(loss), foreign currency translation adjustments from its Japan, Republic of
Korea, Taiwan, Norway, and Swedenoperations, andchanges in the pension obligation foritsJapanese employees.

Foreign Currency Translation

TheUnited States dollar is the functional currency for the majority of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.As a
result, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at their approximate historical rates, monetary assets and liabilities
are translated atexchange rates in effect at the end of the year, and revenues and expenses are translated at weighted-
average exchange rates for the year.Transactiongains(losses)totaledapproximately($1.5)million, $0.3 million, and$1.1
million, for the yearsended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively, and are included in other income (expense),
net in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The local currency is the functional currency of our subsidiaries in Japan, Republic of Korea,Taiwan, Norway,
Sweden, and Mexico. These subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are translated into United States dollars at exchange rates
existing at the balance sheet dates, revenues and expenses are translated at weighted-average exchange rates, and
shareholders’ equity and intercompany balances are translated at historical exchange rates. The foreign currency
translation adjustment is recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and is included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).

NOTE 2: RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June2011, the FASBissued Accounting Standards Update No.2011-05, Comprehensive Income (Topic
220)—Presentation of Comprehensive Income(“ASU 2011-05”), which requiresan entity to present the total of
comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-05
eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity. ASU
2011-05 is effective for interim and annual financial periods beginning after December15, 2011. Since early adoption is
permitted, theCompany revised its presentation of comprehensivelossstarting with its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the period ended June30, 2011 to comply with the updated disclosure requirements. The adoption of this guidance did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Other recently issued accounting pronouncements did not or are not believed by management to have a material
impact on the Company’s present or future financial statements.
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NOTE 3: FAIR VALUE

The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certainfinancialassets and to
determine fair value disclosures.

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure Topic of the FASB ASCestablishes a fair value hierarchy that requires
the use of observable market data, when available, and prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value in the following categories:

�x Level 1—Quoted unadjusted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

�x Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which all observable inputs and
significant value drivers are observable in active markets.

�x Level 3—Model derived valuations in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are
unobservable, including assumptions developed by the Company.

The primary objective of the Company’s investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields
without significantly increasing risk.The investment instruments held by the Company are money market funds and interest
bearing deposits for which quoted market prices are readily available. The Company considers these highly liquid
investments to be cash equivalents. These investments are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they
are valued based on quoted market prices in active markets. The tablesbelow present the recorded amount of financial
assets measured at fair value(in thousands)ona recurring basis as ofDecember31, 2011 and 2010. The Companydid not
have any material financial liabilities that were requiredto be measured at fair value on a recurring basis atDecember31,
2011 and 2010.

2011 Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Money Market Funds– Fidelity, US $ $ 4,038 $ $ — $ $ — $ $ 4,038
Interest bearingdeposits– various banks, Korea 2,476 — — 2,476

Total assets $ 6,514 $ — $ — $ 6,514
Amounts included in:
Cash and cash equivalents $ $ 4,124 $ — $ $ — $ $ 4,124
Long-term restricted cash 2,390 — — 2,390

Total $ 6,514 $ — $ — $ 6,514

2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Money Market Funds– Fidelity, US $ $ 6,032 $ $ — $ $ — $ $ 6,032
Interest bearing deposits– various banks, Korea 2,721 — — 2,721

Total assets $ 8,753 $ — $ — $ 8,753
Amounts included in:
Cash and cash equivalents $ $ 6,220 $ $ — $ $ — $ $ 6,220
Long-term restricted cash 2,533 — — 2,533

Total $ 8,753 $ — $ — $ 8,753
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NOTE 4: INVENTORIES
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NOTE 7: ACCR UED EXPENSES

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, accrued expenses consisted of the following(in thousands):

2011 2010

Accrued inventory purchases $ 364 $ 1,786
Accrued compensation 1,987 2,887
Accrued royalties 391 415
Accrued sales and other taxes 330 314
Other accrued operating expenses 1,494 1,645
Customer deposits and sales returns 537 398
Accrued travel expenses related tocorporate events 585 1,034
Accrued shipping and handling costs 561 545
Fixed asset purchases 40 29
Rent expense 253 70
Accrued legal and accounting fees 3,972 1,195

$ 10,514 $ 10,318

NOTE 8: INCOME TAXES

The components of the Company’s loss before income taxes are attributable to the following jurisdictions for the
years ended December 31(in thousands):

2011 2010 2009

United States $ (11,551) $ (7,920) $ (23,945)
Foreign (6,327) (3,120) (130)

$ (17,878) $ (11,040) $ (24,075)

The components of the Company’s income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31 are as
follows (in thousands):

Current provision (benefit) : 2011 2010 2009

Federal $ 2,002 $ 799 $ (8,521)
State 127 235 (1)
Foreign 1,197 490 886

3,326 1,524 (7,636)
Deferred provision (benefit):

Federal (347) (1,607) 269
State 18 (191) 140
Foreign (216) (150) 520

(545) (1,948) 929
$ 2,781 $ (424) $ (6,707)
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A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate and the United States federal statutory income tax
rate is summarized as follows, for the years ended December 31:

2011 2010 2009

Federal statutory income taxes 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 1.1 1.3 1.6
Difference in foreign and United States tax on foreign operations (6.7) (5.7) (3.0)
Effect of changes in valuation allowance for net operating loss carryforwards (32.1) (10.3) (7.2)
Effect of change in uncertain tax positions (net) (10.5) (17.5) 0.9
Federal Sub-Part F Income from foreign operations (2.9) (6.3) 0.0
Research and experimentation income tax credits 0.0 8.0 0.0
Other 0.5 (0.7) 0.6

(15.6)% 3.8% 27.9%

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company’s effective tax rate was (15.6)%, 3.8% and
27.9%, respectively. For2011, the Company had a provision for income tax despite the pre-tax losses primarily because of
increases in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, increases in uncertain income tax positions, and differences
from foreign operations. For 2010and 2009, the Company’s effective income tax rate was lower than what would be
expected if the federal statutory income tax rate were applied to income before taxes primarily because of increases in the
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, increasesin uncertain income tax positions, and favorable differences from
foreign operations.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of
the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following at December 31(in thousands):

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets:
Current:

Deferred revenue $ 23 $ 25
Inventory capitalization 837 917
Inventory reserves 451 430
Accrued expenses 2,643 1,158
Net operating loss — —
Other 147 1,400

Total current deferred tax assets 4,101 3,930
Noncurrent:

Depreciation and amortization 1,539 —
Net operating loss(1) 5,731 3,251
Deferredroyalty 482 625
Non-cash accounting charges related to stock options and warrants 684 604
Accrued expenses 79 178
Other 1,176 1,333

Total noncurrent deferred tax assets 9,691 5,991
Total deferred tax assets 13,792 9,921

Valuation allowance (9,503) (4,059)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 4,289 $ 5,862

Deferred tax liabilities:
Current:

Prepaid expenses $ 528 $ 608
Other 18 1,066

Total current deferred taxliabilities 546 1,674
Noncurrent:

Internally-developed software 740 1,160
Depreciation and amortization — 963
Sub-Part F Income Deferred 1,320 801
Other 161 154

Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 2,221 3,078
Total deferred tax liabilities $ 2,767 $ 4,752
__________________________________________
(1) TheCompany’snet operating loss will expire as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Jurisdiction
Gross
NOL

Tax
Effected

NOL Expiration Years
Denmark $ 8 $ 2 Indefinite
Mexico 6,297 1,889 2020-2021
Norway 704 197 Indefinite
Singapore 59 10 Indefinite
Sweden 464 122 Indefinite
Switzerland 9,652 887 2016-2018
Taiwan 6,318 1,074 2016-2021
United States (federal) 2,703 946 2030-2031
United States (states) 24,160 604 2015-2031
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At December 31, 2011and 2010, the Company’s valuation allowance was $9.5 million and $4.1 million,
respectively.The provisions of Topic 740 require a company to record avaluation allowance when the “more likely than
not” criterion for realizing a deferred tax asset cannot be met. A company is to use judgment in reviewing both positive
and negative evidence of realizing a deferred tax asset. Furthermore, the weight given to the potential effect of such
evidence is commensurate with the extent the evidence can be objectively verified.

The valuation allowances presented below(in millions) at December 31, 2011 and 2010, represented a reserve
against the Company’s net deferred tax asset the Company believed the“more likely than not” criterion for recognition
purposes could not be met.

Country 2011 2010

Mexico $ 1,889 $ 834
Norway 198 170
Sweden 122 98
Switzerland 784 505
Taiwan 1,074 995
United States 5,436 1,457
Total $ 9,503 $ 4,059

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company did not record a provision for any United States or foreign
withholding taxes on its undistributed earnings related to its foreign subsidiaries because it is the intentionof the Company
to reinvest its undistributed earnings indefinitely in its foreign operations. Generally, such earnings become subject to
United States income tax upon the remittance of dividends and under certain other circumstances. At December 31, 2011,
it is not practicable to estimate the amount of deferred tax liability on such undistributed earnings.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are classified in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of December 31
as follows(in millions):

2011 2010

Current deferred tax assets $ 936 $ 2,607
Noncurrent deferred tax assets 772 649
Current deferred tax liabilities (185) (243)
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities (1 ) (1,903)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 1,522 $ 1,110

On January1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48, which was codifiedinto Topic 740, which prescribes a
comprehensive model for how a company should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in its financial statements,
uncertain tax positions that it has taken or expects to take on a tax return. Topic 740 requires that acompany recognize in
its financial statements the impact of tax positions that meet a“more likely than not” threshold, based on the technical
merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured
based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Asof
December 31,2011, the Company recorded$1.5 million in current liabilities and$2.5 million in other long-term liabilities
related to uncertain income tax positions and income tax reserves associated with various audits. At December 31, 2011,
the Company had gross tax-affected unrecognized tax benefits of $4.0million that, if recognized, would impact the
effective tax rate. The Company recognizes penalties and interest charges related to unrecognized tax benefits in current
tax expense. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows, for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010(in millions):

2011 2010

Balance as of January 1 $ 2,114 $ 178
Additions for tax positions related to the current year 570 —
Additions for tax positions of prior years 1,300 1,936
Reductions oftax positions of prior years — —
Balance as of December 31 $ 3,984 $ 2,114
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Our 2005-2009 tax years remain subject to examination by the IRS for U.S. federal tax purposes.On May 26,
2011the IRS issued a Revenue Agent’s report (“RAR”) detailing proposed adjustments for the tax years under
examination. The net tax deficiency associated with the RAR is $8.5 million plus penalties of $1.5 million. On July 8,
2011, we filed a protest letterchallenging the proposed adjustments contained in the RAR and are pursuing resolution of
these items with the Appeals Division of the IRS.There are other ongoing audits in various international jurisdictions
that are not material to our financial statements.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign
jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2011, the tax years that remained subject to examination by a major tax jurisdiction for
the Company’s most significant subsidiaries were as follows:

Jurisdiction Open Years

Australia 2007-2011
Canada 2005-2011
Denmark 2008-2011
Japan 2006-2011
Mexico 2009-2011
Norway 2009-2011
Republic of Korea 2006-2011
Singapore 2008-2011
South Africa 2008-2011
Sweden 2009-2011
Switzerland 2008-2011
Taiwan 2006-2011
United Kingdom 2005-2011
United States 2005-2011

NOTE 9: TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND AFFILIATES

During 2011, we paid employment compensation of approximately$154,000 in salary, bonus, auto allowance,
and other compensation to Landen Fredrick, son of J. Stanley Fredrick, the Company’s Chairman of the Board and a major
shareholder. In addition, Landen Fredrick participated in the employee health care benefit plans available to all employees
of the Company. Landen Fredrickhasserved asVice President, North AmericanSales since February of 2010. Prior to his
promotion, Mr. Fredrick served asSenior Directorof Tools andTraining.

Mr. Caster, the Company’s founder, major stockholder, and former Chairman of the Board, founded MannaRelief
in 1999 and served as its Chairman from 1999 through August 2007.MannaRelief employs William A. Mullens, Mr.
Caster’s brother-in-law, as its Executive Director. Mr. Caster’s wife,Linda Caster,serves asMannaRelief’s Chairman of
theBoard. MannaRelief is a 501(c)(3) charitable organization that providescharitable services for children.MannaRelief
is not owned or operated by the Company.

Historically, the Company has made cash donations to MannaRelief,sold products to MannaRelief at cost plus
shipping and handling charges, and shipped products purchased by MannaRelief to its chosen recipients. In addition,
certain Company employees and consultants periodically volunteer to work or host various fund raising projects and
events for MannaRelief at no cost to MannaRelief. The Company has made cash donations and sold products to
MannaRelief as follows:

2011 2010 2009

Sold Products $ 0.4million $ 0.5million $ 0.7million
Contributed Cash Donations $ 0.7million $ 0.5million $ 0.3million

OnDecember 1, 2011, the Companyentered into a newConsulting Agreement with Wonder Enterprises, LLC
(f/k/a SalindaEnterprises, LLC; hereinafter “Wonder”)for aninitial termof six months or until May 31, 2012for the
consulting services of Mr. Caster who is an employee of Wonder. Pursuant to the terms of the Consulting Agreement, the
Company will payWonder$300,000for consulting servicesperformed byMr. Caster. The Consulting Agreement maybe
renewed by the Companyfor an additional six month periodupon 30 days’written notice to Wonder before the expiration
of the current term.
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Mr. Ray Robbins is a member of the Company’s Board of Directors and a major shareholder. Mr. Robbins holds
positions in the Company’s associate global downline network marketing system. The Company pays commissions and
incentives to its independent associates and during 2011, 2010, and 2009, the Company paid commissions and incentives
to Mr. Robbinstotaling $2.7 million, $3.0 million, and$3.4 million, respectively. In addition, several of Mr.Robbins’
family members are independent associates and were paid associate commissions and earned aggregate incentives of
approximately$0.4 million, $0.4 million, and$0.5 million for 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.The $0.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011 includeshis son,Kevin Robbins, who earned approximately $217,000,as well ashis
daughter, Marla Finley, anddaughter-in-law, DemraRobbins, who both share an account that totaled approximately
$183,000 in earnings. All commissions and incentives were paid to Mr.Robbins and his family members in accordance
with the Company’s global associate career and compensation plan.

NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Employee Retirement Plan

Effective May 9, 1997, the Company adopted a Defined Contribution 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan (the “401(k)
Plan”) for its United States employees. The 401(k) Plan covers all full-time employees who havecompleted three months
of service and attained the age of twenty-one. United States employees can contribute up to 100 percent oftheir annual
compensation but are limited to the maximum annual dollar amount allowable under the Internal Revenue Code. The
401(k) plan permits matching and discretionary employer contributions, although in response to adverse market conditions
the Company suspended the matching contributions under the 401(k) Plan in the first quarter of 2009through June 30,
2010. TheCompany’smatching contributions for its United States employees vest ratably over a five-year period.During
the yearsended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company contributedapproximately $0.1 million and$0.4million,
respectively, to the 401(k) Plan for matching contributions.

The Company also sponsors a non-U.S. defined benefit plan covering its employees in its Japan subsidiary (the
“Benefit Plan”). Pension benefits under the Benefit Plan are based on years of service and annual salary. The Company
utilizes actuarial methods. Inherent in the application of these actuarial methods are key assumptions, including, but not
limited to, discount rates and expected long-term rates of return on plan assets. Changes in the related Benefit Plan costs
may occur in the future due to changes in the underlying assumptions, changes in the number and composition of plan
participants, and changes in the level of benefits provided. The Company uses a measurement date of December31 to
evaluate and record any post-retirement benefits related to the Benefit Plan.

Projected Benefit Obligation and Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Benefit Plan’s projected benefit obligation and valuation of plan assets are as follows for the yearsended
December 31(in thousands):

Projected benefit obligation: 2011 2010
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,008 $ 846
Service cost 186 217
Interest cost 17 20
Liability (gains) and losses 11 (162)
Benefits paid to participants (39) (28)
Specialterminationbenefit 21 —
Pensionadjustment 6 —
Foreign currency 60 115
Balance, end of year $ 1,270 $ 1,008

Plan assets:
Fair value, beginning of year $ — $ —
Company contributions 28 28
Benefits paid to participants (28) (28)
Fair value, end of year $ — $ —
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Funded status of the Benefit Plan as of December 31(in thousands): 2011 2010
Benefit obligation $ (1,270) $ (1,008)
Fair value of plan assets — —
Excess of benefit obligation over fair value of plan assets $ (1,270) $ (1,008)

Amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of,
as of December 31(in thousands): 2011 2010
Accrued benefit liability $ (1,270) $ (1,008)
Transition obligationand unrealized gain (190) (201)
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $ (1,460) $ (1,209)

Years Ended December 31,
Other changes recognized in comprehensive income/loss(in thousands): 2011 2010 2009
Net periodic cost $ 221 $ 242 $ 219
Current year actuarial (gain) loss 11 (162) (23)
Amortization of transition obligation (5) (5) (5)
Amortization of actuarial gain 15 — —
Total recognized in other comprehensive income 21 (167) (28)
Total recognized in comprehensive income/loss $ 242 $ 75 $ 191

As of December 31,
Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic benefit cost and included in accumulated
other comprehensive gain/loss(in thousands): 2011 2010

Net actuarial gain $ 202 $ 175
Transition obligation (12) 27
Total recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss $ 190 $ 201

2012 estimated amountsof amortized transition obligation (in thousands): 2012
Transition obligation $ (5 )

As of December 31,
2011 2010

Aggregate Benefit Plan information andaccumulated benefit obligation in excess
of plan assets(in thousands):

Projected benefit obligation $ 1,270 $ 1,008
Accumulated benefit obligation 887 705
Fair value of plan assets — —
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The weighted-average assumptions to determinethe benefit obligation and net cost are as follows:

2011 2010
Discount rate 1.75% 1.75%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.0% 3.0%

Components of Expense

Pension expense for the Benefit Plan is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and is comprised of the following for the years ended December 31(in thousands):

2011 2010 2009
Servicecost $ 186 $ 217 $ 196
Interest cost 18 20 18
Amortization of transition obligation 5 5 5
Gain (Loss) (15) — —
Special Termination 21 — —
Benefit Adjustment 6 — —
Total pension expense $ 221 $ 242 $ 219

Estimated Benefits and Contributions

The Company expects to contribute approximately $64,000 to the plan in 2012. As of December 31, 2011,
benefits expected to be paid by the Benefit Plan for the next ten years is approximately as follows(in thousands):

2012 $ 64
2013 61
2014 104
2015 207
2016 50
Next five years 184
Total expected benefits to be paid $ 670
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NOTE 11: STOCK OPTION PLAN

Summary of Stock Plan

The Company currently has one active stock-based compensation plan, which wasapproved by shareholders. The
Company grants stock options to employees, consultants, and board members at the fair value of its common stock on the
date of grant, with a term no greater than ten years.Themajority ofstockoptions vest over two or threeyears.
Shareholders who own 10% or more of the Company’s outstanding stock are granted incentive stock options at an exercise
price that may not be less than 110% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and
have a term no greater than five years.

In February 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Mannatech, Incorporated 2008 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”), which reservesup to 1,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance of stock options
and restricted stock to our employees, board members, and consultants,plus any shares reserved under the Company’s
then-existing, unexpired stock plans for which options had not yet been issued, andany shares underlying outstanding
options under the then-existing stock option plans that terminate without having been exercised in full. The 2008 Plan was
approved by the Company’s shareholders at the 2008 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. As ofDecember 31, 2011, the 2008
Planhad32,222stockoptions available for grant, as adjusted for the 1-for-10 reverse stock split that was effective January
13, 2012,before the plan expires on February 20, 2018.

A summary of changes in stock options outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2011, as adjusted for the
1-for-10 reverse stock split,is as follows:

2011

Number of
Options

(in thousands)

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

life
(in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value (in

thousands)

Outstanding atbeginning of year 141 $ 28.87
Granted 37 $ 11.37
Exercised — $ —
Forfeited or expired (39) $ 32.12
Outstanding at end of year 139 $ 23.24 8.0 —
Options exercisable at year end 71 $ 26.77 7.4 —

The Company issues new shares upon the exercise of options.No optionswereexercised during the yearended
December 31, 2011.

Valuation and Expense Information Under FASB ASC Topic 718 Compensation– Stock Compensation

Under the provisions of FASB ASCTopic 718, the Company is required to measure and recognize compensation
expense related to any outstanding and unvested stock options previously granted, and thereafter recognize, in its
consolidated financial statements, compensation expense related to any new stock options grantedafter implementation
using a calculated fair-value based option-pricing model.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to calculate the fair value of all of its stock options
and its assumptions are based on historical information. The following assumptions were used to calculate the
compensation expense and the calculated fair value ofstock options granted each year:

2011 2010 2009

Dividend yield: —(1) —(1) 1.05— 2.87%
Risk-free interest rate: 0.78 — 1.82 % 1.9 — 2.16 % 1.53— 2.7 %
Expected market price volatility: 71.1 — 72.8 % 70.8 — 72.4 % 65.9 — 70.8%
Average expected life of stock options: 4.5 years 4.5 years 4.5 years
_________________________
(1) TheCompanydeclaredno dividends in 2010or 2011.
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The computation of the expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes calculations for new grants is
based on historical volatilities of the Company’ s stock. The expected life assumptions are based on the Company’s
historical employee exercise and forfeiture behavior.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010, and 2009 was$6.39, $10.47, and $15.62pershare, respectively, as adjusted for the1-for-10 reverse stock split that
was effective January 13, 2012.The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31,2011, 2010,and
2009 was$0.4 million, $0.5 million, and$0.6 million, respectively.

The Company recorded the following amounts related to the expense of the fair values of optionsduringthe years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 (in thousands):

2011 2010 2009

Selling, general and administrative expenses andincome (loss) fromoperations
before income taxes $ 356 $ 630 $ 636

Benefit for income taxes 80 85 134
Effect on net loss $ 276 $ 545 $ 502

As of December 31, 2011, the Company hadapproximately $0.4 million of total unrecognizedcompensation
expense related to stock options currently outstanding, to be recognizedin futureyears,ending December 31,
as follows(in thousands):

Total grossunrecognized
compensationexpense

Total tax benefit associated
with unrecognized

compensationexpense

Total net
unrecognized

compensation expense

2012 $ 243 $ 39 $ 204
2013 113 16 97
2014 10 — 10

$ 366 $ 55 $ 311

NOTE 12: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases certainoffice space, automobiles, computer hardware, and warehouse equipment under
various non-cancelable operating leases. Some of these leases have renewal options. All of the Company’s leases expire at
varioustimes throughAugust2023. The Companyalso leasesequipment under various month-to-month cancelable
operating leases.For theyearsended December 31, 2011, 2010, and2009, total rent expense wasapproximately$4.3
million, $4.2 million, and $4.0 million, respectively.

Approximate future minimum rental commitments for non-cancelable operating leases(in thousands) are as follows:

Years ending December 31,

2012 $ 3,434
2013 1,841
2014 1,087
2015 1,002
2016 806
Thereafter 955

$ 9,125
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Purchase Commitments

The Company maintains supply agreements with its suppliers and manufacturers. Some of the supply agreements
contain exclusivity clauses and/or minimum annual purchase requirements. Purchase agreements with suppliers that
contain minimum purchase clausesare as follows:

�x In January 2006, the Company entered into a five-yearsupply agreement with Larex, Inc. to exclusively
purchase Arabinogalactan, an important component used in the formulation of its Ambrotose® complex. In
order to retain exclusive rightsto purchase Arabinogalactan, the Company is required to purchasea
minimum monthly quantity over the five year agreement. Effective December 31, 2010 the supply agreement
with Larex, Inc.was terminated. The Company is negotiating a new agreement withLarex, Inc., and
continues to purchase Arabinogalactan from Larex, Inc.

�x In March 2006, the Company entered into a ten-year supply agreement to purchase plant-derived mineral
nutrition products from InB:Biotechnologies, Inc. As of December 31, 2011, the Company is required to
purchase an aggregate of $6.7million through 2016.

�x In June of 2008, theCompany entered into a three-year supply agreement with Improve U.S.A. topurchase
an aloevera powder. In August 2011, the Company entered into an amendment to its supplyagreement to
extend the term of the agreementfor a period of three years commencing June 1, 2011 and expiring on May
14, 2014.As of December 31, 2011, the Company is required to purchase an aggregate of $3.6 million
through 2014 under the terms of the agreement.

Royalty and Consulting Agreements

In 2001, the Company entered into a royalty agreement with a high level associate and shareholder, whereby the
Company agreed to pay royaltiestotaling $1.6 millionrelated to the sale of certain sales aids developed bythe associate
and sold by the Company. Pursuant to this royalty agreement, the Company has paid anaggregateof $1.4 million through
December 31, 2011, of which less than$0.1 million was paidin 2011 andapproximately$0.1 millionwas paid ineach of
the years 2010and 2009.

The Company also utilizes royalty agreements with individuals and entities to provide compensation for items
such as reprints of articles or speeches relating to the Company, sales of promotional videos featuring sports personalities,
and promotional efforts used by the Company for product sales or attracting new associates. The Company paid royalties
for such royalty agreements ofapproximately$0.2 million in 2011, and approximately $0.3 in2010 and 2009.

Employment Agreements

The Company has non-cancellable employment agreements with certain executives. If the employment
relationshipswith these executiveswere terminated, as of December 31, 2011, the Company wouldcontinue tobe
indebted to the executives for $1.3 million, payable through2012.
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NOTE 13: LITIGATION

Business Arbitration and Litigation

Marinova Pty. Limited v. Mannatech, Incorporated & Mannatech (International) Limited, Case No. 50-122-T-
00635-09, International Centre for Dispute Resolution, a division of the American Arbitration Association

On December 10, 2009, Marinova Pty. Limited (“Marinova”) filed a Notice of Arbitration and Statement of
Claim with the International Centre for Dispute Resolution, which is a division of the American Arbitration Association,
against the Company and its subsidiary, Mannatech (International) Limited.Marinova’s claims stem from the parties’
April 27, 2007 purchase agreement, which was entered into between the parties.Through the purchase agreement,
Marinova agreed to sell and the Company agreed to buy set quantities of glyconutrient powder that the Company uses to
manufacture some of its products.Marinova claims that the Company breached the purchase agreement by not buyingthe
specifiedquantities of Marinova’s productand by prematurely terminating the agreement. Marinova further claims, based
on the Company’s alleged breach of contract, that Marinova suffered lost profits damages in the amount of $6,500,000, as
well as attorneys’ fees and costs.

On January 15, 2010, the Company filed its Answering Statement and Counterclaims, through which the
Company asserted affirmative defenses in response to Marinova’sclaims.The Company also filed a counterclaim for
breach of contract, through which the Company alleged that Marinova sold the Company non-conforming powder and
then refused to reimburse the Company the amount it paid for the non-conforming powder, thereby breaching the purchase
agreementand entitling the Company to properly terminate the purchase agreement. The Company further alleged that
Marinova separately breached the purchase agreement by marketing its powder to one or more of the Company’s
competitors in violation of the purchase agreement’s exclusivity clause.Based on its counterclaim, the Companysought
damages in the amountof $618,750 representing the pricepaid for the non-conforming product, as well as attorneys’ fees,
and costs.

Following extensive discovery and motion practice, the case proceeded to a Final Hearing before a three-person
arbitration panel.That hearing occurred onFebruary1-3, 2012. Following the Final Hearing, the parties submitted post-
hearing briefs.

On March 16, 2012, Mannatech and Marinova entered into a binding settlement agreement that fully disposes of
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Administrative Proceedings

Our 2005-2009 tax years remain subject to examination by the IRS for U.S. federal tax purposes.On May 26,
2011the IRS issued a Revenue Agent’s report (“RAR”) detailing proposed adjustments for the tax years under
examination. The net tax deficiency associated with the RAR is $8.5 million plus penalties of $1.5 million. On July 8,
2011, the Company filed a protest letter challenging the proposed adjustments contained in the RAR and are pursuing
resolution of these items with the Appeals Division of the IRS.There are other ongoing audits in various international
jurisdictions that are not material tothe Company’s financial statements.

Litigation in General

The Company has incurred several claims in the normal course of business. The Company believes such claims
can be resolved without any material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, resultsof operations, or cash
flows.

The Company maintains certain liability insurance; however, certain costs of defending lawsuits are not covered
by or only partially covered by its insurance policies, including claims that are below insurance deductibles. Additionally,
insurance carriers could refuse to cover certain claims in whole or in part. The Company accrues costs to defend itself
from litigation as they are incurred or as they become determinable.

The outcome of litigation is uncertain, and despite management’s views of the merits of any litigation, or the
reasonableness of the Company’s estimates and reserves, the Company’s financial statements could nonetheless be
materially affected by an adverse judgment. The Company believes it has adequatelyreserved for the contingencies arising
from the above legal matters where an outcome was deemed to be probable, and the loss amount could be reasonably
estimated. While it is not possible to predict what liability or damages the Company might incur in connection with any of
the above-described lawsuits, based on the advice of counsel and management review of the existing facts and
circumstances related to these lawsuits, and related legal fees, the Company has accrued$3.1 million as ofDecember31,
2011 for these matters, which is included in accrued expenses in its Consolidated Balance Sheet.

NOTE 14: SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Equity Line

On September 16, 2010, the Company entered intoan Investment Agreement(as amended, the“Investment
Agreement”) with Dutchess Opportunity Fund, II, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Investor”), whereby the
Company may sell up to$10million of the Company’s common stockto the Investorover a period of 36 months from the
first trading day following the effectiveness of the registration statement registering the resale of sharespursuant to the
Investment Agreement (the “Equity Line”).

The Company may draw on the Equity Line from time to time, as and when it determines appropriate in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Investment Agreement. The Company is not permitted to draw on the
Equity Line unless there is an effective registration statement to cover the resale of the shares. The Company filed a
registration statement with the SEC, and on October28, 2010, the SEC declared effective the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-169774), which registeredup to 5,000,000sharesof common stock that may be
resold by the Investor pursuant to the Investment Agreement.The number of shares registered on Form S-3 are subject to
adjustment for the reverse stock split pursuant to Rule 416 of the Securities Act.

Investors should read the Investment Agreement together with the other information concerning the Company
that the Company publicly files in reports and statements with the SEC.

As of March29, 2012, no shares of common stock have been issued pursuant to the Investment Agreement.

Preferred Stock

OnMay 19, 1998, the Company amended itsAmended and RestatedArticles of Incorporationto reduce the
number of authorized shares of common stock from 100.0 million to 99.0 million and the Company authorized 1.0 million
shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. No shares of preferred stock have ever been issued or
outstanding.
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Treasury Stock

On June 30, 2004, the Company’ s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase, in the open market,
the lesser of (i) 131,756 shares of its common stock, as adjusted for the 1-for-10 reverse stock split, and (ii) $1.3million of
its shares, (the “June 2004 Plan”).On August 28, 2006, a second program permitting the Company to purchase, in the
open market, up to $20 million of its outstanding shares was approved byourBoard of Directors(the “August 2006
Plan”).

On July 14, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to reactivate the June 2004 Plan.
During July 2011, the Company repurchased 528 shares of its common stock in the open market under the June 2004 Plan.
The total cost and average price per share were approximately $5,000 and $9.43, respectively. As of March26, 2012, the
maximum number of shares available for repurchase under the June 2004 Plan was 19,084, and the total number of shares
purchased in the open market under the June 2004Plan was 112,672.No shares have ever been purchased under the
August 2006 Plan. The Company does not have any stock repurchase plans or programs other than the June 2004 Plan
and the August 2006 Plan.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net, which is displayed in the Consolidated Statement of
Shareholders’ Equityand Comprehensive Income (loss), represents netincome(loss) plus the results of certain
shareholders’ equity changes not reflected inthe consolidated statements of operations. Such items include foreign
currency translation and certain pension and postretirement benefit obligations.

The after-tax components ofaccumulated other comprehensive income (loss), are as follows(in thousands):

Foreign
Currency

Translation

Pension
Postretirement

Benefit
Obligation

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss),Net

Balance as of December 31, 2008 $ (1,409) $ 3 $ (1,406)
Current-period change 276 17 293
Balance as ofDecember 31, 2009 (1,133) 20 (1,113)
Current-period change (299) 104 (195)
Balance as of December 31, 2010 (1,432) 124 (1,308)
Current-period change 893 (12) 881
Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ (539) $ 112 $ (427)
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NOTE 15: EARNINGS (L OSS) PER SHARE
The Company calculates basic Earnings Per Share (EPS) by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average

number of common shares outstanding for the period. The diluted EPS also reflects the potential dilution that could occur
if common stock were issued for awards under the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan. The Company reported net losses for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and approximately 0.1 million, 0.2 million, and 0.1 million of the
Company’s stock options were excluded from the diluted EPS calculation, respectively, as the effect would have been
antidilutive. In determining potential dilution effect of outstanding stock options during 2011, 2010 and 2009, the
Company used average common stock close price of $10.89, $26.69 and $33.86 per share, respectively, as adjusted for the
1-for-10 reverse stock split that became effective January 13, 2012.

NOTE 16: SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company conducts its business asa singleoperating segment, consolidating all of its business units into a
single reportable entity, as a seller of proprietary nutritional supplements, topical and skin care products, and weight-
management products through itsnetwork marketingdistribution channels operating inseventeencountries. Each of the
Company’s business units sells similar packs and products and possesses similar economic characteristics, such as selling
prices and gross margins. In each country, the Company markets its products and payscommissions and incentives in
similar market environments. The Company’s management reviews its financial information by country and focuses its
internal reporting and analysis of revenues by packs and product sales. The Company sells its products throughits
independent associates and distributes its products through similar distribution channels in each country. No single
independent associate has ever accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated net sales.

The Company operatesfacilities in ten countriesand sells productin twenty-onecountries around the world.
Thesefacilities arelocated inthe United States, Canada, Switzerland, Australia, the United Kingdom, Japan, the Republic
of Korea (South Korea), Taiwan, South Africa and Mexico. Eachfacility services different geographic areas.The
Switzerland office was created to manage certain day-to-day business needs of non-North American markets.

By country of operation, consolidated net sales shipped to customers in these locations, along with pack and
product information for the years ended December 31, are as follows(in millions, except percentages):

2011 2010 2009

United States $ 84.0 41.8% $ 100.8 44.1% $ 140.7 48.6%
Japan 30.4 15.1% 34.2 15.0% 42.0 14.5%
Republic of Korea 23.4 11.8% 22.0 9.6% 26.4 9.1%
Australia 17.3 8.6% 20.0 8.8% 22.9 7.9%
Canada 16.0 8.0% 18.5 8.1% 23.0 7.9%
South Africa 8.8 4.4% 12.0 5.3% 13.2 4.6%
Taiwan 4.3 2.1% 6.4 2.8% 6.6 2.3%
Singapore 3.6 1.8% 2.1 0.9% 1.5 0.5%
New Zealand 2.4 1.2% 3.1 1.4% 4.3 1.5%
Mexico(1) 2.0 1.0% — — — —
Germany 1.9 0.9% 2.3 1.0% 3.2 1.1%
United Kingdom(2) 1.8 0.9% 2.4 1.1% 3.3 1.0%
Norway 1.8 0.9% 1.6 0.7% 0.3 0.1%
The Netherlands 1.2 0.6% 0.6 0.3% 0.2 0.1%
Austria 0.8 0.4% 1.1 0.5% 0.3 0.1%
Sweden 0.5 0.2% 0.5 0.2% 0.2 0.1%
Denmark 0.3 0.2% 0.5 0.2% 1.6 0.6%
Finland(3) 0.2 0.1% — — — —
Total $ 200.7 100% $ 228.1 100% $ 289.7 100%
__________________________________
(1) The Company began operations in Mexico in January 2011.
(2) Includes sales forthe Czech Republic, Estonia, and the Republic ofIreland, which began operationsin June 2011. Their combined consolidated

sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 were approximately $0.1 millionand are included in net salesfor United Kingdom.
(3) The Company began operations in Finland in June 2011.
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2011 2010 2009

Consolidated product sales $ 171.5 $ 187.2 $ 213.9
Consolidated pack sales 21.3 31.3 62.1
Consolidated other, including freight 7.9 9.6 13.7
Total $ 200.7 $ 228.1 $ 289.7

Long-lived assetsby country, which includeproperty and equipment and construction in progress for the
Company and its subsidiaries, as of December 31, reside in the following countries, as follows(in millions):

Country 2011 2010

Australia $ 0.3 $ 0.3
Canada 0.1 0.1
Japan 0.2 0.2
Mexico 0.5 0.3
Republic of Korea 0.6 0.8
South Africa 0.1 0.1
Switzerland 0.2 0.4
Taiwan — 0.1
United Kingdom — 0.1
United States 7.6 16.6
Total $ 9.6 $ 19.0

Inventory balancesby country, which consist of raw materials,and finished goods, including promotional
materials, and offset by obsolete inventories, for the Company and its subsidiaries, reside in the following countriesas of
December 31, as follows(in millions):

Country 2011 2010

Australia $ 1.5 $ 1.5
Canada 1.3 1.5
Japan 1.2 1.6
Mexico 0.3 0.8
Republic of Korea 0.8 0.8
South Africa 0.7 1.3
Switzerland 0.2 0.3
Taiwan 0.3 0.4
United Kingdom 0.9 1.1
United States 10.6 14.8
Total $ 17.8 $ 24.1
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NOTE 17: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 9, 2012, the Company held a Special Meeting of Shareholders where shareholders approved an
amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation to effect areversestocksplit of the
Company’s common stockat a specific ratio within a range from 1-for-10 to 1-for-15 and granted authorization to the
Board of Directors to determine, in its discretion, the timing and the specific ratio of thereversestocksplit. At a
subsequent Board of Directors’ meeting held after the shareholders’ meeting, the Board of Directors passed a resolution to
set the ratio for the stock split at 1-for-10.

Thereversestocksplit became effective as of 11:59 p.m. on January 13, 2012. The trading of the Company’s
common stock onNasdaq on a split-adjusted basis began at the opening of trading on January 17, 2012. The primary
purposes of the reverse stock splitwereto increase the per-share market price of the Company’s common stock in order to
maintain its listing on Nasdaq, encourage investor interest in the Company, and promote greater liquidity for the
Company’s existing shareholders. As previously announced, the Company was provided an initial period of 180 calendar
days, or until February 7, 2012, to maintain a closing bid price of at least $1.00 per share for 10 consecutive trading days,
enabling the Company to retain its listing on Nasdaq.

On January 31, 2012, the Company received a letter from The NASDAQ Stock Market confirming that the
Company had regained compliance withthe minimum bid price requirement for continued listing on Nasdaq. The letter
stated that The NASDAQ Stock Market staff had determined that for the last 10 consecutive business days, from January
17, 2012 to January 30, 2012, the closing bid price of theCompany's common stock had been at $1.00 per share or greater
and accordingly, the Company had regained compliance with Listing Rule 5450(a)(1).

On March 1, 2012, the Company reached a settlement in thepreviously disclosed lawsuit, Susan Shon vs.
Mannatech. The amount of the settlement was recorded in other operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2011.
For more information, see Note 13, “Litigation”.

On March 16, 2012, the Company reached a settlement in the previously disclosed lawsuit,Marinovavs.
Mannatech. The amount of the settlementpaymentwas recorded in other operating costs for the year ended December 31,
2011. For more information, see Note 13, “Litigation”.

On March 21, 2012, the Board of Directors adopted resolutions amending the June 2004 Plan to clarify that the
maximum number of shares of common stock that the Company is authorized to repurchase in the open market under the
June 2004 Plan is up to the lesser of (i) 130,000 shares and (ii) $1,300,000 in shares. The Boardof Directors also clarified
that in the event of any further splits of the Company’s common stock, the number of shares the Company will be
authorized to repurchase under such amended June 2004 Plan shall automatically adjust according to the ratio set bythe
Board of Directors.
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10.23
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(Portions of this exhibit were omitted pursuant to a confidential
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Exchange Act.) 10-Q 000-24657 10.3 May 10, 2006

10.24

Supply Agreement between Mannatech, Incorporated, and Improve
U.S.A., Inc., effective June 1, 2008, and executed May 2, 2008.
(Portions of this exhibit were omittedpursuant to a confidential
treatment request submitted pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the
Exchange Act.) 8-K 000-24657 10.1 May 8, 2008

10.25

Amendment to Supply Agreement between Mannatech and Improve
U.S.A., dated June 1, 2011. (Portions of this exhibitwere omitted
pursuant to a confidential treatment request submitted pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act.) 8-K 000-24657 10.1 August 22, 2011

10.26
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Terry L.

Persinger and Mannatech, dated June 16,2008. 8-K 000-24657 10.1 June 20, 2008

10.27
Employment Agreement between Robert A. Sinnott, Ph.D. and

Mannatech, dated October 5, 2007. 8-K 000-24657 10.3 October 11, 2007

10.28
Employment Agreement between Mannatech and Mr.Samuel L.

Caster, datedJanuary 23, 2006. 10-K 000-24657 10.32 March 16, 2006

10.29
Employment Agreement between Stephen D. Fenstermacher and
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10.30
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Stephen D. Fenstermacher and Mannatech, dated
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Employment Agreement between Terence L. O’Day and
Mannatech,
dated October 5, 2007. 8-K 000-24657 10.1 October 11, 2007

10.32
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10.36
Termination of Lock-up Agreement between Mannatech and

J. Stanley Fredrick, dated March 6, 2009. 8-K 000-24657 10.1 March 10, 2009
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10.37
Follow-Up Agreement to Letter of Intent Agreement between

Mannatech and Jett, dated September 10, 2001. 10-Q 000-24657 10.4 November 14, 2001

10.38
Letter of Understanding between Mannatech and Dr.John Axford,

dated April 19, 2006. 8-K 000-24657 99.1 April 21, 2006

10.39
Extension of the Letter of Spokesperson Arrangement between

Mannatech and Dr.John Axford, dated February 18, 2007. 8-K 000-24657



of Section18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to liability under that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into
any registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, exceptas expressly set forth by specific reference in
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